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Welcoming India Back 
Officeto 

The indian economy is witnessing a steady revival, 
with rising vaccination numbers and a strong positive 
sentiment. The covid-19 induced work-from-home 
norm is gradually giving way to a visible return-to- 
office trend.

The felt need for collaborative productivity and 
congregation, particularly in the country’s fast-growing 
iT sector, is further driving a resurgence in the demand 
for safe, high-quality workspaces. with the sector 
contributing significantly to our tenant profile, we at 
Brookfield India REIT are confident of benefiting from 
the demand surge.

as india inc. gears to return to the physical way of 
working, we are preparing proactively to welcome them 
back to office. We have initiated the process of aligning 
our well-connected and well-equipped campus-style 
complexes in key gateway cities of india to the growing 
need for premium assets and secure work areas. we 
have begun partnering with our tenants to facilitate the 
safe and secure return of their vaccinated employees 
to office, while ensuring their health, safety and 
well-being. smart solutions, futuristic infrastructural 
upgrades and hi-tech facilities give us a strategic edge 
in the transforming environment, which we see further 
improving in the months ahead.

As the return-to-office trend continues to strengthen 
further, we believe we will deliver enhanced growth 
and value at the back of our difficult-to-replicate assets, 
significant operating capabilities and our focus on  
‘net Zero’. our expertise and experience in institutional 
asset management will continue to help augment 
Brookfield India REIT’s position as the preferred 
destination for leading organizations and a trusted and 
credible partner for all its stakeholders.
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BrOOKfielD inDia reit  at a glanCe

Redefining Spaces for  
Distinctive Experiences

About brookfield indiA reit

We are India’s first and only 100% institutionally managed 
real estate investment trust. 

our SponSor

Our sponsor, BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd, is an 
affiliate of Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM) - one 
of the world’s leading alternative asset managers with 
approximately $625 billion of assets under management. 
Bam has a presence in 30 countries with more than 
150,000 operating employees and 1,000 investment 
professionals.

our MAnAger

with its extensive industry experience and experienced 
management team, Brookprop management services 
Private Limited, an affiliate of BAM, manages our office 
parks to deliver value to all stakeholders. 

our StrAtegic focuS

we plan to own diverse and high-quality commercial assets 
across strategic locations in india. we are focused on creating 
a growth-centric ecosystem for multinational corporates 
and technology companies through our integrated office 
campuses equipped with desirable amenities.

liSting on indiA exchAngeS

Brookfield India REIT’s units were listed on National Stock 
exchange and Bombay stock exchange on february 16, 2021.

Our COnsOliDateD POrtfOliO

29%

R12.85R12

R324

4

R3,117M

93%

R116,599M

18.7%

totaL vaLue oF portFoLio

Loan-to-vaLue (Ltv)

marK-to-marKet 
potentiaL

ndCF per unit per unit distribution

unit nav

Cities

ebitda 

vaLue From 
CompLeted assets

R64.7 per sf 

6.6

in-pLaCe rent per month, 
basis LCd 

waLe (years)

(upto september 30, 2021)
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The business showed notable resilience, steered by the 
strength of our prudent capital structure and the exceptional 
quality of our office parks helping us successfully negotiate 
the challenges of the year gone by. we are well poised to 
capitalize on the opportunity triggered by the ongoing  
global growth in technology space, a major piece of which is 
being housed in india. 

reAdy for ‘return-to-office’  
As India progresses in its vaccination efforts, companies have 
actively reviewed their return-to-work strategies, considering 
welfare, work-life balance and health and well-being as vital 
parameters for their employees. There is a resounding 
affirmation that physical workplaces will continue to remain 
vital platforms for promoting growth, reinforcing business 
culture, improving employee efficiency and collaboration. 
our world-class placemaking capabilities across well-
connected campus-style complexes allow us to create 
sustainable value in the transforming workplace paradigm, 
with our properties becoming a direct beneficiary of the 
post-pandemic economic recovery. our tenants continue 
to value our high-quality office parks that provide spacious 
layouts, hi-tech facilities, safe work environments, creativity 
and sustainability.  

The sustained growth of the technology sector will further 
translate into vigorous demand for prime real estate with 
a desirable mix of amenities. with this sector contributing 
a significant portion of our strong tenant base, we are 

strategically poised to benefit from the increase in offshoring 
trends in the months ahead.

hArneSSing indiA’S reit groWth Story
Globally, public and private reiTs are a multi-trillion dollar 
asset class, providing institutional and retail investors an 
opportunity to benefit from current income and portfolio 
growth in rent yielding property assets. an enabling 
regulatory framework, coupled with receptive capital market 
fundamentals, has made reiTs a viable and attractive 
investment avenue in india. as the nation’s only institutionally 
managed real estate investment trust, we utilize our global 
expertise, domain experience, robust market knowledge 
and placemaking capabilities to capitalize on the vibrant reiT 
opportunity in the country. 

integrAting eSg  
Brookfield India REIT’s robust ESG framework, in line with the 
guiding principles of the sponsor, has steered us towards 
developing and operating quality assets that meet the 
highest standards of environmental sustainability, enable 
positive social impact and have an institutional governance 
mechanism. our campuses are built with a focus on climate 
change resilience and continuous development towards use 
of cutting-edge solutions for clean energy. we are devoted 
to providing a unique service-based experience to our 
tenants, and work to make all assets universally accessible to 
foster a diverse and inclusive workplace. we recognize the 

Dear Unitholders,
conclusive optimism and ongoing economic recovery have 
initiated a swift turnaround of business sentiment worldwide 
in fY2022. with markets reviving, borrowing costs coming 
down and economies improving globally, the projections for 
the coming months are positive. in this backdrop, we are 
looking ahead at robust growth prospects.

importance of robust governance to sustainable business 
operations, and we conduct our business in accordance with 
the highest standards of ethics, integrity, transparency and 
regulatory compliance.

the WAy forWArd
in the improving business environment, we continue to 
focus on maximizing the performance and value of our 
irreplaceable assets. while we have consciously kept the reiT 
away from developmental risk, we have paved a clear growth 
path in the form of Identified Assets and ROFO Properties. 
This, we believe, will have a considerable positive impact on 
our business in the coming years. 

in this transforming operating landscape, we are well 
supported by leases of longer tenure with high-quality  
tenants and are focused on enhancing value through 
operational excellence. as we move ahead, we also see the 
mark-to-market potential of our existing below-market rents 

Chairman’s  message

Facilitating Return-to-Office in India

giving us more space to grow. in addition, low leverage, long 
interest only periods and undrawn credit lines provide us 
with ample liquidity to meet any future challenges. 

i take this opportunity to thank our tenants, partners and 
the team for their unwavering support through these 
extraordinary times. I am confident that the journey ahead is 
only going to add tremendous value to all stakeholders. 

we look forward to your continued patronage, guidance and 
support in ‘Welcoming India back to Office’. 

sincerely,

Ankur Gupta
Chairman, Board of Directors
Manager of Brookfield India REIT
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Dear Unitholders,
It is my privilege to present to you our report for the first 
six months of fY2022. Given the environment and the 
extraordinary year, we have seen a resilient performance, 
strengthened by the agility of our response to the changes 
triggered by the pandemic. our teams across the country 
were focused on supporting the critical functions of our 
tenants with elevated health and safety standards at our 
campuses.

Amidst the significant volatility caused by the second wave 
of COVID-19, our prudent financial framework allowed us 
to emerge steady and focus on building the business for 
the future. as the economic backdrop regained momentum 
over the last few months with the roll-out of vaccines,  
it has allowed companies to start planning their return-to-
office strategies. 

we are set to scale up our response to the evolving 
situation, supporting our tenants in their concerted efforts 
to meet their workspace requirement, while ensuring the 
safe return of their vaccinated employees to the workplace. 
We take pride in sharing that we are the first office 
portfolio in india to receive the ‘Bureau veritas safeguard 
Certification’, demonstrating our commitment to the safety 
and well-being of our tenants.

StAble And SuStAined perforMAnce
during the six-month period ending september 30, 2021, 
we recorded a stable performance, with growth in operating 
lease rentals and good rental collections. 

our campuses, housing many of india’s leading technology 
and service companies, remained resilient with 85% 
Same-Store Committed Occupancy and 93% of our value 
in completed assets. rental collection remained stable 
at 99%, including 7.2% escalation on 1.5 million square 
feet of leased area. we achieved gross leasing of 216,000 
square feet and ended the period with 82% of Committed 
occupancy. during the year, we re-leased and renewed 
178,000 square feet space. 

we continued to maintain a strong balance sheet, with 
low leverage of C 21,850 million, which is only 19% loan-to-

value. we recorded healthy net distributable cash flows 
(NDCF) of C 3,892 million (C12.85 per unit), of which we shall 
distribute C 3,634 million to the unitholders, i.e., C 12.00  
per unit. 28% of this distribution will be tax-free for unit 
holders. a wale of 6.6 years provides further stability to  
our cash flows. 

Our Identified Assets continue to show significant progress 
towards stabilization. candor G1 in Gurugram, sector 48  
is now fully developed, while candor n2 in noida, sector 
135 has completed the state-of-the-art Tower 11 (673,000 
sf) during the year. The building has achieved 80% leasing 
within six months of completion. our assets have attracted 
marquee Multi-national Coporations (MNCs) like Samsung, 
who are choosing to relocate or expand within well 
managed campus developments. candor n2 has seen 
strong leasing traction, having achieved 535,000 sf of  
leasing till october 2021, with advanced discussions of 
170,000 sf underway. 

increASed preference for grAde A, cAMpuS-
Style corporAte pArkS
The long-term demand for Grade A office spaces has 
remained stable in india despite the uncertainties of the 
past year. Companies are looking to re-assess office layouts 
with an option of expansion of area and consolidation 
of locations to ensure compliance with health and safety 
norms. The demand has received further impetus due 
to increased preference for large campus-style and well-
amenitized office spaces with a safe work environment 
and quality workspaces, coupled with the ability to expand 
space through new development. 

The trend augurs well for us on account of our robust 
portfolio and healthy pipeline. with the fast-growing iT 
sector contributing over 50% to our tenancy profile, we are 
confident of benefiting extensively from the post-pandemic 
business recovery and pick-up in the ‘return-to-office’ 
inclination. advancing our strategic initiatives since our last 
reporting, we completed several key developments and 
upgrades to enhance the value and experience of  
our tenants.

our eSg Journey
We remain committed to our sustainability-first approach 
and to ensuring the health, safety and well-being of 
our people and tenants. we are setting a sustainability 
benchmark for the industry by undertaking initiatives for 
energy, water and waste reduction while generating positive 
outcomes for the community in which we operate. our 
focus on the health, safety and well-being of our people and 
tenants played an important role in making us a partner of 
choice. as a member of valuable 500, a global initiative to 
drive disability inclusion as boardroom agenda, we pledged 
to ensure inclusivity through planned infrastructural 
changes making our campuses universally accessible. 

looking AheAd
as india’s only institutionally managed reiT, we are 
optimistic about the demand for high-quality workspaces 
gaining momentum, as we expect tenants to return to the 

office as they have in other parts of the world. The ongoing 
vaccination drive coupled with economic and business 
recovery will give a further boost to this trend. our assets, 
in key gateway indian cities, accounted for more than half 
of the net absorption in their micro-markets before the 
pandemic and are well-positioned to benefit from the 
uptick in the post-pandemic demand for office space.

we shall continue to deliver sustainable value for all 
stakeholders by investing in the improvement of our 
campuses. at the same time, we continue to partner with 
our tenants to facilitate the safe and secure return of their 
employees to office. 

in conclusion, i take the opportunity to thank our team 
for successfully steering Brookfield India REIT through 
these testing times. i also thank our tenants and other 
stakeholders for their continued trust and support. 

wishing you all good health and a safe return to our 
workplaces.

sincerely,

Alok Aggarwal
Chief Executive Officer
Manager of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

CeO’s  message

Enhancing Value of our Iconic Properties
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Our COmPetitive strengths

Assets Designed to Propel Change 

located strategically in the dynamic micro markets of india’s key gateway cities, our exclusive 
office parks offer competitive rental rates and excellent connectivity to tenants. The properties 
are equipped with modern infrastructure and world-class amenities. our strategic investments 
in the upgradation of these properties are powering a wave of experiential functioning in 
the transformed business environment. we are upgrading our existing properties through 
sustainable investments, as part of our internal growth strategy, to enhance the experience 
and value we provide.

our key MArket differentiAtorS

Extensive market 
understanding

Capabilities in 
placemaking

Cash flow stability with 
diversified and staggered 
tenant roster

Presence in key 
gateway cities

Robust growth 
pipeline

Years of experience with strong domain expertise and a 
demonstrated track record in delivering value, gives us 
an industry edge. This edge is reinforced by Brookfield’s 
exceptional real estate and capital management 
capabilities, as well as its extensive network of 
relationships. 

with placemaking at the core of our design, 
development and operating philosophy, we have 
built strong capabilities in creating an outstanding, 
vibrant and empowering work environment. This 
facilitates us in offering compelling, service-based 
experience to our tenants. 

Our office parks are ‘business critical’ for the 
diversified tenants with a long-term and stable 
tenancy profile and lease expiry. A weighted average 
lease expiry of 6.6 years offers remarkable cash flow 
stability to the business.

The vantage location of our properties in the key gateway 
cities of mumbai, Gurugram, noida and kolkata lends us 
the advantage of superior infrastructure, easy access to 
transportation, limited vacancy, excellent rentals and high 
entry barriers for new supply.

Our assets offer significant internal and external growth 
opportunities, with potential for growth in net operating 
Income (NOI) by virtue of contractual escalation in the 
leases, mark-to-market of in-place rents, leasing of 
recently completed assets and near-term development. 
value-accretive acquisitions, supported by our prudent 
capital structure and capital management strategy, 
further drive growth. 

Experienced 
senior management

The manager’s team has deep domain knowledge 
and experience in managing properties and has 
demonstrated a robust track record in delivering value.
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5

Our sPOnsOr

Capitalizing on our  
Global Sponsorship Experience

Brookfield India REIT is sponsored by BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd., an affiliate of 
Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM), the flagship company of Brookfield Group. BAM 
is a leading global alternative investment manager with over $625 billion of assets under 
management across sectors, with an objective to generate attractive, long-term risk-adjusted 
returns for the benefit of its stakeholders. 

Brookfield manages a diversified portfolio of assets across real estate, infrastructure, 
renewable power, private equity and credit strategies. It owns and operates a differentiated 
portfolio of iconic properties in the world’s most dynamic markets. it has established 
credentials in investing in high-quality assets that deliver long-term value.

ThE NEW YORk 
STOCk ExChANGE

TORONTO STOCk 
ExChANGE

bAM liSting on Stock exchAngeS

BrOOKfielD’s  inDia PresenCe

$20.6B 
totaL assets under management

sPOnsOr grOuP – KeY highlights

$625B 

$90B 

assets under management

marKet CapitaLiZation

$210B 

30

reaL estate assets under 
management gLobaLLy

Countries

500 M sf
area aCross muLtipLe reaL 

estate asset CLasses

Continents

150,000+
empLoyees

$7.0B $0.9B $10.6B $2.1B
reaL estate inFrastruCture renewabLe power private equity

Sector-WiSe breAk-up of ASSetS MAnAged
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Our struCture

Designed to Fuel Progressive Growth

struCture Of BrOOKfielD inDia reit

Asset Name
candor 

Techspace G2, 
Gurugram

Asset Name
candor 

Techspace k1, 
kolkata

truStee

axis Trustee services 
limited

truSt

Brookfield India Real 
estate Trust

MAnAger

Brookprop 
management services 

private limited

100% 100% 100% 100%

Regulation 18(4) Regulation 18(5) 

ASSet SpV
festus properties 

private limited

ASSet SpV
candor kolkata one 
hi-Tech structures 

private limited

ASSet SpV
shantiniketan 

properties private 
limited

operAtionAl 
SerViceS proVider

Candor India Office 
parks private limited

Asset Name
kensington, 

powai, 
mumbai

Asset Name
candor 

Techspace n1, 
noida
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Our POrtfOliO 

Unlocking our True Value

Our robust and stable pan-India portfolio of four exceptional campus-format office parks 
caters to global companies, well poised for growth. located in india’s gateway cities and 
micro markets, these assets are easily accessible and offer contemporary architecture, open 
spaces and compelling amenities to provide a holistic experience to our blue-chip tenants 
and their employees. 

with steady occupancy and increase in rental incomes, our assets have been reporting 
income growth, demonstrating operating resilience even through the pandemic. we expect 
further traction in demand for our properties due to revival in business sentiment and 
faster-than-expected return to workplace, besides increased vaccinations. The transforming 
business needs and trends are inspiring us to set new benchmarks in workspaces, while 
catering to all the needs and comforts of our tenants.

Candor TechSpace G2, 
gurugram

37.9%
oF marKet vaLue oF 

portFoLio

Kensington, Powai, 
mumbai

22.1%
oF marKet vaLue oF 

portFoLio

Candor TechSpace K1, 
Kolkata

22.2%
oF marKet vaLue oF 

portFoLio

a glanCe at Our POrtfOliO

Kensington, 
Powai, 

mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

gurugram

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated 
Brookfield 
India REIT

Type of asset seZ seZ iT park seZ & mixed use
Total Area (acres) 9.0 28.5 19.3 48.4 105.1
Market Value (C M) 25,807 44,189 20,687 25,916 116,599
Leasable Area (M sf) 1.5 4.0 2.8 5.7 14.0
Completed Area (M sf) 1.5 3.9 1.9 3.1 10.3
Under Construction (M sf) - - 0.1 - 0.1
Future Development Area (M sf) - 0.1 0.9 2.7 3.7
Committed Occupancy (%) 82 81 71 88 82
same-store committed 
Occupancy (%)

82 81 94 88 85

WALE (Years) 2.1 7.5 6.8 7.6 6.6
In-Place Rent basis LCD (C per sf) 94.1 79.6 47.1 42.3 64.7
Market Rent (C per sf) 136 114 48 41 83.5
Mark-to-Market potential (%) 45 43 2 (3) 29

marKet value Of Our PrOPerties

Candor TechSpace N1, 
noida

17.7%
oF marKet vaLue oF 

portFoLio

map not to scale. 
for illustration purposes only.
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lease maturitY PrOfile
Year-wise area expiry (M sf)

Kensington, 
Powai, 

mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

gurugram

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated 
Brookfield 
India REIT

2022  0.0  0.3  0.0  0.3  0.6 

2023  0.4  0.1  0.0  0.1  0.6 

2024  0.7  0.0  0.2  0.0  1.0 

2025  0.1  0.2  0.3  0.0  0.6 

Our POrtfOliO COntD.

MApping groWth AgAinSt eSg goAlS

Aligning ASSetS With eVolVing needS

as a responsible corporate, we have embedded our guiding principles and esG management approach into our goals 
to deliver positive environmental outcomes while generating strong risk-adjusted returns for our investors. our initial 
portfolio has a future development potential of 3.7 million square feet. we continue to invest in enhancing the value of 
these properties and providing our tenants with a superior experience through upgrades at the existing and new tower 
developments. We have integrated our value enhancement efforts with our sustained focus on alleviating the impact of 
our business environment. Comprehensive waste and water management systems along with energy efficiency measures 
facilitating sustainable and responsible living are integral to our investments in our assets.

Kensington, Powai, 
mumbai

Candor TechSpace N1, 
noida

Candor TechSpace G2, 
gurugram

Candor TechSpace K1, 
Kolkata

Multiple planned upgrades have been initiated to benefit 
and enhance the value of this property. The campus is 
being equipped with additional compelling amenities, 
including a food court, multi-sports arena and upgraded 
lobbies. renovation of lobby, podium and recreational 
areas has commenced. 

amidst the second wave of covid-19 and the resultant 
lockdown, we have remained on track to deliver planned 
upgrades in Q3 fY2022. we have recently completed an 
amenity block, equipped with 24/7 paramedics, daycare 
center, bank aTm, among others. expansion of the food 
court and construction of an amphitheater are nearing 
completion.

The asset has witnessed revamp in and outside the 
campus, resulting in improved aesthetics. upgradation 
of landscape and construction of a new visitors’ office 
is nearing completion. recent upgrades include a 
fully-equipped gymnasium and health club, dedicated 
outdoor and indoor zone, wellness center, crèche and 
convenience services including concierge. further, an 
array of f&B and retail outlets with terrace garden are 
available at the universally accessible campus.

regular upgradation activities including food court, 
banquet, health club, swimming pool and gymnasium, 
are being undertaken to ensure upkeep. design and 
development related activities for mixed-use three-acre 
development is expected to commence soon.
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Our tenants

Robust Tenant Profile Strengthening our 
Value Proposition

At Brookfield India REIT, our well-established assets, global best practices and placemaking 
capabilities attract technology-led, blue-chip tenants poised to grow in their respective 
sectors. we have built strategic and deep-rooted relationships with our tenants with our 
unsurpassed properties providing them an enriching experience and helping them optimize 
their work potential. We concurrently benefit as a result of a robust tenant profile, which lends 
us long-term growth and value proposition.

tenAnt breAk-up – property-WiSe

Kensington, Powai, 
mumbai

Candor TechSpace G2, 
gurugram

Candor TechSpace N1, 
noida

Candor TechSpace K1, 
Kolkata

10 45

38 40

strOng tenant rOster

technology coMpAnieS

 Tata consultancy services ltd

 cognizant Technology solutions 
india private limited

 TlG india pvt ltd

 amdocs development centres 
india llp

 wipro ltd

 capgemini Technology services 
india ltd

 Genpact india pvt ltd

 eui limited

finAnciAl SerViceS

 rBs india development centre 
pvt ltd

 Barclays shared services pvt ltd

 saxo Group india pvt limited

 nwm services india pvt ltd

 e&Y llp

 EYGBS (India) LLP

 apollo india services llp

 moody’s analytics india pvt ltd

conSulting & other 
coMpAnieS

 accenture solutions pvt. ltd.

 Ge oil & Gas india pvt ltd

 BT e-serv india pvt ltd

 amazon development center india 
pvt ltd

 r1 rcm Global pvt ltd

 l&T hydrocarbon engineering ltd

 landis Gyr limited

 pine labs pvt. ltd.

tOP 10 tenants –  BY grOss COntraCteD rentals
Tenant Tenant Sector % of Gross 

Contracted Rentals
% of Area  

Leased

TaTa consultancy services ltd Technology 18% 18%

accenture solutions pvt ltd consulting 18% 16%

cognizant Technology solutions india pvt ltd Technology 11% 15%

TlG india pvt ltd Technology 7% 7%

rBs india development centre pvt ltd financial services 5% 4%

amdocs development centre india llp Technology 3% 2%

Barclays shared services pvt ltd financial services 3% 5%

wipro ltd Technology 3% 1%

saxo Group india pvt ltd financial services 2% 2%

Ge oil & Gas india pvt. ltd. oil & Gas 2% 1%

Total 72% 70%

seCtOr-wise BreaK-uP  
Of area leaseD

tenant BreaK-uP

 Technology 53% 
 financial services 16% 
 consulting 17% 
 Technology hardware 3% 
 healthcare 2% 
 hr services 1% 
 others 8%

 fortune-500 39% 
 others 61%
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Candor TechSpace G2
largest OffiCe  seZ  in CBD,  gurugram

4.0 M sf 28.5 ACRES

Candor TechSpace G2, Gurugram is one of the largest office parks in the business district of 
north india, setting a workplace benchmark with its international design, robust infrastructure 
and an array of amenities. The Grade A campus offers 3.9 million square feet of inclusive 
workplace with a balanced mix of a retail and artistic landscape, terrace gardens, open sit-outs, 
upgraded lobbies, shaded cabanas and a rejuve terrace to foster an enhanced experience for 
our tenants.

KeY highlights

3.1 M sf 

45 

81%

7.5

13

R44,189M

area Leased

tenants

Committed oCCupanCy

waLe (years)

buiLdings

marKet vaLue

Our PrOPerties

Indian 
Green Building 

Council Platinum 
Rating

Bureau Veritas 
Safeguard 

Certification

Realty Plus 
Excellence Award

British Safety 
Council 5 Star 

Rated

ISO 9001:2015, ISO 
14001:2015 and  

ISO 45001:2018 Certification

awards & CertiFiCations

26 HALF YEARLY REPORT 2021-22
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TATA COnsuLTAnCY sERviCEs LTD

WiPRO LTD 

COgnizAnT TECHnOLOgY sOLuTiOns 
inDiA PvT LTD

gE OiL & gAs inDiA PvT LTD

L&T HYDROCARBOn EnginEERing LTD

APOLLO inDiA sERviCEs LLP

Candor TechSpace G2
Our PrOPerties  COntD.

AMenitieS

 wellness center, crèche and convenience 
services like concierge available on campus

 Gymnasium, health club and sports areas

 shuttle transport and concierge services

 multi-cuisine food court and cafeterias

 daycare center

 dedicated outdoor and indoor sports 
zones

 medical facilities, including pharmacy and 
ambulance

top tenAntS –  
by groSS contrActed rentAlS

 ACCEnTuRE sOLuTiOns PvT. LTD.

 TLg inDiA PvT LTD

 RBs inDiA DEvELOPmEnT CEnTRE PvT LTD. 

 AmDOCs DEvELOPmEnT CEnTRE  
inDiA LLP

 sAxO gROuP inDiA PvT LimiTED

tenAncy profile

 consulting 36% 
 financial services 28% 
 Technology 28% 
 healthcare 3% 
 others 5%

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Candor TechSpace N1
the largest it  ParK in the estaBlisheD 
teChnOlOgY huB Of nOiDa

KeY highlights

1.3 M sf 

38 

71%

6.8

6

R20,687M

area Leased

tenants

Committed oCCupanCy

waLe (years)

ISO 9001:2015, ISO 14001:2015 and  
ISO 45001:2018 Certification

buiLdings

marKet vaLue

Our PrOPerties  COntD.

candor Techspace n1, noida, is one of the largest high quality iT parks in the sector 62 micro 
market area. positioned in a prominent hub, the Grade a campus style development spreads 
across a 19.3-acre land parcel, offering ample expansion, consolidation and relocation options 
for our tenants. an upcoming open-air amphitheatre and a buzzing retail square, with a trail of 
leisure and sustainable developments will further transform the modern-day experiences of 
the tenants housed in the campus.

2.8 M sf 19.3 ACRES

BEE 5 Star 
Rating

Indian Green 
Building Council 
Platinum Rating

Bureau Veritas 
Safeguard 

Certification

awards & CertiFiCations

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Candor TechSpace N1
Our PrOPerties  COntD.

AMenitieS

 convenience and retail stores

 daycare center, banks and aTms

 pharmacy and salon

 food courts and cafeterias

tenAncy profile

 financial services 31%
 Technology hardware 18%
 e-commerce 16%
 consulting 2%
 others 33%

top tenAntS –  
by groSS contrActed rentAlS

 BARCLAYs sHARED sERviCEs PvT 
LTD

 AmAzOn DEvELOPmEnT CEnTER 
inDiA PvT LTD

 LAnDis gYR LimiTED

 PinE LABs PvT LTD

 iOn TRADing inDiA PvT LTD

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Our PrOPerties  COntD.

kensington
mumBai ’s  OnlY seZ  in POwai,  Part Of live wOrK PlaY eCOsYstem 
anD a walK-tO-wOrK mODern tOwnshiP

1.5 M sf 9 ACRES

Kensington, Powai, Mumbai, is a Grade A, 1.5 million square feet SEZ office complex in the 
modern township of Hiranandani Gardens. The office park is surrounded by residential 
towers, hospitals, schools and high-street retail, making it an attractive prospect for our 
tenants. The campus benefits from proximity to upcoming metro stations, residential areas 
and major roads that provide greater accessibility. planned upgrades of top-of-the-line 
amenities will further drive the office parks to be a preferred destination for some of the best 
brands and leading corporates.

KeY highlights

1.3 M sf 

10

82%

2.1

2

R25,807M 

area Leased

tenants

Committed oCCupanCy

waLe (years)

buiLdings

marKet vaLue

Bureau Veritas Safeguard
Certification

awards & CertiFiCations
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Our PrOPerties  COntD.

kensington

AMenitieS

 Bus bay parking

 multi-sports arena

 recreational areas

 multipurpose lobbies with turnstiles

 landscape seating lounges at podium

 indoor sports arena

tenAncy profile

 Technology 88%
 financial services 3%
 others 9%

top tenAntS –  
by groSS contrActed rentAlS

 TATA COnsuLTAnCY sERviCEs LTD

 WiPRO LTD 

 COgnizAnT TECHnOLOgY 
sOLuTiOns inDiA PvT LTD

 gE OiL & gAs inDiA PvT LTD

 L&T HYDROCARBOn EnginEERing 
LTD

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements

36 37HALF YEARLY REPORT 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust



Candor TechSpace k1
largest OffiCe  seZ  in eastern inDia with a mODern 
CamPus in KOlKata

5.7 M sf 48.4 ACRES

KeY highlights

Our PrOPerties  COntD.

Candor TechSpace K1, Kolkata, is a prominent office SEZ and the largest campus-style office 
development in Eastern India. The Grade A office park in the New Town precinct of the 
rajarhat micro market provides our tenants with world-class facilities at competitive rental 
rates. The campus has been upgraded with additional amenities, including a banquet hall, 
food court, gymnasium and a temperature-controlled indoor swimming pool. 

BEE 4 Star  
Rating

National 5S 
Excellence  

Award by CII

Indian Green  
Building Council  

Gold Rating

Bureau Veritas 
Safeguard 

Certification

ISO 9001:2015, 
ISO 14001:2015 and  

ISO 45001:2018 Certification

awards & CertiFiCations

2.7 M sf 88% 12
area Leased Committed oCCupanCy buiLdings

40 R25,916M 7.6
tenants marKet vaLue waLe (years)
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38 39HALF YEARLY REPORT 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust



Candor TechSpace k1
Our PrOPerties  COntD.

AMenitieS

 revamped health club, swimming pool 
and outdoor sports area

 convenience and retail stores

 daycare center

 24/7 food & Beverage

 Medical facilities (pharmacy and 
wellness center)

 upgraded and renovated lobbies and 
banquet hall

 vast landscaped and manicured 
gardens, green areas and water bodies

 shaded walkways, sit-out zones and 
recreational areas

tenAncy profile

 Technology 87%
 consulting 9%
 others 4%

top tenAntS –  
by groSS contrActed rentAlS

 COgnizAnT TECHnOLOgY 
sOLuTiOns inDiA PRivATE LimiTED

 TATA COnsuLTAnCY sERviCEs LTD.

 ACCEnTuRE sOLuTiOns PvT. LTD.

 CAPgEmini TECHnOLOgY sERviCEs 
inDiA LTD.

 gEnPACT inDiA PvT LTD.

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Our PrOPerties  COntD.

At Brookfield India REIT, we have the exclusive right to acquire the Identified Assets, 
comprising nearly 8.3 m sf, in Gurugram and noida. 

Identified Assets

a multi-tenanteD OffiCe seZ  in nOiDa 

Candor TechSpace N2

Candor TechSpace, Sector 135, Noida, offers 4.5 M sf of leasable area, landscaped with large sit-out areas and recreational 
zones. The Grade a development in the cBd has added the iconic “Tower 11” to its campus. The design, underlined by 
green landscapes, focuses on maximizing efficiency and creating a workplace experience that fosters a sense of belonging, 
enhanced comfort and community building.

3.6 M sf 2.9 M sf 8.3

R37,669M 

operating area area Leased waLe (years)

FLoor asset vaLue

R52.2 per sf 
in-pLaCe rent

a high-qualitY CamPus OffiCe  seZ  in gurugram

Candor TechSpace G1

Candor TechSpace, Sector 48, Gurugram, is a Grade A office spread, across 25.18 acres in a prime CBD location, making 
it a landmark destination in the Delhi/NCR region. Built to institutional specifications in a campus-style development, it 
seamlessly integrates open green spaces, curated breakout zones, club house, sports zone, amphitheatre, central greens 
and pedestrian-friendly walkways to create an effortless design in a self-sustained ecosystem.

3.7 M sf 2.5 M sf 8.1

R47,984M 

operating area area Leased waLe (years)

FLoor asset vaLue

R70.6 per sf 
in-pLaCe rent

KeY highlights KeY highlights
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how 
  We Performed
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A Steady and Stable Performance Our business remained largely insulated from the effects of COVID-19 induced lockdowns. 
The high quality of our portfolio and customized work solutions, coupled with wide experience 
and in-depth market understanding of our manager, kept us on track with our business plans, 
enabling us to continue with our regular upgrades. our strong focus on tenant retention and 
proactive revenue management helped us deliver resilient performance, marked by income 
growth, improvement in key metrics and attractive risk-adjusted returns to the unitholders.

finanCial metriCs DistriButiOn DelivereD
(In K M)

Mar 31, 
2021

For half 
year ended 

Sept 30, 
2021

For half 
year ended 

Sept 30, 
2020

income from 
operating lease 
Rentals (OLR)

6,100 3,178 3,067

revenue from 
operations

8,628 4,308 4,551

net operating 
Income (NOI)

6,600 3,325 3,447

net income in ciop 
attributed from 
Identified Assets

(52)  0 46

comparable noi 6,548 3,325 3,401

Margin on OLR (%) 107% 105% 111%

Particulars Distribution 
for the period 
ended Jun 30, 

2021

Distribution 
for the period 

ended Sept 30, 
2021

Distribution Amount (C M) 1,816.81 1,816.81

Distribution per unit (C) 6 6

- interest on 
shareholders loan

4.568 3.88

- dividend 0.448 0.09

- repayment of 
shareholders loan

0.981 2.00

- interest on fixed 
deposit

0.003 0.03

record date 18.08.2021 17.11.2021

last date for payment 25.08.2021 24.11.2021

OPeratiOnal highlights
(half-year ended sept 30, 2021)

Gross Leasing

New Leasing (sf) 38,463

Re-Leased and Renewals (sf) 177,710

Average Re-Leasing spread (%) 4%

WALE on New Area (Years) 11

Rent achieved per sf, basis LCD (C per sf) on 
new lease

50

New Tenants added (Nos.) 1

Asset Value

% Increased since  
Mar 31, 2021

Gross asset value  
(C B)

117 1.6

net asset value  
(C Per Unit)

324 2.2

Development and Capex

Area Delivered (sf) 0

Upgrade Capex Spent (C M) 160

Key Ratios

Net Debt to GAV (%) 0.17

Interest Service Coverage Ratio (%) 3.69

OPeratiOnal anD finanCial highlights

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Robust Response and Action

with improved economic growth and pace of vaccinations boosting business sentiment, 
tenants are advancing towards ‘return to work’ in a phased and hybrid form as they 
see value in retaining spaces. Organizations are fast realizing that ‘Return to Office’ is a 
necessity, as they shift focus towards efficiency, low attrition and productivity. Demand 
from new tenants is also picking up, fortified further by increasing revenues and hiring 
trends in the technology industry.

The momentum in the ‘Return to Office’ trend is attributable also to the fact that it ensures the key advantages of data 
security, 24*7 power availability, internet backup and infrastructure such as printers, scanners and other machinery. 
it also provides access to food courts, gymnasiums, aTms and other coveted amenities, which form a part of all our 
campuses. Going beyond the 9-to-5 routine, we are also adapting to the evolving needs of the new work culture, to take 
care of the 9-to-9 lifestyle of our tenants through improved infrastructure, additional amenities and regular upgrades 
across the campuses.

engAging With our tenAntS 

even as we weathered the crisis, we harnessed our 
capabilities to ensure that our campuses always remained 
operational during the pandemic. we stayed connected 
and ensured constant communication with all our tenants. 
we maintained uninterrupted onsite support to ensure 
that critical operations were not stalled. we innovated our 
delivery model through digitization to make our processes 
more efficient, thus helping our tenants navigate the 
pandemic safely and effectively.

driVing robuSt VAccinAtion

we organized corporate mega vaccination drives across 
our campuses to support the health and well-being of our 
tenants, employees, blue-collared staff and their family 
members. in collaboration with the government and private 
healthcare service providers, we conducted these drives to 
vaccinate people across mumbai, delhi/ncr and kolkata. 
we also joined hands with the local authorities to conduct 
Drive Thru vaccinations for the blue-collared staff and 
frontline workers, besides organizing counseling sessions 
for their families.

66,000+
vaCCination doses given at our 

Campuses aCross india 

aDaPting tO evOlving neeDs

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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Creating Value Towards 
Community Well-being

At Brookfield India REIT, we are helping our tenants manage their work while we take care of 
their safety by putting in place stringent measures in addition to the government mandated 
covid-19 protocols. we have been taking every possible hygiene and safety measure to 
provide a secure and healthy back-to-office environment.

enSuring the higheSt SAfety StAndArdS And coMpliAnceS

The pandemic has been a strong driver of innovation and we, at Brookfield India REIT, have devised creative and 
innovative responses to enable our tenants to weather the crisis at work.

steering a hOlistiC  aPPrOaCh tO ensure safe return

ensuring safe anD seCure return

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements
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emergenCY PrePareDness

dedicAted coVid-19 
helpline nuMber

incident 
MAnAgeMent SySteM 
ActiVAted

Periodic fumigation and 
sanitization Physical distancing

Fever screening cameras

Automatic car sanitization

Antimicrobial 
sanitizer coating

UV filtration of air

Digital logbooks

Foot door handles

Critical staff management  
and training

Regular temperature checks

E-parking ticket

No-contact elevator 
control Under Pilot

Air and surface disinfectors

our SAfety 
And preVentiVe 

MAintenAnce 
MeASureS

Personal Protective Equipment 
(PPE) Vending Machines

Transparent desk guard



Our investOr relatiOns uPDate

unithOlDing Pattern 

 consistent return on investments

 long-term viability and 
sustainable growth

 wealth creation

 Timely disclosures, transparency 
and compliance

 Quarterly earning calls

 periodic one-on-one and  
group meetings 

 half yearly reports/annual reports

 annual unitholders’ meeting

 media updates

 website

 financial performance

 asset performance

 risk management

 environment, social and 
Governance

key concerns and 
expectations

Method of 
engagement

Areas of 
emphasis

Category of unitholder no. of units 
held

as % of total 
outstanding 

units

no. of units mandatorily 
held

number of units pledged 
or otherwise encumbered

no. of units as % of total 
units held

no. of units as % of total 
units held

A. Sponsor(s)/Investment Manager/
Project Manager(s) and their 
associates/related parties

1. Indian

individuals/huf - - - - - -

central/state Govt. - - - - - -

financial institutions/Banks - - - - - -

Any Other (Specify) - - - - - -

Bodies corporates 3,387,637 1.12 3,387,637 100.00 0 0.00

Sub-Total (A) (1) 3,387,637 1.12 3,387,637 100.00 0 0.00

2. Foreign

Individuals (Non Resident Indians/ 
Foreign Individuals)

- - - - - -

foreign Government - - - - - -

institutions - - - - - -

foreign portfolio investors - - - - - -

Any Other (Bodies Corporates) 161,232,164 53.25 161,232,164 100.00 132,344,659 82.08

Sub-Total (A) (2) 161,232,164 53.25 161,232,164 100.00 132,344,659 82.08

Total unit holding of sponsor & sponsor 
Group (A) = (A)(1)+(A)(2)

164,619,801 54.37 164,619,801 100.00 132,344,659 80.39

B. Public Holding

1. Institutions

mutual funds 27,093,229 8.95 - - - -

financial institutions/Banks - - - - - -

central/state Govt. - - - - - -

venture capital funds - - - - - -

insurance companies 29,121,856 9.62 - - - -

provident/pension funds - - - - - -

foreign portfolio investors 22,732,053 7.51 - - - -

foreign venture capital investors - - - - - -

Any Other (Specify) - - - - - -

Bodies corporates - - - - - -

alternative investment fund 480,750 0.16 - - - -
#systemically important nBfcs 4,438,200 1.47 - - - -

Sub-Total (B)(1) 83,866,088 27.70 - - - -

Ensuring Shared Growth Through 
Meaningful Collaborations 

At Brookfield India REIT, we consider our unitholders as partners in long-term value creation. 
we have developed a robust unitholder engagement process to foster and nurture our 
mutual relationships.
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Category of unitholder no. of units 
held

as % of total 
outstanding 

units

no. of units mandatorily 
held

number of units pledged 
or otherwise encumbered

no. of units as % of total 
units held

no. of units as % of total 
units held

2. Non-Institutions

central Government/state 
Government(s)/President of India

individuals 24,299,900 8.03 - - - -

nBfcs registered with rBi# 482,815 0.16 - - - -

Any Other (Specify) - - - -

Trusts 14,000 0.00 - - - -

hindu undivided family 773,284 0.26 - - - -

Non Resident Indians (Repat) 210,347 0.07 - - - -

Non Resident Indians (Non Repat) 170,499 0.06 - - - -

clearing members 392,059 0.13 - - - -

Bodies corporates 26,558,708 8.77 - - - -

Body corporate-ltd liability-partnership 1,414,100 0.47 - - - -

Sub-Total (B)(2) 54,315,712 17.94 - - - -

Total public unit holding  
(B) = (B)(1)+(B)(2)

138,181,800 45.63 - - - -

Total Units Outstanding (C) = (A)+(B) 302,801,601 100.00 - - - -

# The depository data/benpos does not provide classification of systemically important NBFC/non systemically important NBFCs. Since 
systemically important NBFCs fall within the definition of institutional investors, based on publicly available information on the Reserve 
Bank of india website, systemically important nBfc unitholders have been categorized as institutions.

unit PriCe anD traDing snaPshOt 

particulars Bse nse

Unit Price

Date of Listing and Opening: Feb 16, 2021 (`) 275.05 281.70

Opening Apr 1, 2021 (`) 222.41 222.10

Closing Sept 30, 2021 (`) 265.88 266.38

52 Week High (`) 281.00 281.70

52 Week Low (`) 215.25 215

Average Daily Volume Traded During Half Year (Nos.)

No. of Units (Nos.) 32,554 287,419

Amount (`) 8,432,344 74,755,192

contact person for unitholder engagement

Source: BSE (Designated stock exchange) and NSE as of September 30, 2021 since listing.

Mr. Sanjeev Kumar
Chief Investor Relation Officer

Ms. Ruhi Goswami 
Compliance Officer

Email Id: reit.investor-relations@brookfield.com

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements

54 55HALF YEARLY REPORT 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust



how 
    We Integrate ESG

In this Section
environmenT  ........................................................  60

social  .......................................................................  65

Governance  .........................................................  72

Board of direcTors  .........................................  74

leadership Team  .................................................  76

awards and accolades  ..................................  79

4



Making Sustainability a Business 
Priority. Everyday.

integrAting eSg into our culture

The manager’s commitment to the constantly evolving 
principles of Environment, Social and Governance (ESG) 
remains strong, as exemplified by the fact that ESG is 
a core business goal and not just a supplement to our 
overall business planning. we practice cooperative 

our guiding eSg principleS

growth by involving all our stakeholders in critical 
businesses policy-making and implementation. our 
commitment to esG practices is aligned with the robust 
policies of our sponsor Group, thus ensuring adoption of 
global best practices.

Ensuring the well-being and safety of our employees
  foster a positive work environment based on respect for human rights, valuing diversity 

and zero tolerance for workplace discrimination, violence or harassment

  operate with leading health and safety practices to support the goal of zero serious 
safety incidents

Mitigating the impact of our operations on the environment
  Strive to minimize the environmental impact of our operations and improve efficient use 

of resources over time

  Support the goal of Net Zero Green House Gas (GHG) emissions by 2050 or sooner

Upholding strong governance practices
  operate to the highest ethical standards by conducting business activities in accordance 

with our code of Business conduct and ethics

  maintain strong stakeholder relationships through transparency and active engagement

Being good corporate citizens
   ensure that the interests, safety and well-being of the communities in which we operate 

are integrated into our business decisions

  support philanthropy and volunteerism by our employees

envirOnment.  sOCial.  gOvernanCe.

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements

58 59HALF YEARLY REPORT 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust



Towards Net Zero
envirOnment

one of our long-term goals is to improve our sustainability performance and reduce our 
environmental footprint. as we work towards our aim of net Zero, we strive to reduce the 
use of natural resources, such as water and energy, our carbon footprint and the generation 
of waste.

At Brookfield India REIT, we are working closely with all our stakeholders to achieve a Net Zero carbon future by 2050 or 
sooner. we are setting short, medium and long-term goals using science-based targets.

Key Steps towards Net Zero

  enabling sustainable and biophilic design principles to 
ensure that sustainability starts from inception of the 
building and not as an afterthought

  decarbonizing and switching over to renewable power 
from “dirty” coal-based power, through a mix of onsite 
and offsite renewable energy generation and usage

  Investing in technology to accelerate efficiency and 
ensure healthy returns 

  planning capital improvements to ensure all asset 
upgrades and retrofits have a lower carbon footprint 

than prevailing benchmarks and can provide long-term 
benefits during the lifecycle of the retrofit

  performing detailed energy and water balance audits 
periodically to ensure there is minimum wastage or 
leakage in the systems and whatever is consumed is 
appropriately measured

  engaging with like-minded industry bodies and 
governments to drive national and local net zero agenda

environment and sustainability are embedded in our dna. we are always conscious of our contribution and commitment 
to continual improvement in environment performance. 

conSiStent perforMAnce

area unDer sustainaBilitY 
CertifiCatiOn

area unDer qualitY 
CertifiCatiOn

78%*

h1 Fy22

78%
Fy21

(IGBC and BEE Energy Star)
*Certifications in progress at all assets, on target to achieve 100% in FY22

87%*

h1 Fy22

69%

18%
Fy21

INDIAN GREEN BUIlDING 
COUNCIl (IGBC) PlATINUM RATING

awarded to Candor teChspaCe n1, noida
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envirOnment COntD.

we undertook a series of initiatives during the year to 
reduce water consumption and manage wastewater, 
including upgradation of our sewage treatment plants, 
installation of electronic waterflow meters, adoption of 
drip irrigation, installation of water level controllers and 
implementation of rainwater harvesting methods.

2. WAter MAnAgeMent

water COnsumPtiOn (Kl)

water intensitY (k l/sf )

2,08,476

0.0244

h2 Fy22

h2 Fy22

2,31,507

0.0263

h1 Fy21

h1 Fy21

various waste management initiatives have been 
implemented across the campuses, including setting up 
of recycling kiosks, maintaining dry and wet waste bins, 
eliminating the use of plastic bottles, reducing the use of 
small garbage bags through a centralized bin system and 
raising awareness. we continue to work towards achieving 
the highest possible diversion from landfills and installing 
organic composters at all our assets.

3. WASte MAnAgeMent

waste generatiOn (mt)

204.61
h2 Fy22

237.74
h1 Fy21

waste generatiOn (kg/sf)

0.024 
h2 Fy22

0.027
h1 Fy21

39,619 4.64
h2 Fy22 h2 Fy22

44,408 5.06
h1 Fy21

506.80
h2 Fy22

532.48
h1 Fy21

h1 Fy21

We adopted several initiatives for energy efficiency and 
energy conservation to contribute towards the betterment 
of the environment. our initiatives led to reduced resource 
consumption during the year.

1. energy efficiency And SolAr poWer

energY COnsumPtiOn (mwh) energY intensitY (kwh/sf)

Onsite  sOlar generatiOn (mwh)

Resource Footprint

we constantly track our resource consumption and 
intensity to further our committed targets, while aiming for 
net Zero.

   all our parks maintain 0.99 power factor, irrespective of 
load conditions, to maximize electricity incentive; and

   we endeavor constantly to increase our onsite 
renewable. 

11% 10%

7%

8% 14%

12%5%
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envirOnment COntD.

we are continually striving to reduce the environmental 
impact of automobiles by supporting and sponsoring 
shared mobility schemes. This helps our tenants go to work 
in a stress-free manner and cost-effectively, while bringing 

4. EMISSIONS MANAGEMENT

down carbon emissions and reducing traffic congestion. 
we have partnered with innovative shared mobility 
services, such as shuttl, Quick ride and lithium.

birdS@brookfield: A cASe Study

we are committed to the preservation of biodiversity in and 
around our operations. in line with this, we integrate biophilia 
into our design process and plan for native trees, water bodies 
and seasonal plants across regions and climatic conditions. 
While our focus on flora has provided visible results, it has 
indirectly also resulted in increase in the population of birds in 
our campuses. 

sOCial –  tenants 

Making Our Tenants Feel at home

our tenants are core to our business. we understand that our business sustainability 
is premised on the experience we provide and the service we deliver to them. we are 
continually providing value-added solutions, fostering constructive engagement and curating 
unrivaled experiences in a thriving ecosystem where our tenants feel at home. 

tenAnt WelfAre initiAtiVeS

Breathing Positivity 

reinforcing our commitment to community health and 
holistic wellness, we organized live virtual yoga sessions 
on international Yoga day in collaboration with crush 
fitness. The sessions were conducted by yoga and lifestyle 
experts sheeba akashdeep, ira Trivedi and sunaina rekhi 
and included live fitness workshops aimed at restoring the 
body and healing the soul. The campaign attracted 1,000 
participants on facebook live and Zoom and over one 
million views on social media.

105
empLoyees partiCipated  

in saFe worKpLaCe Contest

ghg eMiSSionS

sCOPe 1  (mt Co2 e) sCOPe 2  (mt Co2 e)

370.29
h2 Fy22

32,078.77
h2 Fy22

337.04 
h1 Fy21

36,098.41
h1 Fy21

10% 11%
sCOPe 1  +  sCOPe 2  =  tOtal (mt Co2 e)

32,449.07
h2 Fy22

36,435.46
h1 Fy21

11%
emissiOns avOiDeD frOm Onsite sOlar

sCOPe 1  (mt Co2 e)

420.64
h2 Fy22

441.96
h1 Fy21

5%
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The Fit Mind 

as part of our wellness initiative, we organized live virtual 
workshops such as the #Thefitmind to raise awareness on 
the importance of well-being and self-care. The sessions 
were hosted by the leading well-being experts - dr. marcus 
ranney, founder and ceo - human edge and sonali Gupta, 
clinical psychologist talking about stress management and 
productivity. 

Towards a Safer Tomorrow

we remain committed to the health and well-being of our 
employees, tenants and the communities in which we 
operate. we engaged with the local administration and 
government bodies to support the ongoing vaccination 
efforts. We executed mega vaccination drives for our 
tenants, our employees, the blue-collared staff and their 
family members. we also provided dedicated resources 
to United Way, a non-profit organization, to support 
healthcare infrastructure, including distribution of oxygen 
concentrators and medical equipment, benefiting over 
150,000 lives a month.

Azadi ka Amrit Mahotsav

we celebrated the 75th “azadi ka amrit mahotsav” with Green and swachh seZ themed line up of activities, including tree 
plantation drive, nukkad natak and standup comedy act organized across our assets in mumbai and delhi-ncr. 

66,000+
vaCCinations FaCiLitated aCross Campuses 

(as oF september 30, 2021)

6
number oF virtuaL 

weLLness worKshops 
organiZed in h1 Fy22

Ensuring Health & Safety

we celebrated the 50th national safety day at our 
campuses in delhi-ncr and mumbai. The one-week 
campaign covered safety awareness communication, 
fire extinguisher operation training, Safety Pledge, use of 
Personal Protective Equipment (PPEs), mock emergency 
response drill and practical sessions on fire and safety.

we also celebrated the national fire service week to 
create awareness on the importance of workplace safety 
across our campuses by hosting several activities on fire 
prevention and safety.

122
Fire wardens trained at Campuses

sOCial –  tenants COntD.
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sOCial -  emPlOYees

Fostering a Culture of  
People Growth and Empowerment

our employees are the cornerstone of our business and we remain committed to keeping 
them engaged and empowered. we are continually investing in nurturing a culture that 
promotes holistic individual and collective growth. safety and well-being is central to our 
employee value proposition, which we are reinforcing by providing them a safe and positive 
work environment conducive to their all-inclusive development.

eMployee Well-being 

as part of our wellness initiatives, we arranged weekly 
doctors’ visits for free consultations across our 
campuses in Gurugram and noida. we also launched 
24x7 employee assistance and counseling services, 
covering areas like psychological and emotional stress, 
for our people and their immediate family members.

eMployee engAgeMent 

we engaged with our employees on a regular basis 
through The pulse, our quarterly newsletter. we 
launched an employee engagement calendar for 
conducting theme-based activities, such as virtual 
sessions on stress management, work-life balance, 
yoga sessions, financial wellness and a Kahaani Camp 
for the children of our employees.

98
“pat on the baCK” Kudos awards,  

given to empLoyees in the Last two quarters

4.7/5
average FeedbaCK sCore  

aCross training sessions

COVID-19 Support

our comprehensive covid-19 support framework 
encompassed doorstep delivery of medicines and 
equipment, priority arrangement of sample collection, 
arranging of hospital beds and oxygen concentrators, 
tele-consultation and plasma donations. a survey on 
the support provided during the second wave of the 
pandemic showed that employees were highly content 
and strongly benefited.

Learning and Development

To ensure continued learning and development of our 
employees, we initiated several targeted initiatives, 
including training on communication and safety. about 
60 employees attended the 15 sessions conducted with 
the national productivity council on energy, environment, 
water and waste management.

222
mandays oF training ConduCted
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sOCial -  COmmunities

Nurturing a Sustainable Community 

we believe community engagement to be as much a measure of our success as business 
performance. we have adopted a multi-pronged approach to social investment, which 
is focused on capacity-building and supporting programs designed to create long-term, 
sustainable impact on these communities. we have appointed sattva media, a specialized 
social impact consulting firm, as our CSR advisory. 

Project Gurukul

we have been supporting earth saviors since 2017 in their 
‘project Gurukul’ initiative, which is focused on providing 
primary healthcare and foster care to more than 500 aged 
and disabled persons at its rescue center in Bandhwari 
village, Gurugram.

Adoption of Tikri School

we have adopted a school in Tikri, haryana, with over 250 
students, for three years to upgrade its infrastructure with 
specific focus on health and hygiene and for ensuring 
quality education and a conducive environment for the 
students and to enable community upliftment.

Enhancing Learning Outcomes 

We have set up computer labs in five Govt. schools in 
haryana to promote digital literacy. Through this initiative, 
we continue to maintain these computer labs and provide 
support for capacity building of teachers and delivery of 
curriculum.

Mobile Crèches

Through mobile crèches, we have been providing health 
and childcare services to children of construction workers 
and urban slums in delhi-ncr.

Project Careershala

have partnered with alohomora, who have designed 
project careershala to empower children and support 
independent learners capable of making career choices 
that are aligned to their interests and strengths.

Project Jijivisha

We are supporting Slam Out Loud, a non-profit 
organization, in their project to provide art-based 
education to students from low-income families and build 
their creative confidence.

Maintaining Green Cover

we have adopted public areas in sector 135, noida and 
in new Town, rajarhat, kolkata, to develop and maintain 
green areas. This has helped in ensuring clean and safe 
environment and improving the air quality.

Helping Communities Battle COVID-19

during the second wave of the pandemic, we made 
focused efforts to help communities. 

   Got a kent oxygen enhancer installed at a government 
hospital in Gurugram; and

   distributed 15,000 packs of ayush kwath in haryana.

focuS AreAS of cSr interVention

enVironMent 
And coMMunity 

engAgeMent
heAlthcAre

educAtion

Skill 
deVelopMent

child 
deVelopMent
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gOvernanCe

Strong Corporate Governance 

our responsibilities towards our key stakeholder groups are underpinned by our robust 
governance framework. we conduct our business with the highest ethical and legal 
standards. regulatory compliance, integrity and ethical conduct are the foundations on 
which we operate. our framework encompasses several voluntary practices for maximizing 
shareholder value on a sustainable basis. 

Pillars Of Our 
COrPOrate gOvernanCe 

PhilOsOPhY

Performance-linked 
fee structure for the 

manager

Balanced board 
composition between 

independent and 
Brookfield directors

Commitment to Esg
Policies on anti-

bribery and 
corruption

Reviewing 
legislations, 

guidelines and 
best practices, and 
implementing them

Robust policy 
on related party 
transaction and 

conflicts

Our rOBust gOvernanCe framewOrK

  axis Trustee 
services limited

truStee
  Chief Executive Officer

  Chief Financial Officer

   Compliance Officer

key MAnAgeMent

  Brookprop management services 
private limited

  Manager’s Board of Directors (50% 
Independent Directors)

MAnAger
  audit committee

  nomination and remuneration committee

   stakeholders relationship committee

  corporate social responsibility committee

boArd coMMitteeS
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Steered by a Diverse and Visionary Board

ankur Gupta is currently a non-executive director of the manager. he is the 
Managing Partner, Country Head – India (Real Estate), at Brookfield Asset 
management and is responsible for overseeing the investments and operations 
of Brookfield Properties in India. He holds a Bachelor’s degree in Technology 
(B. Tech) (Chemical Engineering) from the Indian Institute of Technology (IIT), 
Bombay and has a Master’s degree in Business Administration (MBA) from 
Columbia University, New York. Ankur joined Brookfield in 2012 and has worked 
on Brookfield Properties’ transactions spanning India and North America.

anuj ranjan is currently a non-executive director of the manager. anuj is a part 
of the senior leadership of Brookfield Asset Management and is the Managing 
Partner and Chief Executive Officer of South Asia and Middle East for BAM. 
he is responsible for overseeing the investment initiatives and operations of 
Brookfield in these regions. He holds an MBA degree from the University of 
Western Ontario. He joined Brookfield in 2006 and has held various positions in 
the organization over the years.

Mr. Ankur guptA

Mr. AnuJ rAnJAn

mr. shailesh vishnubhai haribhakti is an independent director of the manager. 

He is a chartered and cost accountant, certified internal auditor, a certified 
financial planner, fraud examiner, and also a board chairman, audit committee 
chairperson and an independent director at some of the country’s most pre-
eminent organizations. he is a global thought leader in the area of environment, 
Social & Governance (ESG), and has helped pioneer Impactful concepts like IR & 
innovating path to net Zero. 

he is also a well-known thought leader on the indian economy and public 
policies. He is an ExTech (Exponential Technologies), ESG and Integrated 
reporting evangelist and an author of 2 books namely “The digital professional” 
and “audit renaissance”. 

he is also the chairman of Blue star limited and on the board of other large 
corporates including l&T finance holdings limited, l&T mutual fund Trustee 
limited, Bajaj electricals limited, acc limited and ambuja cements limited. he 
is also serving on the advisory boards of doha Bank, Global parli, india covid 
Response Fund (Give India) and has served as visiting faculty at Indian Institute 
of management ahmedabad and on the standards advisory council of the 
international accounting standards Board in london for two years and was 
chairman of national pension scheme Trust.

akila krishnakumar is an independent director of the manager. she holds a 
master’s degree in management studies from Birla institute of Technology 
& science at pilani, rajasthan. she was previously the president – Global 
Technology and country head – india for sunGard solutions private limited.  
she is an experienced professional with a long industry standing, including over 
30 years in the field of technology. She is currently on the Board of Matrimony.Com 
limited, indusind Bank limited and aBB power products and systems  
india limited.

Mr. ShAileSh hAribhAkti

MS. AkilA kriShnAkuMAr

BOarD Of DireCtOrs
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Alok Aggarwal is the Managing Director and Chief Executive Officer of the 
manager. he holds a B.Tech degree in civil engineering from iiT, delhi and 
has obtained a post Graduate degree in management from indian school of 
Business, hyderabad. he heads all aspects of the business of the manager 
including design, development, strategic initiatives, finance, corporate strategy, 
leasing and tenant relationships. he has over 29 years of experience in managing 
projects, business development and overseeing operations and investments 
of entities in the real estate sector. Before joining the manager, he worked at 
milestone capital advisors limited, sun-ares india real estate advisors private 
limited, hindustan prefab limited, dlf universal limited, delta mechcons 
(India) Limited, TCG Urban Infrastructure Holdings Limited and Mahindra Gesco 
developers limited.

shantanu chakraborty is the executive vice president and regional head at 
the manager. he holds a Bachelor’s degree in architecture from the school 
of planning and architecture, new delhi and a master’s degree in Business 
administration from narsee monjee institute of management studies, 
mumbai. prior to joining the manager, he worked at aiG Global real estate 
india advisors private limited, Jones lang lasalle property consultants 
(India) Private Limited and Mathur & Kapre Associates Private Limited (an 
architectural firm). He has over 18 years of experience in real estate investing, 
architecture and real estate consulting.

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma is the Chief Financial Officer of the Manager. He holds 
a Bachelor’s degree in Commerce (B.Com) from University of Delhi and is a 
chartered accountant with the institute of chartered accountants. he had 
previously worked at apollo Tyres limited, Galaxy mercantile private limited 
(currently owned by Embassy Office Parks REIT), JK Paper Limited, ICICI Bank 
limited, Quippo construction equipment limited and BpTp limited. he has 
over 27 years of experience in finance, accounts and taxation. At the Manager, 
he heads various aspects of finance including fund raising, mergers and 
acquisitions, business strategy, investor relations, reporting under accounting 
standards, controllership, budgeting and taxation.

Alok AggArWAl

Chief Executive Officer

ShAntAnu chAkrAborty

Executive Vice President and Regional Head

SAnJeeV kuMAr ShArMA

Chief Financial Officer

Driven by an Experienced Team

vithal suryavanshi is the senior vice president and regional head – west india. 
he holds a Bachelor’s degree in commerce from commercial university limited, 
delhi and has a master’s degree in Business administration from narsee monjee 
institute of management studies, mumbai. prior to joining, he worked at  
k. raheja corp private limited. he has over 28 years of experience in 
commercial sales and leasing in the real estate sector.

VithAl SuryAVAnShi

Senior Vice President and Regional Head, 
West (Mumbai and Pune)

Subrata Ghosh is the Senior Vice President and Regional Head – East (Kolkata) 
at the manager. he holds a degree in civil engineering from institution of 
Engineers. He had previously worked at Reliance Engineering Associates (P) 
limited, shapoorji pallonji & company limited and shrishti hotels private 
limited. he has over 25 years of experience in project management.

SubrAtA ghoSh

Senior Vice President and Regional Head, East

munish dayal mathur is the senior vice president & regional head at the 
manager, overseeing portfolios for the north region in india. munish holds a 
degree from school of planning & architecture, delhi and is a post-Graduate 
from cepT, ahmedabad. he has 20 years of experience covering all facets of 
real estate including asset management, operations, investments, strategy, 
development, leasing and consulting. munish has served in senior leadership 
positions across leading corporates like amazon, ascendas/capitaland and 
reliance communications. 

MuniSh MAthur

Senior Vice President & Regional Head, North

leaDershiP team
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sanjay Yadav is the senior vice president – legal at the manager. he holds a 
Bachelor’s degree in law from university of delhi. prior to joining the manager, 
he worked at snc-lavalin infrastructure private limited, a2Z online services 
Private Limited and TCG Urban Infrastructure Holdings Limited (a Chatterjee 
group company). He has over 28 years of experience in the fields of law, 
corporate affairs and administration.

Baljit singh is the senior vice president – operations at the manager. he holds a 
master’s degree in Business administration from Janardan rai nagar rajasthan 
Vidyapeeth University. Further, he is a certified Marine Engineer Officer, a 
member of the indian institution of plant engineers, member of national safety 
council and a professional member of the royal institute of chartered surveyors 
(RICS). He also holds a certificate in Security Management and Business 
intelligence from the orion school of security & intelligence management. he is 
also an executive Board member of the indian Green Building council Board.  
he had previously worked at dlf estate developers limited and pathways world 
school. he has over 32 years of experience and holds three provisional patents.

bAlJit Singh

Senior Vice President, Operations

SAnJAy yAdAV

Senior Vice President, Legal

ruhi Goswami is the vice president and General counsel at the manager and is 
also the Compliance Officer. She holds a B.Com degree from Shri Ram College of 
commerce, university of delhi, a Bachelor’s degree in law from faculty of law, 
university of delhi and a Bachelor’s in civil law from university of oxford. Before 
joining the manager, she worked at shardul amarchand mangaldas & co and 
as legal counsel with the investment team of Brookfield India. She has over ten 
years of experience in the field of law.

ruhi goSWAMi

Vice President, General Counsel and Compliance Officer

Awards and Accolades
leaDershiP team

Our responsible engineering to create efficient structures has visibly embraced the goal of 
health and well-being in making our campuses safe and sustainable for our tenants. with 
our robust value proposition and expertise in commercial real estate, we have received 
major awards and recognition which include:

SAfeguArd lAbel 

Health, Safety & Hygiene – Bureau Veritas Safeguard Certification 
(first organization to receive Bureau Veritas Safeguard 
Certification for commercial real estate in India):

  candor Techspace G2, Gurugram 

  candor Techspace n1, noida 

  candor Techspace k1, kolkata 

  kensington, powai, mumbai

indiAn green building council

Platinum Rating for Candor TechSpace N1, Noida
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1.  MANAGER’S BRIEF REPORT OF ACTIVITIES 
OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT AND SUMMARY 
OF THE STANDALONE AND CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE HALF 
YEAR ENDED SEPTEMBER 30, 2021

	 	Brookfield	India	REIT	was	settled	on	July	17,	2020	
at	Mumbai,	Maharashtra,	India	as	a	contributory,	
determinate	and	irrevocable	trust	under	the	
provisions	of	the	Indian	Trusts	Act,	1882	(as	
amended),	pursuant	to	a	trust	deed	dated	July	
17,	2020	between	the	Manager,	Sponsor	and	
Trustee.	Brookfield	India	REIT	was	registered	with	
the	Securities	and	Exchange	Board	of	India	on	
September	14,	2020	at	Mumbai	as	a	real	estate	
investment	trust,	pursuant	to	the	REIT	Regulations,	
having	registration	number	IN/REIT/20-21/0004.	
BSREP	India	Office	Holdings	V	Pte.	Ltd	is	the	sponsor	
of	Brookfield	India	REIT,	Brookprop	Management	
Services	Private	Limited	has	been	appointed	as	the	
manager	to	Brookfield	India	REIT	and	Axis	Trustee	
Services	Limited	is	the	trustee	to	Brookfield	India	
REIT.	Brookfield	India	REIT	was	listed	on	BSE	and	
NSE	on	February	16,	2021.

	 	Brookfield	India	REIT	owns	one	hundred	percent	of	
the	equity	share	capital	of	(i)	Candor	Kolkata,	Festus	
and	SPPL	Noida,	each	of	which	own	the	real	estate	
assets;	and	(ii)	CIOP	which	provides	services	including	
property	management,	facilities	management	and	
support	services	to	Candor	Kolkata	and	SPPL	Noida.

	 	Brookfield	India	REIT	owns,	operates	and	manages	a	
combined	14	M	sf	Portfolio	of	four	office	parks	in	four	
gateway	office	markets	of	India	–	Mumbai,	Gurugram,	
Noida	and	Kolkata.

	 	With	respect	to	the	update	on	the	properties,	
performance	and	other	details,	please	refer	to	page	
no.	19	and	page	no.	26	to	page	no.	41.

	 	The	NAV	of	Brookfield	India	REIT	for	the	quarter	ended	
September	30,	2021,	is	`324	per	Unit.	For	calculation	
of	the	NAV,	please	refer	page	no.	133	of	consolidated	
financial	statements	of	Brookfield	India	REIT.	

	 	With	respect	to	trading	price,	kindly	refer	to	page	85	
of	this	report.

	 	The	detailed	valuation	is	attached	as	part	of	this	
report,	please	refer	page	180	to	page	200.

	 	For	the	summary	of	the	audited	standalone	and	
consolidated	financial	statements	please	refer	to	
page	no.	94-95	and	page	no.	128-129	of	this	report.

2.  BRIEF DETAILS OF ALL THE ASSETS OF 
BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT INCLUDING 
A BREAK-UP OF REAL ESTATE ASSETS 
AND OTHER ASSETS, LOCATION OF THE 
PROPERTIES, AREA OF THE PROPERTIES, 
CURRENT TENANTS (NOT LESS THAN TOP 10 
TENANTS AS PER VALUE OF LEASE), LEASE 
MATURITY PROFILE, DETAILS OF UNDER 
CONSTRUCTION PROPERTIES, IF ANY, ETC.

	 a.	 	Real	estate	assets	-	please	refer	to	page	no.	26	
to	41	of	this	report.

   Other assets -	Brookfield	India	REIT	owns	one	
hundred	percent	of	the	equity	share	capital	of	
CIOP	which	provides	services	including	 
property	management,	facilities	management	
and	support	services	to	Candor	Kolkata	and	
SPPL	Noida.

	 b.	 	Location	of	the	properties	-	please	refer	to	page	
19	of	this	report.

	 c.	 	Area	of	the	properties	-	please	refer	to	page	19	
of	this	report.

	 d.	 	Current	tenants	(top	10	tenants	as	per	value	of	
lease	i.e.	Gross	Contracted	Rentals).

Statutory Section Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier
Candor	TechSpace	G2 Accenture	Solutions	Private	

Limited		
TLG	India	Private	Limited	
RBS	India	Development	
Centre	Private	Limited
Amdocs	Development	
Centres	India	LLP
Saxo	Group	India	Private	
Limited
NWM	Services	India	Private	
Limited
BT	E-Serv	India	Private	
Limited
E&Y	LLP
EYGBS	(India)	LLP
R1	RCM	Global	Private	
Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier
Candor	TechSpace	N1 Barclays	Shared	Services	

Private	Limited
Amazon	Development	
Centre	India	Private	Limited
Landis	Gyr	Limited
Pine	Labs	Private	Limited
ION	Trading	India	Private	
Limited
TPG	Software	Private	Limited
Markit	India	Services	Private	
Limited
Barco	Electronic	Systems	
Private	Limited
Innovaccer	Analytics	Private	
Limited
Savista	Global	Solutions	
Private	Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier
Candor	TechSpace	K1 Cognizant	Technology	

Solutions	India	Private	
Limited
Tata	Consultancy	Services	
Limited
Accenture	Solutions	Private	
Limited
Capgemini	Technology	
Services	India	Limited
Genpact	India	Private	Limited
HCL	Technologies	Limited
Indo	Rama	Ventures	Global	
Shared	Services
Concentrix	Daksh	Services	
India	Private	Limited
Sankalp	Semiconductor	
Private	Limited
Simplify	Workforce	
Technologies	Private	Limited

Name of the Asset Name of the Occupier
Kensington Tata	Consultancy	Services	

Limited
Wipro	Limited
Cognizant	Technology	
Solutions	India	Private	
Limited
GE	Oil	&	Gas	India	Private	
Limited
L&T	Hydrocarbon	
Engineering	Limited
Apollo	India	Services	LLP
Hitachi	Payment	Services	
Private	Limited
Vodafone	Idea	Limited
Bharti	Airtel	Limited
Reliance	Communications	
Limited

	 e.	 Lease	Maturity	Profile

Particulars
Kensington,

Powai, 
Mumbai

Candor 
TechSpace G2, 

Gurgaon

Candor 
TechSpace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated at 
Brookfield India 

REIT Level
Leasable	Area	(M	sf)	 1.5 4.0	 2.8 5.7	 14.0
Leased	(M	sf)	 1.3	 3.1	 1.3 2.7	 8.4	
Wale	(years) 2.1 7.5 6.8 7.6 6.6
Lease	Maturity	Profile	–	 
Area	Expiring	(M	sf)

Year (Area	M	sf)
2022 0.0 0.3 0.0 0.3 0.6
2023 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.6
2024 0.7 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.0
2025 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.6

	 f.	 Details	of	under-construction	properties	-	please	refer	to	page	no.	19	and	page	no.	26	to	41	of	this	report.

3. BRIEF SUMMARY OF THE FULL VALUATION REPORT AS AT THE END OF THE HALF YEAR.

	 Refer	page	no.	180	to	200	of	this	report.

4. DETAILS OF CHANGES DURING THE HALF YEAR PERTAINING TO:

	 (a)	 	Addition	and	divestment	of	assets	including	the	identity	of	the	buyers	or	sellers,	purchase/sale	prices	and	brief	
details	of	valuation	for	such	transactions.

	 	 There	has	been	no	addition	or	divestment	of	assets	during	the	half	year	ended	September	30,	2021.	
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	 (b)	 Valuation	of	assets	(as	per	the	full	valuation	reports)	and	NAV.	

	 	 Please	refer	to	page	no.	133	to	134.

	 (c)	 Letting	of	assets,	occupancy,	lease	maturity,	key	tenants,	etc.

  Letting of assets
Particulars Kensington Candor  

TechSpace G2
Candor  

TechSpace N1
Candor  

TechSpace K1
New	Leases	during	the	Half	Year - - 38,463 -
Area	Re-leased	&	Renewed	during	the	Half	Year - 8,644 34,334 134,732
Re-leasing	spread	during	the	Half	Year	* - - 34 -

	 	 *	Only	office	leases	considered	to	calculate	Re-leasing	spread

  Occupancy

Particulars Kensington 
Powai, Mumbai

Candor 
TechspaceG2, 

Gurugram

Candor 
Techspace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated  
REIT

Committed	Occupancy	(%)	–	 
As	on	March	31,	2021

86 92 71 91 87

Committed	Occupancy	(%)	–	 
As	on	September	30,	2021

82 81 71 88 82

Change	in	Committed	Occupancy	
during	the	half	year(%)

(5) (11) 1 (3) (6)

  Lease Maturity

Particulars Kensington 
Powai, Mumbai

Candor 
TechspaceG2, 

Gurugram

Candor 
Techspace N1, 

Noida

Candor 
TechSpace K1, 

Kolkata

Consolidated 
REIT

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) - March 31, 2021
Year 2022 0.1 0.7 0.1 0.3 1.1

2023 0.4 0.1 - 0.1 0.6
2024 0.7 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.0
2025 0.1 0.2 0.2 0.0 0.6

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) - September 30, 2021 
Year 2022 0.0	 0.3	 0.0 0.3 0.6 

2023 0.4 0.1 0.0 0.1 0.6
2024 0.7 0.0 0.2 0.0 1.0
2025 0.1 0.2 0.3 0.0 0.6

Lease Maturity Profile- Area Expiring (M sf) – Changes during the half year
Year 2022 (0.1) (0.4)	 (0.0) (0.0) (0.5)

2023 0.0	 (0.0) 0.0 (0.0) (0.0)
2024 0.0	 0.0 0.0 0.0 0.0 
2025 0.0	 (0.0) 0.0 0.0 0.0 

  Key Tenants
Particulars Kensington Candor  

TechSpace G2
Candor  

Techspace N1
Candor  

TechSpace K1
New	Tenants	Added	during	the	Half	Year 1
Re-leasing	to	Existing	Tenants	during	the	half	year 2 2 2

	 (d)	 Borrowings/repayment	of	borrowings	(standalone	and	consolidated).

` in M

Name of the Asset SPV Facility 
Type

Principal  
outstanding as 

on April 01, 2021

Borrowing 
during the HY 22

Repayment 
during the HY 22

Outstanding
as on September 

30, 2021
Candor	Kolkata LRD 12,500 0 0 12,500

LOC 100 300 0 400
Loan 24,050 66 608 23,508

SPPL	Noida LRD 2,000 0 0 2,000
LOC 100 250 0 350
Loan 4,150 33 207 3,976

Festus LRD 6,500 0 0 6,500
LOC 0 100 0 100
Loan 7,900 89 87 7,902

Total 57,300   838     902 57,236
-	LRD:	Lease	Rental	Discounting,	-LOC:	Line	of	Credit,	-Loan:	Loan	from	Brookfield	India	REIT

	 	 On	Standalone	basis,	there	are	no	borrowings	at	the	Brookfield	India	REIT	level.

	 (e)	 Sponsor,	manager,	trustee,	valuer,	directors	of	the	Trustee/manager/sponsor,	etc.

	 	 	There	is	no	change	in	the	Sponsor,	Manager,	Trustee,	and	Valuer	during	the	half	year.	Further,	there	has	been	
no	change	in	the	directors	of	Manager	during	the	half	year	ended	September	30,	2021.

	 	 The	details	of	changes	in	the	directors	of	Sponsor	and	Trustee	are	as	follows:

  Changes in directors of Trustee
Sr. 
No. Name of the Director DIN Nature of change

1 Ms.	Deepa	Rath 09163254 Appointment	–	Appointed	as	Managing	Director	and	 
Chief	Executive	Officer	w.e.f.	May	01,	2021

2 Mr.	Sanjay	Sinha 08253225 Cessation	–	Ceased	to	be	Managing	Director	and	Chief	
Executive	owing	to	superannuation	w.e.f.	close	of	business	of	
April	30,	2021

  Changes in directors of Sponsor
Sr. 
No. Name of the Director DIN Nature of change

1 Mr.	Aanandjit	Sunderaj G3395950N Resignation	effective	June	9,	2021
2 Ms.	Taswinder	Kaur	Gill S8843856F Resignation	effective	September	13,	2021
3 Mr.	Walter	Zhang	Shen S9179041F Resignation	effective	July	1,	2021
4 Mr.	Velden	Neo	jun	Xiong S8909638C Appointment	–	Appointed	as	Director	effective	 

August	13,	2021
5 Mr.	Tang	Qichen S9084721Z Appointment	–	Appointed	as	Director	effective	 

September	15,	2021

	 (f)	 	Clauses	in	trust	deed,	investment	management	agreement	or	any	other	agreement	entered	into	pertaining	to	
activities	of	Brookfield	India	REIT.

	 	 Not	Applicable

	 (g)	 Any	other	material	change	during	the	half	year

	 	 Not	Applicable

5. UPDATE ON DEVELOPMENT OF UNDER-CONSTRUCTION PROPERTIES, IF ANY.

	 Please	refer	to	page	19,	26	-	41	of	this	report
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7. DEBT MATURITY PROFILE OVER EACH OF THE NEXT 5 YEARS AND DEBT COVENANTS, IF ANY.

	 Debt	maturity	profile	covered	in	above	point.

 Debt Covenants 
	 	LTVR	shall	not	be	greater	than	40%	in	the	facilities	borrowed	by	the	Asset	SPVs	other	than	from	 

Brookfield	India	REIT.

Name of the 
Asset SPV Nature of Loan Security Terms of repayment

Candor	
Kolkata

Lease	rent	discounting	
and	Line	of	Credit	
Interest	@	PLR	(-)	spread
(Term	:	12	Year)

The	term	loan	is	secured	by	way	
of	charge	on	hypothecation	of	
receivables,	movable	assets,	
insurance	policies,	lease	
agreement,	bank	accounts,	
mortgage	on	immovable	
properties	including	land	and	
pledge	of	51%	of	share	capital	
of	the	Company	on	fully	diluted	
basis

Principle	repayment:	Upon	completion	of	60	months	
from	the	first	drawdown	date,	the	facility	shall	be	
repaid	in	84	monthly	instalments	(overall	tenure	-	
144	months)	comprising	of	principle	repayment	and	
interest	payment	at	applicable	interest	rate.

Interest	repayment:	At	the	applicable	rate	of	
interest	on	the	outstanding	principle	of	facility	will	
be	paid	monthly	on	each	interest	payment	date	of	
the	facility	from	the	date	of	first	disbursement	till	
commencement	of	monthly	instalments.

SPPL	Noida Lease	rent	discounting	
and	Line	of	Credit	
Interest	@	PLR	(-)	spread
(Term	:	12	Year)

The	term	loan	is	secured	by	way	
of	charge	on	hypothecation	of	
receivables,	movable	assets,	
insurance	policies,	lease	
agreement,	bank	accounts,	
mortgage	on	immovable	
properties	including	land	and	
pledge	of	51%	of	share	capital	
of	the	Company	on	fully	diluted	
basis

Principle	repayment:	Upon	completion	of	60	months	
from	the	first	drawdown	date,	the	facility	shall	be	
repaid	in	84	monthly	instalments	(overall	tenure	-	
144	months)	comprising	of	principle	repayment	and	
interest	payment	at	applicable	interest	rate.

Interest	repayment:	At	the	applicable	rate	of	
interest	on	the	outstanding	principle	of	facility	will	
be	paid	monthly	on	each	interest	payment	date	of	
the	facility	from	the	date	of	first	disbursement	till	
commencement	of	monthly	instalments.

Festus Lease	rent	discounting	
and	Line	of	Credit	
Interest	@	PLR	(-)	spread
(Term	:	12	Year)

The	term	loan	is	secured	by	
mortgage/charge	on	immovable	
assets	(including	buildings),	
bank	accounts,	insurance	
policies,	receivables,	underlying	
land	for	which	rights	owned	
by	the	Company	and	demand	
promissory	note	in	favour	of	
the	lender.	Further	term	loan	is	
secured	by	pledge,	to	be	created	
on	shares	of	the	Company	
constituting	51%	of	the	issued	
and	outstanding	equity	share	
capital.	

Principle	repayment:	Upon	completion	of	60	months	
from	the	first	drawdown	date,	the	facility	shall	be	
repaid	in	84	monthly	instalments	(overall	tenure	-	
144	months)	comprising	of	principle	repayment	and	
interest	payment	at	the	applicable	interest	rate.

Interest	repayment:	At	the	applicable	rate	of	
interest	on	the	outstanding	principle	of	facility	will	
be	paid	monthly	on	each	interest	payment	date	of	
the	facility	from	the	date	of	first	disbursement	till	
commencement	of	monthly	instalments.

8.  THE TOTAL OPERATING EXPENSES OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT, INCLUDING ALL FEES AND 
CHARGES PAID TO THE MANAGER AND ANY OTHER PARTIES, IF ANY DURING THE HALF YEAR.

	 Refer	page	no.	95	and	178	of	this	report.

9.  PAST PERFORMANCE OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT WITH RESPECT TO UNIT PRICE, 
DISTRIBUTIONS AND YIELD FOR THE LAST 5 YEARS, AS APPLICABLE.

	 	The	Units	were	listed	on	February	16,	2021,	therefore,	the	past	performance	and	other	details	for	the	last	5	years	
are	not	available.	The	details	of	unit	price	is	mentioned	below:

Month
BSE NSE

High (`) Low (`) Volume (Nos.) High (`) Low (`) Volume (Nos.)
February,	2021 280.05 240.00 3,669,800 281.70 239.25 18,505,800
March,	2021 251.60 215.25 5,151,400 251.99 215.00 15,136,000
April,	2021 249.00 222.41 274,600 250.00 222.10 2,577,400
May,	2021 260.00 244.00 1,894,000 260.75 243.30 6,236,200
June,	2021 274.79 245.00 776,600 272.80 250.40 4,980,600
July,	2021 272.72 262.20 174,600 273.25 262.70 3,136,000
August,	2021 275.24 247.16 441,484 275.50 251.01 4,450,125
September,	2021 281.00 241.00 475,351 276.89 220.00 14,259,642
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11.  DETAILS OF ALL RELATED PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS DURING THE HALF YEAR

 (a)  value of which exceeds five per cent of 
value of Brookfield India REIT assets.

 (b)  Details regarding the monies lent by 
Brookfield India REIT to the holding 
company or the special purpose vehicle in 
which it has investment in.

	 	Refer	to	page	no.	121	to	124	of	this	report	which	
contains	details	of	all	related	party	transactions	
entered	into	by	Brookfield	India	REIT	including	
monies	lent	by	Brookfield	India	REIT	to	Asset	SPVs.	
(Standalone).

	 	Refer	to	page	no.	174	to	177	of	this	report	which	
contains	details	of	all	related	party	transactions	
entered	into	by	Brookfield	India	REIT	and	the	Asset	
SPVs	during	the	half	year	ended	September	30,	2021	
(excluding	transactions	which	are	eliminated	on	
consolidation).

12.  DETAILS OF FUND RAISING DURING THE 
HALF YEAR, IF ANY.

	 None

13.  BRIEF DETAILS OF MATERIAL AND PRICE 
SENSITIVE INFORMATION

	 Not	Applicable	

14.  BRIEF DETAILS OF MATERIAL LITIGATIONS 
AND REGULATORY ACTIONS WHICH ARE 
PENDING, AGAINST BROOKFIELD INDIA 
REIT, SPONSOR(S), MANAGER OR ANY 
OF THEIR ASSOCIATES AND SPONSOR 
GROUP(S) AND THE TRUSTEE, IF ANY, AS AT 
THE END OF THE HALF YEAR

	 	This	section	of	the	Report	contains	disclosures,	as	on	
September	30,	2021,	on	all:

 	 	pending	title	litigation	and	irregularities	
pertaining	to	the	Portfolio	and	pending	criminal	
matters,	regulatory	actions	and	material	(as	
set	out	below)	civil/commercial	matters	against	
Brookfield	India	REIT,	the	Sponsor,	the	Manager	
or	any	of	their	Associates,	Asset	SPVs,	CIOP,	the	
Sponsor	Group	and	the	Trustee	(collectively,	
“Required	Parties”);	and

 	 	pending	direct	tax,	indirect	tax	and	property	
tax	matters	against	the	Required	Parties	in	a	
consolidated	manner.

	 	For	the	purposes	of	identifying	“associates”	with	
respect	to	disclosures	to	be	made	in	the	report	
under	the	REIT	Regulations,	the	definition	of	
‘associates’	as	set	out	in	the	REIT	Regulations	have	
been	relied	on	except	sub-clause	(ii)	of	Regulation	
2(1)(b)	of	the	REIT	Regulations,	which	requires	any	
person	who	controls,	both	directly	and	indirectly,	
the	said	person	to	be	identified	as	an	associate.	With	
respect	to	the	aforesaid,	only	entities	which	directly	
control	Brookfield	India	REIT,	Sponsor	or	Manager,	as	
applicable,	have	been	considered.

	 	All	disclosures	with	respect	to	pending	civil/	
commercial	matters,	regulatory	actions,	criminal	
litigation	and	tax	matters	against	BAM	have	been	
made	in	accordance	with	the	materiality	threshold	
separately	disclosed	below.

	 	Except	as	disclosed	in	below,	there	is	no	pending	title	
litigation	or	irregularity,	criminal	litigation,	regulatory	
action	and	civil/commercial	matter	(subject	to	the	
materiality	thresholds	set	out	below)	against	the	
Required	Parties:

 I.  Title irregularities (including title 
litigation) pertaining to the Portfolio 

	 	 Nil

 II.  Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
Brookfield India REIT, its Associates, 
the Asset SPVs and CIOP

	 	 	For	the	purpose	of	disclosure	of	pending	civil/	
commercial	litigation	against	Brookfield	India	
REIT,	its	Associates,	the	Asset	SPVs	and	CIOP,	
such	matters	exceeding	`87.90	million	(being	
1%	of	the	combined	total	income	of	Brookfield	
India	REIT	as	of	March	31,	2021)	have	been	
considered	material	and	proceedings	where	the	
amount	is	not	determinable	but	the	proceeding	
is	considered	material	by	the	Manager	from	the	
perspective	of	Brookfield	India	REIT,	have	also	
been	disclosed.	

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	Brookfield	India	REIT,	
its	Associates,	the	Asset	SPVs	and	CIOP	do	not	
have	any	criminal	litigation,	regulatory	actions	
or	material	civil/commercial	litigation	pending	
against	them.

 III.  Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Sponsor and its Associates

	 	 	For	the	purpose	of	disclosure	of	pending	 
civil/commercial	litigation	against	the	Sponsor	
and	its	Associates,	such	matters	exceeding	 
USD	3.73	million	(being	5%	of	the	net	worth	
of	the	Sponsor	as	of	December	31,	2020)	have	
been	considered	material	and	proceedings	
where	the	amount	is	not	determinable	but	
the	proceeding	is	considered	material	by	the	
Manager	from	the	perspective	of	Brookfield	
India	REIT	have	also	been	disclosed.

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	the	Sponsor	and	 
its	Associates	do	not	have	any	criminal	 
litigation,	regulatory	action	or	any	material	 
civil/commercial	litigation	pending	against	them.

 IV.  Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Sponsor Group

	 	 	For	the	purpose	of	disclosure	of	pending	 
civil/commercial	litigation	against	the	Sponsor	
Group	(excluding	the	Sponsor	and	BAM),	such	
matters	exceeding	`87.90	million	(being	1%	of	
the	combined	total	income	of	Brookfield	India	
REIT	as	of	March	31,	2021)	have	been	considered	
material	and	proceedings	where	the	amount	
is	not	determinable	but	the	proceeding	is	
considered	material	by	the	Manager	have	been	
disclosed.

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	the	Sponsor	Group	
(excluding	the	Sponsor	and	BAM)	do	not	have	
any	criminal	litigation,	regulatory	action	or	
material	civil/commercial	litigation	pending	
against	them.

	 	 	With	respect	to	pending	civil/commercial,	
regulatory	actions,	criminal	litigation	and	tax	
litigation	against	BAM	(which	is	currently	listed	
on	NYSE	and	TSX),	the	disclosure	below	has	
been	made	on	the	basis	of	the	public	filings	and	
periodic	disclosures	made	by	BAM	in	accordance	
with	applicable	securities	law	and	stock	
exchange	rules.	The	threshold	for	identifying	
material	matters	in	such	disclosures	is	based	
on	periodically	reviewed	thresholds	applied	by	
the	independent	auditors	of	BAM	in	expressing	
their	opinion	on	the	financial	statements	and	
is	generally	linked	to	various	financial	metrics	
of	BAM,	including	total	equity,	materiality	for	
revenue	and	operating	expenses	which	is	based	
on	funds	from	operations.	The	latest	audit	plan,	
prepared	by	the	independent	auditors	of	BAM,	
comprising	such	threshold	has	been	approved	
by	the	audit	committee	and	board	of	directors	
of	BAM	and	set	such	threshold	at	USD	1.2	billion.

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	BAM	is	contingently	
liable	with	respect	to	litigation	and	claims	that	
arise	in	the	normal	course	of	business.	It	is	not	
reasonably	possible	that	any	of	the	ongoing	
litigation	could	result	in	a	material	settlement	
liability.

 V.  Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Manager and its Associates

	 	 	For	the	purpose	of	disclosure	of	pending	 
civil/commercial	litigation	against	the	Manager	
and	its	Associates,	such	matters	exceeding	
`29.59	million	(being	5%	of	the	total	income	of	
the	Manager	as	of	March	31,	2021)	have	been	

	 The	details	of	distribution	and	yield	for	the	period	ended	September	30,	2021	is	as	follows:

June	30,	2021 `	6	per	unit

September	30,	2021 `	6	per	unit

Total	 `	12	per	unit

Yield	as	on	September	30,	2021	(Based	on	closing	price	`266.38	as	on	September	30,	2021.) 9%

10.  UNIT PRICE QUOTED ON THE DESIGNATED STOCK EXCHANGES AT THE BEGINNING AND END 
OF THE HALF YEAR, THE HIGHEST AND LOWEST UNIT PRICE AND THE AVERAGE DAILY VOLUME 
TRADED DURING THE HALF YEAR

Particulars BSE NSE
Unit Price
Date	of	Listing	and	Opening:	February	16,	2021	(`) 275.05 281.70

Opening	April	1,	2021	(`) 222.41 222.10

Closing	September	30,	2021	(`) 265.88 266.38

52	Week	High	(`) 281.00 281.70

52	Week	Low	(`) 215.25 215
Average Daily Volume Traded During Half Year (Nos.)
No	of	Units	(Nos.) 32,554 287,419
Amount	(`) 8,432,344 74,755,192

	 Source:	BSE	(Designated	stock	exchange)	and	NSE	as	of	September	30,	2021	since	listing.
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considered	material	and	proceedings	where	the	
amount	is	not	determinable	but	the	proceeding	
is	considered	material	by	the	Manager	from	the	
perspective	of	Brookfield	India	REIT,	have	also	
been	disclosed.

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	the	Manager	and	its	
Associates	do	not	have	any	criminal	litigation,	
regulatory	action	or	material	civil/commercial	
litigation	pending	against	them.

 VI.  Material litigation, criminal litigation 
and regulatory actions pending against 
the Trustee

	 	 	For	the	purpose	of	pending	civil/commercial	
litigation	against	the	Trustee,	matters	involving	
amounts	exceeding	`10.057	million	(being	5%	
of	the	profit	after	tax	of	the	Trustee	for	FY	2021)	
have	been	considered	material.

	 	 	As	of	September	30,	2021,	the	Trustee	does	not	
have	any	criminal	litigation,	regulatory	action	
or	material	civil/commercial	litigation	pending	
against	it.

 VII. Tax Matters
	 	 	Details	of	all	direct	tax,	indirect	tax	and	property	

tax	matters	with	respect	to	the	Required	Parties	
as	of	September	30,	2021	is	set	forth:

	 	 	For	the	purposes	of	disclosure	of	tax	matters	
against	BAM,	see	the	materiality	threshold	
adopted	for	disclosure	of	civil/commercial	
litigation,	regulatory	actions,	criminal	litigation	
and	tax	litigation	under	-	“material	litigation,	
criminal	litigation	and	regulatory	actions	
pending	against	the	Sponsor	Group”,	on	this	
page	above.

Nature Number
Amount 
involved  

(in ` M)

Brookfield	India	REIT,	 
Asset	SPVs	and	CIOP
Direct	tax 34 841.13
Indirect	tax 3 353.32
Sponsor	Group
Direct	tax 1 204.79

	 	 	The	direct	tax	matters	are	primarily	in	the	nature	
of	demand	notices	and/or	orders	issued	by	the	
income	tax	authorities	alleging	computation	of	
taxable	income	on	account	of	certain	additions/
disallowances,	deduction	of	tax	incentive	and	
classifications	of	income	resulting	in	additional	
demand	of	TDS/income	tax.	Such	matters	are	
pending	before	the	relevant	tax	authorities	
including	income	tax	appellate	tribunal.	These	

also	include	matters	where	the	income-	tax	
authorities	have	initiated	penalty	proceedings	
but	not	issued	any	penalty	order/concluded	the	
proceedings.

	 	 	The	indirect	tax	matters	are	primarily	in	the	
nature	of	demand	notices	and/or	orders	
(excluding	show	cause	notices	where	no	
demand	has	been	raised	yet	and	the	order	is	
pending)	issued	by	the	indirect	tax	authorities	
alleging	non-payment	of	correct	amount	of	value	
added	tax	or	in	the	nature	of	ex-parte	order.	
Such	matters	are	pending	before	the	indirect	
tax	authorities,	including	indirect	tax	appellate	
tribunals.

15. RISK FACTORS

	 	The	risks	and	uncertainties	described	below	are	not	
the	only	risks	that	we	face	or	may	face	or	not	the	
only	ones	relevant	to	Brookfield	India	REIT,	the	Asset	
SPVs,	CIOP	or	in	the	industry	we	operate.	Additional	
risks	and	uncertainties	not	presently	known	to	us	or	
that	we	currently	believe	to	be	immaterial	may	also	
have	an	adverse	effect	on	our	business,	results	of	
operations	and	financial	condition.

  Risks Related to our Organization and 
Structure

	 1.	 	The	Manager	does	not	provide	any	assurance	
or	guarantee	of	any	distributions	to	the	
Unitholders.	The	ability	of	our	Manager	to	make	
distributions	to	the	Unitholders	may	be	affected	
by	several	factors	mainly

  	 	the	cash	flows	from	operations	generated	
by	the	Asset	SPVs	and	CIOP;

  	 	the	debt	service	costs	and	other	liabilities	
of	the	Asset	SPVs,	including	terms	of	the	
financing	and	agreements;

  	 	the	working	capital	needs	of	the	Asset	SPVs	
and	CIOP;

  	 	the	extent	of	lease	concessions,	rent	free	
periods,	and	incentives	given	to	tenants	
to	attract	new	tenants	and	retain	existing	
tenants;

  	 	the	terms	of	and	any	payments	under	any	
agreements	governing	land	leased	or	co-	
developed	by	the	Asset	SPVs;

  	 	business,	results	of	operations	and	financial	
condition	of	the	Asset	SPVs;

  	 	applicable	laws	and	regulations,	which	may	
restrict	the	payment	of	dividends	by	the	
Asset	SPVs	or	distributions	by	us;

	 2.	 	The	ability	of	the	Manager	to	acquire	or	
dispose	of	assets	or	explore	new	investment	
opportunities	or	avail	additional	debt	is	subject	
to	conditions	provided	in	the	REIT	Regulations.	
Further,	the	regulatory	framework	governing	
real	estate	investment	trusts	in	India	is	new	and	
untested.

 Risks Related to Our Business and Industry
	 3.	 	Our	results	of	operations,	profitability	and	

cash	flows,	the	trading	price	of	the	Units	
have	been	and	may	continue	to	be	adversely	
impacted	by	the	outbreak	of	and	the	resulting	
disruptions	caused	by	the	coronavirus	disease	
2019	(COVID-19)	pandemic.	The	extent	to	
which	COVID-19	may	affect	our	business	and	
operations	in	the	future	is	uncertain	and	cannot	
be	predicted.

	 4.	 	Our	business	and	profitability	is	dependent	
on	the	performance	of	the	commercial	real	
estate	market	in	India	as	well	as	the	general	
economic,	demographic	and	political	conditions.	
Fluctuations	in	the	general	economic,	market	
and	other	conditions	may	affect	the	commercial	
real	estate	market	in	India	and	in	turn,	our	ability	
to	lease	office	parks	to	tenants	on	favorable	
terms.	The	commercial	real	estate	market	in	
India	may	particularly	be	dependent	on	market	
prices	for	developable	land	and	the	demand	
for	leasing	of	finished	offices,	both	of	which	will	
continue	to	have	a	significant	impact	on	our	
business,	results	of	operations	and	financial	
condition.

	 5.	 	We	are	dependent	on	a	limited	number	of	
tenants	and	sectors	for	our	significant	portion	
of	our	revenue	and	any	adverse	developments	
affecting	such	tenants	or	sectors	may	have	
an	adverse	effect	on	our	business,	results	of	
operations	and	financial	condition.	On	account	
of	majority	of	our	assets	being	registered	as	SEZ	
for	IT	and	IT	enabled	services,	the	tenants	in	the	
technology	sector	accounted	for	approximately	
half	of	the	leased	area	of	our	assets.

	 6.	 	A	significant	portion	of	our	revenue	is	derived	
from	leasing	activities	at	Candor	TechSpace	
G2	and	any	adverse	development	relating	to	
Candor	TechSpace	G2	or	the	micro-market	in	
which	it	is	located	may	adversely	affect	our	
business,	results	of	operations	and	financial	
condition.

	 7.	 	The	audit	report	of	the	Statutory	Auditor	on	the	
Financial	Statements	includes	a	qualification	and	
emphasis	of	matters.

	 8.	 	Our	dependence	on	rental	income	may	
adversely	affect	our	profitability,	ability	to	
meet	debt	and	other	financial	obligations	and	
the	Manager’s	ability	to	make	distributions	to	
Unitholders.

	 9.	 	The	Manager	cannot	assure	you	that	it	will	be	
able	to	successfully	complete	future	acquisitions	
of	including	the	Identified	Assets	and	ROFO	
Properties	on	account	of	them	being	subject	
to	various	terms	and	conditions	or	efficiently	
manage	the	assets	that	we	may	acquire	in	the	
future.	Further,	any	future	acquisitions	may	be	
subject	to	acquisition	related	risks.

	 10.	 	There	can	be	no	assurance	that	the	Under	
Construction	Area	or	Future	Development	
Potential	will	be	completed	in	its	entirety	in	
accordance	with	anticipated	timelines	or	cost,	or	
that	we	will	achieve	the	results	expected	from	
such	projects,	which	may	adversely	affect	our	
reputation,	business,	results	of	operations	and	
financial	condition.

	 11.	 	The	Manager	may	be	unable	to	renew	lease	
agreements	or	lease	vacant	area	on	favorable	
terms	or	at	all,	which	could	adversely	affect	our	
business,	results	of	operations	and	cash	flows.

	 12.	 	The	actual	rent	received	for	the	assets	may	be	
less	than	the	leasing	rent	or	the	market	rent	and	
we	may	experience	a	decline	in	realized	rent	
rates	from	time	to	time,	which	may	adversely	
affect	our	business,	results	of	operations,	cash	
flows	and	distributions.

	 13.	 	Brookfield	India	REIT,	the	Asset	SPVs,	CIOP,	the	
Manager	and	the	Sponsor	have	entered	into	
several	related	party	transactions,	which	could	
potentially	pose	a	conflict	of	interest.

	 14.	 	The	valuation	report	on	the	assets	in	our	
Portfolio	is	only	indicative	in	nature	as	it	is	
based	on	a	set	of	assumptions	and	may	not	
be	representative	of	the	true	value	of	the	
Portfolio.	The	valuation	report	is	based	on	
certain	assumptions	relating	to	the	nature	of	
the	property,	its	location,	lease	rental	forecasts	
and	valuation	methodologies	and	these	
assumptions	add	an	element	of	subjectivity	
to	these	valuations	and	hence	may	not	be	
accurate.	Further,	valuations	do	not	necessarily	
represent	the	price	at	which	a	real	estate	asset	
would	sell,	since	market	prices	of	assets	can	only	
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be	determined	by	negotiation	between	a	willing	
buyer	and	seller.

	 15.	 	We	may	be	subject	to	certain	restrictive	
covenants	under	the	financing	agreements	
that	could	limit	our	flexibility	in	managing	our	
business	or	to	use	cash	or	other	assets.

	 16.	 	We	have	certain	contingent	liabilities	as	given	
in	the	financial	statements,	which	if	they	
materialize,	may	adversely	affect	our	results	of	
operations,	financial	condition	and	cash	flows.

	 17.	 	Non-compliance	with,	and	changes	in,	
environmental,	health	and	safety	laws	
and	regulations	could	adversely	affect	the	
development	of	the	Portfolio.	Our	business	
and	operations	are	subject	to	compliance	
with	various	laws,	and	any	change	in	law	or	
non-compliance	may	adversely	affect	our	
business	and	results	of	operations.	In	addition	
to	compliance	with	the	REIT	Regulations,	we	
are	also	subject	to	compliance	with	applicable	
foreign	exchange	regulations	due	to	the	
Sponsor	and	Manager	not	being	Indian	owned	
and	controlled.	Any	change	in	such	laws	or	
non-compliance	or	inability	to	obtain,	maintain	
or	renew	required	regulatory	approvals	and	
permits	in	a	timely	manner	may	adversely	affect	
our	business,	financial	condition	and	results	of	
operations.

	 18.	 	Candor	TechSpace	N1	is	located	on	land	leased	
from	NOIDA	and	is	required	to	comply	with	
the	terms	and	conditions	provided	in	the	lease	
deeds,	failing	which	NOIDA	may	terminate	
the	lease	or	take	over	the	premises.	Also,	the	
Manager	may	not	be	able	to	renew	the	lease	
with	NOIDA	upon	its	expiry	or	premature	
termination.

	 19.	 	Majority	of	the	assets	in	the	Portfolio	are	
located	on	land	notified	as	SEZs	and	a	few	are	
registered	as	private	IT	Parks	and	the	relevant	
Asset	SPVs	are	required	to	comply	with	the	SEZ	
Act	and	the	rules	made	thereunder	along	with	
their	respective	conditions	of	registration	as	
private	IT	Parks.

	 20.	 	The	title	and	development	rights	or	other	
interests	over	land	on	which	the	Portfolio	are	
located	may	be	subject	to	legal	uncertainties	
and	defects	which	may	have	an	adverse	effect	
on	our	ability	to	own	the	assets	and	result	in	
us	incurring	costs	to	remedy	and	cure	such	
defects.

	 21.	 	The	Manager	may	not	be	able	to	control	our	
operating	costs,	or	the	direct	expenses	may	
remain	constant	or	increase,	even	if	income	
from	the	Portfolio	decreases,	resulting	in	an	
adverse	effect	on	our	business	and	results	of	
operation.

	 22.	 	The	Manager	and	CIOP	utilize	the	services	
of	certain	third	party	operators	to	manage	
and	operate	the	Portfolio.	Any	deficiency	or	
interruption	in	their	services	may	adversely	
affect	our	business.

	 23.	 	We	are	exposed	to	a	variety	of	risks	associated	
with	technology,	safety,	security	and	crisis	
management	which	may	disrupt	our	business,	
result	in	losses	or	limit	our	growth.

	 24.	 	We	do	not	own	the	trademark	or	logo	for	
the	“Brookfield	India	Real	Estate	Trust”	or	
“Brookfield	India	REIT”	and	hence	our	inability	to	
use	or	protect	these	intellectual	property	rights	
may	have	an	adverse	effect	on	our	business	and	
results	of	operations.

	 25.	 	There	are	outstanding	litigation	proceedings	
involving	our	Asset	SPVs,	which	may	adversely	
affect	our	financial	condition.

	 26.	 	The	Manager	may	not	be	able	to	maintain	
adequate	insurance	to	cover	all	losses	that	we	
may	incur.

	 27.	 	Lease	agreements	with	some	of	the	tenants	in	
the	Portfolio	may	not	be	adequately	stamped	
or	registered,	and	consequently,	the	Manager	
may	be	unable	to	successfully	litigate	over	
such	deeds	in	the	future	and	penalties	may	be	
imposed	on	us.

	 28.	 	If	the	Manager	is	unable	to	maintain	
relationships	with	other	stakeholders	in	the	
Portfolio,	our	results	of	operation	and	financial	
condition	may	be	adversely	affected.

	 29.	 	Land	is	subject	to	compulsory	acquisition	by	the	
Government	and	compensation	in	lieu	of	such	
acquisition	may	be	inadequate.

  Risks Related to the Relationships with the 
Sponsor and the Manager

	 30.	 	The	Sponsor	may	cease	to	act	as	our	sponsor	in	
the	future.

	 31.	 	We	and	parties	associated	with	us	are	required	
to	adhere	to	the	eligibility	conditions	specified	
under	Regulation	4	of	the	REIT	Regulations	
as	well	as	the	certificate	of	registration	on	an	

ongoing	basis.	We	may	not	be	able	to	ensure	
such	ongoing	compliance	by	the	Sponsor,	the	
Manager	and	the	Trustee,	which	could	result	in	
the	cancellation	of	our	registration.

	 32.	 	The	Sponsor	and	Sponsor	Group	will	be	able	to	
exercise	significant	influence	over	certain	of	our	
activities	and	the	interests	of	the	Sponsor	and	
Sponsor	Group	may	conflict	with	the	interests	of	
other	Unitholders.

	 33.	 	Conflicts	of	interest	may	arise	out	of	common	
business	objectives	shared	by	the	Manager,	
the	Sponsor,	the	Sponsor	Group	and	us.	The	
Manager	also	provides	property	management	
services	to	other	assets	held	by	Brookfield,	
which	are	of	a	similar	type	as	those	held	by	
the	Asset	SPVs.	Further,	we	may	be	subject	to	
potential	conflicts	of	interest	arising	out	of	our	
relationship	with	the	Sponsor,	Sponsor	Group	
and	their	affiliates	and	the	Manager,	and	may	
enter	into	transactions	with	related	parties	
in	the	future	and	the	Manager	cannot	assure	
you	that	such	potential	conflicts	of	interest	will	
always	be	resolved	in	favour	of	Brookfield	India	
REIT	and	the	Unitholders.

	 34.	 	We	depend	on	the	Manager	and	its	personnel	
for	our	success	and	to	manage	our	business	and	
assets.	Any	failure	by	the	Manager	to	perform	
satisfactorily	could	adversely	affect	our	results	
of	operations	and	financial	condition.	Further,	
we	may	not	find	a	suitable	replacement	for	
the	Manager	if	the	Investment	Management	
Agreement	is	terminated	or	if	key	personnel	
cease	to	be	employed	by	the	Manager	or	
otherwise	become	unavailable.

 Risks Related to India
	 35.	 	Any	downgrading	of	India’s	sovereign	debt	rating	

by	a	domestic	or	international	rating	agency	
could	adversely	affect	our	ability	to	obtain	
financing	and,	in	turn,	adversely	affect	our	
business.

	 36.	 	The	reporting	requirements	and	other	
obligations	of	real	estate	investment	trusts	
post-listing	are	still	evolving.	Accordingly,	the	
level	of	ongoing	disclosures	made	to	and	the	
protections	granted	to	the	Unitholders	may	be	
more	limited	than	those	made	to	or	available	to	
the	shareholders	of	a	company	that	has	listed	its	
equity	shares	upon	a	recognized	stock	exchange	
in	India.

	 37.	 	Given	the	requirements	under	the	REIT	
Regulations,	it	may	be	difficult	for	public	
Unitholders	to	remove	the	Trustee	as	the	
Sponsor	Group	holds	a	majority	of	the	Units.

	 38.	 	Investors	may	be	subject	to	Indian	taxes	arising	
out	of	capital	gains	on	the	sale	of	Units.

	 39.	 	Unitholders	will	not	have	the	right	to	redeem	
their	Units.

	 40.	 	The	Units	may	also	experience	price	and	volume	
fluctuations.

	 41.	 	NAV	per	Unit	may	be	diluted	if	further	issues	are	
priced	below	the	current	NAV	per	Unit.

	 42.	 	Any	future	issuance	of	Units	by	us	or	sales	of	
Units	by	the	Sponsor	Group	or	any	of	the	other	
significant	Unitholders	may	adversely	affect	the	
trading	price	of	the	Units.

	 43.	 	Our	rights	and	the	rights	of	our	Unitholders	
to	recover	claims	against	the	Manager	or	the	
Trustee	are	limited.

16.  INFORMATION OF THE CONTACT PERSON 
OF BROOKFIELD INDIA REIT

	 Ms.	Ruhi	Goswami
	 	Vice	President	and	General	Counsel	at	the	Manager	

and	Compliance	Officer	of	Brookfield	India	REIT

	 Email	Id:	reit.compliance@brookfield.com	

mailto:reit.compliance@brookfield.com
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To The Board of Directors of
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
(the “Investment Manager”)
(Acting in capacity as the Investment Manager of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust)

IntroductIon

1.  We have reviewed the accompanying unaudited 
Condensed Standalone Interim Financial Statements 
of BrooKFIELd IndIA rEAL EStAtE truSt  
(“the rEIt”), which comprise the unaudited 
Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet as at 
September 30, 2021, the unaudited Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the unaudited 
Condensed Standalone Statement of Cash flow for 
the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2021, 
the unaudited Condensed Standalone Statement 
of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for the half year 
ended September 30, 2021, the unaudited Statement 
of Net Assets at Fair Value as at September 30, 2021, 
the unaudited Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value for the half year ended September 30, 2021 
and the unaudited Statement of Net Distributable 
Cash Flow for the quarter and half year ended 
September 30, 2021 as an additional disclosure in 
accordance with Paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the 
Securities Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Circular 
No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 
along with summary of the significant accounting 
policies and select explanatory notes (together 
hereinafter referred as the “Condensed Standalone 
Interim Financial Statements”).

2.  The Condensed Standalone Interim Financial 
Statements, which is the responsibility of the 
Investment Manager and approved by the Board 
of Directors of the Investment Manager, have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014 as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 
29, 2016 (“REIT Regulations”); Indian Accounting 
Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“Ind AS 
34”), prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent 
with the REIT Regulations. Our responsibility is to 

express a conclusion on the Condensed Standalone 
Interim Financial Statements based on our review.

Scope of review
3.  We conducted our review of the Condensed 

Standalone Interim Financial Statements in 
accordance with the Standard on Review 
Engagements (SRE) 2410 ‘Review of Interim  
Financial Information Performed by the 
Independent Auditor of the Entity’, issued by the 
Institute of Chartered Accountants of India (ICAI). 
A review of interim financial information consists 
of making inquiries, primarily of the Investment 
Manager’s personnel responsible for financial and 
accounting matters, and applying analytical and 
other review procedures. A review is substantially 
less in scope than an audit conducted in accordance 
with Standards on Auditing issued by ICAI and 
consequently does not enable us to obtain 
assurance that we would become aware of all 
significant matters that might be identified in  
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an  
audit opinion.

conclusion
4.  Based on our review, nothing has come to our 

attention that causes us to believe that the 
Condensed Standalone Interim Financial Statements 
has not been prepared in accordance with the REIT 
Regulations, Ind AS 34, prescribed under Rule 2(1)
(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 (as amended) and other accounting 
principles generally accepted in India, to the extent 
not inconsistent with the REIT Regulations.

Emphasis of matter
5.  We draw attention to Note 10(a)(i) which describe 

the presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” to 
comply with REIT Regulations. Our conclusion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

            (Firm’s Reg. No. 015125N)

Anand Subramanian
Partner

Place: Bengaluru  (Membership No. 110815)
Date: November 09, 2021    (UDIN: 21110815AAAAEC3611)

Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Review of Condensed Standalone Interim Financial Statements 

Financial
Statements
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Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Particulars note
As at 

September 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Audited)
ASSEtS
non-current assets
Financial assets
- Investments 3  45,044.88  45,044.88 
- Loans 4  35,386.00  36,100.00 
Non-current tax assets (net) 5  16.22  16.92 
Other non-current assets 6  30.00  30.00 
total non-current assets  80,477.10  81,191.80 

current assets
Financial assets
- Cash and cash equivalents 7  2,395.63  1,618.29 
- Other financial assets 8  374.09  931.05 
Other current assets 9  5.38  -   
total current assets  2,775.10  2,549.34 
totAL ASSEtS  83,252.20  83,741.14 

EQuItY And LIABILItIES
Equity 
Unit Capital 10  81,464.79  81,774.78 
Other equity 11  1,484.77  626.23 
total equity  82,949.56  82,401.01 

LIABILItIES
current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Trade payables 12
   total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises  1.56  -   
    total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro enterprises 

and small enterprises   29.94  21.79 

- Other financial liabilities 13  267.96  1,248.33 
Other current liabilities 14  3.18  70.01 
total current liabilities  302.64  1,340.13 
total liabilities  302.64  1,340.13 
totAL EQuItY And LIABILItIES  83,252.20  83,741.14 

Significant accounting policies 2

Condensed Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Particulars note

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021
 (unaudited) 

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020
 (unaudited)* 

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021

(unaudited) 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(Audited)* 

Income and gains
Dividend  30.00  150.00  -    180.00  -    -   
Interest 15  1,154.83  1,143.04  -    2,297.87  722.40  722.40 
total income  1,184.83  1,293.04  -    2,477.87  722.40  722.40 
Expenses and losses
Valuation Expenses  2.99  0.94  -    3.93  5.78  5.78 
Audit Fees  2.36  3.54  -    5.90  14.16  14.16 
Investment management fees  24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -    -   
Trustee fees  0.74  0.74  0.65  1.48  1.56  2.21 
Legal and professional expense  4.35  2.82  1.52  7.17  16.27  17.79 
Other expenses 16  4.86  25.55  0.03  30.41  56.20  56.23 
total expenses  40.22  54.58  2.20  94.80  93.97  96.17 
Profit/(Loss) before Income tax  1,144.61  1,238.46  (2.20)  2,383.07  628.43  626.23 
tax expense: 17
Current tax  4.12  0.65  -    4.77  -    -   
Deferred tax  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Tax expense for the quarter/period  4.12  0.65  -    4.77  -    -   
Profit/(Loss) for the quarter/period 
after income tax

 1,140.49  1,237.81  (2.20)  2,378.30  628.43  626.23 

other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss
-     Remeasurement of defined benefit 

obligations
 -      -    -    -      -      -   

-     Income tax related to items that will 
not be reclassified to profit or loss

 -      -    -    -      -      -   

other comprehensive income for 
the quarter/period, net of tax

 -      -    -    -      -      -   

Total comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the quarter/period

 1,140.49  1,237.81  (2.20)  2,378.30  628.43  626.23 

Earnings per unit 22
Basic  3.77  4.09  Not Applicable  7.85  7.46  10.54 
Diluted  3.77  4.09  Not Applicable  7.85  7.46  10.54 

Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.

* Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the information in 
Condensed Statement of Profit and Loss with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2020 
and year ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021
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Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021
 (unaudited) 

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020
 (unaudited)* 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021

(unaudited) 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(Audited)* 

Cash flows from operating activities :
Profit/(Loss) before tax  1,144.61  1,238.46  (2.20)  2,383.07  628.43  626.23 
Adjustments for :  -   
Dividend income  (30.00)  (150.00)  -    (180.00)  -    -   
Interest income on loans to subsidiaries  (1,145.21)  (1,141.51)  -    (2,286.72)  (722.40)  (722.40)
Interest income on fixed deposits  (9.62)  (1.53)  -    (11.15)  -    -   
Operating cash flows before working 
capital changes 

 (40.22)  (54.58)  (2.20)  (94.80)  (93.97)  (96.17)

Movements in working capital: 
(Increase) in other current and non current 
assets

 (0.82)  (4.56)  -    (5.38)  (30.00)  (30.00)

Increase in current financial liabilities - trade 
payables

 5.52  4.19  0.65  9.71  21.14  21.79 

(Decrease)/Increase in current and non 
current financial liabilities - others

 (7.57)  (71.63)  1.55  (79.20)  81.38  82.93 

(Decrease)/Increase in other current and non 
current liabilities

 0.63  (5.34)  -    (4.71)  7.88  7.88 

cash used in operating activities  (42.46)  (131.92)  -    (174.38)  (13.57)  (13.57)
Income taxes paid  (3.83)  (0.24)  -    (4.07)  -    -   
net cash used in operating activities (A)  (46.29)  (132.16)  -    (178.45)  (13.57)  (13.57)

Cash flows from investing activities :
Loan to subsidiaries  (188.00)  -    -    (188.00)  (36,100.00)  (36,100.00)
Loan repaid by subsidiaries  605.00  297.00  -    902.00  -    -   
Interest received on fixed deposits  9.40  1.14  -    10.54  -    -   
Interest received on investment in 
debentures

 -    387.08  -    387.08  -    -   

Interest received on loan to subsidiaries  1,315.26  1,141.95  -    2,457.21  -    -   
Dividend received  30.00  150.00  -    180.00  -    -   
Net cash generated from/(used in) 
investing activities (B) 

 1,771.66  1,977.17  -    3,748.83  (36,100.00)  (36,100.00)

Condensed Standalone Statement of Cash Flows
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Condensed Standalone Statement of Cash Flows
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

1.  The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard -7 : 
“Statement on Cash Flows”.    

2.  The Trust has issued Units in exchange for investments in SPVs during the period ended March 31, 2021. The same has not been 
reflected in Condensed Standalone Statement of Cash Flows since these were non-cash transactions.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements. 

* Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the information in 
Condensed statement of cash flows with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2020 and 
year ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021
 (unaudited) 

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020
 (unaudited)* 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021

(unaudited) 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(Audited)* 

Cash flows from financing  activities:
Proceeds from issue of units   -    -    -    -    38,000.00  38,000.00 
Expense incurred towards initial public 
offerings 

 (18.08)  (958.15)  -    (976.23)  (268.14)  (268.14)

Distribution to unitholders  (1,816.81)  -    -    (1,816.81)  -    -   
Net cash (used in)/generated from 
financing activities (C) 

 (1,834.89)  (958.15)  -    (2,793.04)  37,731.86  37,731.86 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and  
cash equivalents (A+B+c) 

 (109.52)  886.86  -    777.34  1,618.29  1,618.29 

cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the quarter/period 

 2,505.15  1,618.29  -    1,618.29  -    -   

cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the quarter/period (refer note 7)

 2,395.63  2,505.15  -    2,395.63  1,618.29  1,618.29 

components of cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the quarter/period
Balances with banks 
  -  in current account  24.66  31.93  -    24.66  185.42  185.42 
  -  in escrow account  150.97  393.22  -    150.97  1,432.87  1,432.87 
  -  in deposit account  2,220.00  2,080.00  -    2,220.00  -   -   

 2,395.63  2,505.15  -    2,395.63  1,618.29  1,618.29 
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Condensed Standalone Statement of 
Changes in Unitholder’s Equity 
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(A)  unIt cAPItAL

unit in nos. Amount

Balance as on July 17, 2020*  -    -   
Add: Units issued (refer note 10)  302,801,601  83,270.44 
Less: Issue expenses  -    (1,495.66)
Balance as at March 31, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Balance as on April 1, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Less: Issue expenses  -    (12.94)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021#  (297.05)
Balance as at September 30, 2021  302,801,601  81,464.79 

(B)  otHEr EQuItY 

Particulars  retained 
earnings 

 Balance at July 17, 2020*  -   
 Profit for the period ended March 31, 2021  626.23 
 Other comprehensive income for the period ended March 31, 2021   -   
Balance as at March 31, 2021  626.23 
Balance as on April 1, 2021  626.23 
Add: Profit for the half year ended September 30, 2021  2,378.30 
Add: Other comprehensive income for the half year ended September 30, 2021  -   
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021#  (1,519.76)
Balance as at September 30, 2021  1,484.77 

# The distributions made by Trust to its Unitholders are based on the Net Distributable Cash flows (NDCF) of Brookfield India REIT 
under the REIT Regulations. (Refer foot note 2 of statement of Net Distributable Cash Flows)

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.

* Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the 
information in Condensed Standalone Statement of Changes in Unitholder’s Equity with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for 
period ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.  

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

S. 
no. Particulars

As at September 30, 2021 As at March 31, 2021
Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

A Assets  83,252.20 98,283.17  83,741.14  97,204.16 
B Liabilities  (302.64)  (302.64)  (1,340.13)  (1,340.13)
C net Assets (A-B)  82,949.56 97,980.53  82,401.01  95,864.03 
D No. of units  302,801,601  302,801,601  302,801,601  302,801,601 
E NAV per unit (C/D)  273.94 323.58  272.13  316.59 

1. Measurement of fair values 
  The fair value of investments in SPVs is primarily determined basis the fair value of the underlying investment 

property, along with fair value of other assets and liabilities of the respective SPV’s as at September 30, 2021. 
The fair value of investment properties and investment property under development has been determined by 
independent external property valuer, having appropriately recognised professional qualifications and recent 
experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.

 Valuation technique
  The fair value measurement of the investment properties and investment property under development has been 

categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

  The valuers have followed a Discounted Cash Flow method. The discounted cash flow method considers the present 
value of net cash flows to be generated from the respective properties, taking into account the expected rental 
growth rate, vacancy period, occupancy rate, average sq. ft. rent and lease incentive costs. The expected net cash 
flows are discounted using the risk adjusted discount rates. Among other factors, the discount rate estimation 
considers the quality of a building and its location (prime vs secondary), tenant credit quality, lease terms and 
investors expected return.

2. Break up of net asset value 
Particulars As at  

September 30, 2021
As at  

March 31, 2021
Fair value of investments in SPVs 95,835.33  95,538.95 
Add: Other assets 2,447.84  1,665.21 
Less: Liabilities  (302.64)  (1,340.13)
net Assets 97,980.53  95,864.03 

3.  The Trust holds investment in SPVs which in turn hold the properties. Hence, the breakup of property wise fair 
values has been disclosed in the Consolidated financial statements.
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Statement of Total Return at Fair Value
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

S. 
no. Particulars

For the  
half year ended  

September 30, 2021 

From  
July 17, 2020 to  
March 31, 2021

A Total comprehensive Income  2,378.30  626.23 
B Add: Changes in fair value not recognised in the other comprehensive Income 1,567.94  148.34 
C (A+B) total return 3,946.24  774.57 

The REIT acquired investments in SPVs on February 8, 2021 as fully described in Note 1. The changes in fair value for the 
half year ended September 30, 2021 has been computed based on the changes in fair value of the underlying assets and 
liabilities of SPVs (including investment properties and investment property under development) as at March 31, 2021 
and September 30, 2021 after adjusting changes in book value of assets and liabilities between these dates. The fair 
values of the investment properties and investment property under development as at March 31, 2021 and September 
30, 2021 are solely based on the valuation report of the independent valuer appointed under the REIT Regulations.

Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) 
pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to 
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Sr.  
no. Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 

September 30, 2021 

For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 2021 
1 Cash flows received from Asset SPVs, CIOP/Operating Service 

Provider and any investment entity in the form of:
 Interest (net of applicable taxes, if any)  1,315.26  1,529.03  2,844.29 
 Dividends (net of applicable taxes, if any)  30.00  150.00  180.00 
  Repayment of Shareholder Debt (or debentures and other 
similar instruments)

 605.00  297.00  902.00 

  Proceeds from buy-backs/capital reduction/redemptions  
(net of applicable taxes)

 -    -    -   

2 Add: Proceeds from sale, (transfer or liquidation or redemption 
or otherwise realization) of investments (including cash
equivalents), assets or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs, or any 
form of fund raise at Brookfield REIT level, adjusted for
the following:
 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -   
  Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -   
 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -   
  Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per  
REIT Regulations

 -    -    -   

  Investment in shares or debentures or shareholder debt of 
Asset SPVs and/or CIOP/Operating Service Provider or other 
similar investments

 -    -    -   

  Lending to Assets SPVs and/or CIOP/Operating Service 
Provider

 -    -    -   

3 Add: Proceeds from sale (transfer or liquidation or 
redemption or otherwise realization) of investments, assets 
or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs not distributed pursuant 
to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT Regulations, if such 
proceeds are not intended to be invested subsequently.

 -    -    -   

4 Add: Any other income received at the Brookfield REIT level 
and not captured herein, or refund/waiver/cessation of any 
expenses/liability.

 9.40  1.14  10.54 

5 Less: Any other expense (whether in the nature of revenue or 
capital expenditure) or any liability or other payouts required 
at the Brookfield REIT level, and not captured herein.

 (40.26)  (32.34)  (72.60)

6 Less: Any payment of fees, including but not limited to:    

 Trustee fees  (2.95)  (2.21)  (5.16)
 REIT Management Fees  (22.95)  -    (22.95)
 Valuer fees  (0.98)  (4.84)  (5.82)
 Legal and professional fees  (10.25)  (1.72) (11.97)
 Trademark license fees  -    -    -   
 Secondment fees  -    -    -   

7 Add: Cash flow received from Asset SPV and investment entity, 
if any including to the extent not covered above:
 repayment of the debt in case of investments by way of debt  -    -    -   
 proceeds from buy-backs/capital reduction  -    -    -   
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Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) 
pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to 
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Sr.  
no. Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 

September 30, 2021 

For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 2021 
8 Add/(Less): Debt drawdown/(payment) of interest and 

repayment on external debt (including any loans, bonds, 
debentures or other form of debt funding) at the Brookfield 
REIT level.

 -    -    -   

9 Less: Income tax and other taxes (if applicable) at the 
Condensed Standalone Brookfield REIT level (net of any tax 
refunds).

 (3.83)  (0.24)  (4.07)

10 Add/(Less): Cash inflows and outflows in relation to any real 
estate properties held directly by the Brookfield REIT, to the 
extent not covered above (if any).

 -    -    -   

11 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to net 
changes in security deposits, working capital, etc.

 68.83  8.95  77.78 

 ndcF  1,947.27  1,944.77  3,892.04 

The difference between SPV level NDCF and REIT level NDCF is primarily on account of utilization of opening cash at the 
SPV level.

notes:

1  The Board of Directors of the Manager to the Trust, in their meeting held on November 09, 2021, have declared distribution to 
Unitholders of `6.00 per unit which aggregates to `1,816.81 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2021. The distributions of 
`6.00 per unit comprises `3.88 per unit in the form of interest payment on shareholder loan, `0.09 per unit in the form of dividend, 
`2.00 per unit in the form of repayment of SPV debt and the balance `0.03 per unit in the form of interest on fixed deposit.

2  The Board of Directors of the Manager to the Trust, in their meeting held on August 10, 2021, had approved distribution to 
Unitholders of `6.00 per unit which aggregated to `1,816.81 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2021. The distributions of 
`6.00 per unit comprised of 4̀.57 per unit in the form of interest payment on shareholder loan and CCD’s, `0.45 per unit in the 
form of dividend, `0.98 per unit in the form of repayment of SPV debt and the balance `0.003 per unit in the form of interest on 
fixed deposit.

3  Statement of Net Distributable cash flows has not been disclosed for all the comparative periods except for quarter ending  
June 30, 2021, since the first distribution of the REIT as stated in Final Offer Document was made upon completion of the first full 
quarter ie. quarter ended June 30, 2021 after the listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges. 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 29 form an integral part of these Condensed Standalone financial statements.
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Alok Aggarwal
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Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
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DIN No. 00211963 
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1. truSt InForMAtIon

  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited (the 
‘Settlor’) has set up the Brookfield India Real Estate 
Trust (Brookfield India REIT/Trust) on  July 17, 2020 
as an irrevocable trust, pursuant to the Trust Deed, 
under the provisions of the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 
and the Trust has been registered with SEBI as a 
Real Estate Investment Trust on September 14, 2020 
under Regulation 6 of the Securities and Exchange 
Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014. The Trustee to Brookfield India 
Real Estate Trust is Axis Trustee Services Limited 
(the ‘Trustee’) and the Manager for Brookfield India 
Real Estate Trust is Brookprop Management Services 
Private Limited (the ‘Manager’).

  The objectives of Brookfield India REIT is to 
undertake activities in accordance with the 
provisions of the SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust 
Deed. The principal activity of Brookfield India REIT is 
to own and invest in rent or income generating real 

estate and related assets in India with the objective 
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to 
Unitholders.

  Brookfield India REIT acquired the following Special 
Purpose Vehicles (‘SPVs’) by acquiring all the equity 
interest held by the Sponsor and certain members of 
Sponsor Group (refer note 25) on February 8, 2021. 
In exchange for these equity interests, the above 
shareholders have been allotted 164,619,801 Units of 
Brookfield India REIT valued at `275/- each.

  Brookfield India REIT went public as per its plan 
for Initial Public Offer of Units after obtaining the 
required approvals from the relevant authorities. The 
Units were allotted to the successful applicants on 
February 8, 2021 and February 11, 2021. 

  All these Units were subsequently listed on the 
National Stock Exchange (NSE) and Bombay Stock 
Exchange (BSE) on February 16, 2021.

  The brief activities and shareholding pattern of the SPVs are provided below:

name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
February 8, 2021 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
February 8, 2021 (in percentage)

Shantiniketan 
Properties Private 
Limited (‘SPPL Noida’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property in 
India, primarily in IT/ITeS sector in 
Sector 62, Noida, Uttar Pradesh.

BSREP India Office Holdings  
Pte. Ltd.: 100% 
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 0.00%  
(10 Shares)

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor Kolkata One 
Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited 
(‘Candor Kolkata’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in New Town, 
Rajarhat, Kolkata and Sector 21, 
Dundahera Gurugram.

BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.97% 
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.03%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares)  
(as nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor India Office 
Parks Private Limited 
(‘CIOP’)

Providing management related 
service including facilities 
management service and property 
management services.

BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 99.99%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P. : 0.01%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited : 0.00% 
(1 shares) (as nominee of Brookfield 
India REIT)

Festus Properties 
Private Limited 
(‘Festus’)

Developing and leasing of 
commercial real estate property 
in India, primarily in IT/ITeS Special 
Economic Zone (SEZ) in Powai, 
Mumbai.

Kairos Property Managers Pvt. 
Ltd.:10.76%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 
Ltd.:89.24

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares)  
(as nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

2.   BASIS oF PrEPArAtIon And SIGnIFIcAnt 
AccountInG PoLIcIES

2.1   Basis of preparation of condensed 
Standalone financial statements

  The Interim Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements (Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements) of Brookfield India REIT comprises 
the Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet as at 

September 30, 2021; the Condensed Standalone 
Statement of Profit and Loss (including other 
comprehensive income) and the Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Cash Flows for the 
quarter and half year ended September 30, 
2021, the Condensed Standalone Statement of 
Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for the half year 
ended September 30, 2021, the Statement of Net 
Assets at Fair Value as at September 30, 2021, the 
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Statement of Total Returns at Fair Value for the half 
year ended September 30, 2021, the Statement 
of Net Distributable Cash Flow for the quarter 
and half year ended September 30, 2021 and a 
summary of significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory information and other additional 
financial disclosures as required under the SEBI (Real 
Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014. The 
Condensed Standalone Financial Statements were 
authorized for issue in accordance with resolutions 
passed by the Board of Directors of the Manager 
on behalf of the Brookfield India REIT on November 
09, 2021. The Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements have been prepared in accordance with 
the requirements of SEBI (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended from time 
to time read with the SEBI circular number CIR/
IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 (“REIT 
Regulations”); Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 34 
“Interim Financial Reporting”, as defined in Rule 2(1)
(a) of the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) 
Rules, 2015 (‘Ind AS’) to the extent not inconsistent 
with the REIT Regulations (refer note 10(a)(i) on 
presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead of 
compound instruments under Ind AS 32 – Financial 
Instruments: Presentation), read with relevant rules 
issued thereunder and other accounting principles 
generally accepted in India.

  Accordingly, these interim Condensed Standalone 
Financial Statements do not include all the 
information required for a complete set of financial 
statements. These interim Condensed Standalone 
Financial Statements should be read in conjunction 
with the standalone financial statements and related 
notes included in the Trust’s standalone financial 
statements under IND AS for the period ended 
March 31, 2021. Accounting policies have been 
consistently applied except where a newly issued 
accounting standard is initially adopted or a revision 
to an existing accounting standard requires a change 
in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

  The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements are 
presented in Indian Rupees in Millions, except when 
otherwise indicated.

2.2 Significant accounting policies
a) Functional and presentation currency
  The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements are 

presented in Indian rupees, which is Brookfield India 
REIT’s functional currency and the currency of the

  primary economic environment in which Brookfield 
India REIT operates. All financial information 
presented in Indian rupees has been rounded off to 
nearest million except unit and per unit data.

b) Basis of measurement 
  The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 

have been prepared on historical cost basis except 
for certain financial instruments measured at 
fair value at the end of each reporting period as 
explained in the accounting policies below.

  The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

c) use of judgments and estimates 
  The preparation of Condensed Standalone Financial 

Statements in conformity with generally accepted 
accounting principles in India (Ind AS), to the extent 
not inconsistent with the REIT regulations, requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions 
that affect the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, 
income and expenses. Actual results could differ 
from those estimates.

  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on a periodic basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates 
are revised and in any future periods affected.

  Information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Financial Statements is included in the 
following notes:

 (i)  Presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations instead of 
compound instrument (Note 10)

 (ii)  Estimation of uncertainties relating to the global 
health pandemic from Covid-19 (Note 23)

 (iii)  Impairment of investments and loans in 
subsidiaries

 (iv) Fair valuation and disclosures

   SEBI Circulars issued under the REIT Regulations 
require disclosures relating to net assets at fair 
value and total returns at fair value.

d) Current versus non-current classification 
  Brookfield India REIT presents assets and liabilities in 

the Condensed Standalone Balance Sheet based on 
current/non-current classification:

  An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

   it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for 
sale or consumption in, the normal operating 
cycle.

   it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

   it is expected to be realized within 12 months 
after the reporting date; or

   it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to 
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

  Brookfield India REIT classifies all other assets as 
non-current.

  A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

   it is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle of Brookfield India REIT;

   it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

   it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting date; or

   the Brookfield India REIT does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option 
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 
classification. 

  Brookfield India REIT classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current.

  Current assets/liabilities include current portion of 
non-current financial assets/liabilities respectively. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current assets and liabilities. 

e) Fair value measurement 
  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, Brookfield India REIT takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
and how market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. 

  Inputs to fair value measurement techniques are 
disaggregated into three hierarchical levels, which 
are directly based on the degree to which inputs to 
fair value measurement techniques are observable 
by market participants: 

   Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date.

   Level 2: Inputs (other than quoted prices 
included in Level 1) are either directly or 
indirectly observable for the asset or liability 
through correlation with market data at the 
measurement date and for the duration of the 
asset’s or liability’s anticipated life. 

   Level 3: Inputs are unobservable and reflect 
management’s best estimate of what market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. Consideration 
is given to the risk inherent in the valuation 
technique and the risk inherent in the inputs in 
determining the estimate.

  Fair value measurements are adopted by Brookfield 
India REIT to calculate the carrying amounts of 
various assets and liabilities. 

f) Impairment of non-financial assets 
  Brookfield India REIT assesses, at each reporting 

date, whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset other than deferred tax assets 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Brookfield India REIT estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested annually  
for impairment.
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  An impairment loss is recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment loss recognized in respect of a CGU is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce 
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU 
on a pro rata basis. A CGU is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that are largely 
independent from other assets and groups. 

  Impairment losses are recognized in the Condensed 
Standalone Statement of Profit and Loss, unless it 
reverses previous revaluation credited to equity, in 
which case it is charged to equity.

  Goodwill (if any) arising from a business combination 
is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. In estimating value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

  Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect 
of other assets, such a reversal is made only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

g) Investment in SPV’s
  The Trust has elected to recognize its investments in 

SPVs at cost in accordance with the option available 
in Ind AS 27, ‘Separate Financial Statements.’

 The details of such investment are given in note 3.

  Assets representing investments in SPVs are 
reviewed for impairment, whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate that carrying 
amount may not be recoverable, such circumstances 
include, though are not limited to, significant 
or sustained decline in revenues or earnings 
and material adverse changes in the economic 
environment.

h) Foreign currency transactions 
  Items included in the financial statements of the 

Brookfield India REIT are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Brookfield India REIT operates (‘the 
functional currency’). The financial statements 
are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is the 
Brookfield India REIT functional and presentation 
currency. 

  Foreign currency transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary 
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at reporting period end exchange rates 
are generally recognized in the Statement of profit 
and loss. 

i)  Errors, estimates and change in accounting 
policy

  The Brookfield India REIT revises its accounting 
policies if the change is required due to a change in 
Ind AS or if the change will provide more relevant and 
reliable information to the users of the Condensed 
Standalone Financial Statements. Changes in 
accounting policies are applied retrospectively, 
wherever applicable.

  A change in an accounting estimate that results 
in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised 
assets or liabilities or to profit or loss is applied 

prospectively in the period(s) of change. Discovery of 
errors results in revisions retrospectively by restating 
the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and 
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error 
is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest 
period presented are also restated. 

j) Financial instruments 
  A financial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 (i)  Financial Assets - recognition 
   All financial assets are recognized initially at fair 

value (except for trade receivables which are 
initially measured at transaction price) plus, in 
the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset.  

	 	 Classification	and	subsequent	measurement
   For purposes of subsequent measurement, 

financial assets are classified in four categories:

    Debt	instruments	at	amortized	cost
   A ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the 

amortized cost if both the following conditions 
are met:

  a)   The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for 
collecting contractual cash flows, and

  b)   Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on 
the principal amount outstanding. 

   After initial measurement, such financial assets 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest 
income in the statement of profit and loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognized in 
the statement of profit and loss. 

    Debt	instruments	at	fair	value	through	
other	comprehensive	income	(FVOCI)

   A ‘debt instrument’ is classified as at the FVOCI if 
both of the following criteria are met:

  a)   The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, 
and

  b)   The asset’s contractual cash flows 
represent SPPI.

   Debt instruments included within the FVOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at 
each reporting date at fair value. Fair value 
movements are recognized in the other 
comprehensive income (OCI). However, interest 
income, impairment losses and reversals and 
foreign exchange gain or loss is recognized in 
statement of profit and loss. On derecognition of 
the asset, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognized in OCI is reclassified from the 
equity to statement of profit and loss. Interest 
earned whilst holding FVOCI debt instrument 
is reported as interest income using the EIR 
method.  

  	 	Debt	instruments	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss	(FVTPL)

   FVTPL is a residual category for debt 
instruments. Any debt instrument, which does 
not meet the criteria for categorization as at 
amortized cost or as FVOCI, is classified as at 
FVTPL.

   In addition, the Brookfield India REIT may elect 
to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise 
meets amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, as at 
FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if 
doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 
‘accounting mismatch’). The Brookfield India REIT 
has not designated any debt instrument as at 
FVTPL.

   Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit or loss.
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    Equity	instruments	measured	at	fair	value	
through	other	comprehensive	income	
(FVOCI)

   All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 
are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at 
FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the 
Brookfield India REIT may make an irrevocable 
election to present in other comprehensive 
income subsequent changes in the fair value. 
The Brookfield India REIT makes such election 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

   If the Brookfield India REIT decides to classify an 
equity instrument as at FVOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to statement of profit 
and loss, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Brookfield India REIT may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity.

   Equity instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss. 

 (ii)  Financial Assets - derecognition
   A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized (i.e., removed 
from the Brookfield India REIT balance sheet) 
when:

    The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired, or

    The Brookfield India REIT has transferred its 
rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Brookfield 
India REIT has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Brookfield India REIT has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

 (iii) Impairment of financial assets
   Brookfield India REIT recognizes loss allowance 

using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for 
the financial assets which are not fair valued 
through profit or loss. Loss allowance for 
trade receivables with no significant financing 
component and lease receivables is measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. For all financial 
assets with contractual cash flows other than 
trade receivable and lease receivables, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk from initial recognition in which 
case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The 
amount of ECLs (or reversal) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date, 
is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in 
the Statement of Profit and Loss.

 (iv)   Financial liabilities – recognition and 
Subsequent measurement

   Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value less any 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial measurement, these are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
(‘EIR’) method or at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). 

   Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, Loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 

   The measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as described below:

  	 	Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss

   Financial liabilities at fair value through 
Statement of profit or loss include financial 
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through Statement of profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for 
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Brookfield India REIT that 
are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 
109. Separated embedded derivatives are also 

classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

   Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss.

   Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through Statement of 
profit or loss are designated as such at the initial 
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind 
AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated 
as FVTPL, fair value gains/losses attributable 
to changes in own credit risk are recognized in 
OCI. These gains or losses are not subsequently 
transferred to statement of profit and loss. 
However, the Brookfield India REIT may transfer 
the cumulative gains or losses within equity. All 
other changes in fair value of such liability are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss. The 
Brookfield India REIT has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit or 
loss.

  	 	Financial	liabilities	at	amortized	cost
   Financial liabilities that are not held for trading, 

or designated as at FVTPL, are measured 
subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

   The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized 
cost of a financial liability.

 (v)  Financial liabilities - derecognition
   A financial liability is derecognized when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. 

The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as 
other gains/(losses).

 (vi)  Income/loss recognition
  	 	Interest	income
   Interest income from debt instruments is 

recognized using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset. While calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Brookfield India REIT estimates 
the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) but does not consider the expected 
credit losses.

k) Leases 
  At inception of a contract, the Brookfield India 

REIT assesses whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Brookfield India REIT assesses whether:

   the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a 
physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is 
not identified;

   the Brookfield India REIT has the right to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset throughout the period of use; 
and

   the Brookfield India REIT has the right to direct 
the use of the asset. The Brookfield India REIT 
has this right when it has the decision making 
rights that are most relevant to changing 
how and for what purpose the asset is used. 
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In rare cases where the decision about how 
and for what purpose the asset is used is 
predetermined, the Brookfield India REIT has the 
right to direct the use of the asset if either:

  o  the Brookfield India REIT has the right to 
operate the asset; or

  o  the Brookfield India REIT designed the asset 
in a way that predetermines how and for 
what purpose it will be used.

	 As	a	lessee
  The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a right-

of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.

  The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
re-measurements of the lease liability.

  The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at 
the commencement date, discounted using the 
interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot 
be readily determined, the Brookfield India REIT 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Brookfield 
India REIT uses its incremental borrowing rate as the 
discount rate.

  Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise the following:

   fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments;

   variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

   amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee; and

   the exercise price under a purchase option that 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain to 
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period if the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably 
certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of a lease unless 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain 
not to terminate early.

  The lease liability is measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. It is remeasured 
when there is a change in future lease payments 
arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is 
a change in the Brookfield India REIT’s estimate of 
the amount expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if the Brookfield India REIT 
changes its assessment of whether it will exercise a 
purchase, extension or termination option.

  When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a 
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset, or is recorded in 
profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-
use asset has been reduced to zero.

  The Brookfield India REIT presents right-of-use 
assets that do not meet the definition of investment 
property in ‘property, plant and equipment’ and lease 
liabilities (current and non-current) in the statement 
of financial position.

  The Brookfield India REIT has elected not to 
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for 
short-term leases of machinery that have a lease 
term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value 
assets. The Brookfield India REIT recognizes the 
lease payments associated with these leases as an 
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

	 As	a	Lessor
  The Brookfield India REIT enters into lease 

agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment 
properties.

  Leases for which the Brookfield India REIT is 
a lessor are classified as finance or operating 
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 

lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

  When the Brookfield India REIT is an intermediate 
lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is 
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference 
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

  Rental income from operating leases is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

  Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognized as receivables at the amount of the 
Brookfield India REIT’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Brookfield India REIT’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

  When a contract includes both lease and non-lease 
components, the Brookfield India REIT applies Ind AS 
115 to allocate the consideration under the contract 
to each component.

l) revenue recognition
  Revenue is measured at the fair value of the 

consideration received or receivable. This inter alia 
involves discounting of the consideration due to the 
present value if payment extends beyond normal 
credit terms.

  Revenue is recognised when recovery of the 
consideration is probable and the amount of revenue 
can be measured reliably.

	 Recognition	of	dividend	income,	interest	income
  Dividend income is recognised in profit or loss on 

the date on which the Brookfield India REIT’s right to 
receive payment is established.

  Interest income is recognised using the effective 
interest method. The ‘effective interest rate’ is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the gross carrying amount of the 
financial asset. In calculating interest income, 
the effective interest rate is applied to the gross 

carrying amount of the asset (when the asset is not 
credit impaired). However, for financial assets that 
have become credit-impaired subsequent to initial 
recognition, interest income is calculated by applying 
the effective interest rate to the amortised cost of 
the financial asset. If the asset is no longer credit-
impaired, then the calculation of interest income 
reverts to the gross basis.

m) taxation 
  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 

tax. It is recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in 
other comprehensive income. 

 (i) current tax
   Current tax comprises the expected tax payable 

or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable 
or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax reflects the best estimate 
of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received after considering the uncertainty, if any, 
related to income taxes. It is measured using 
tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

   Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise 
the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously.

 (ii) deferred tax
   Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 

temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the corresponding 
amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is also recognised in respect of carried 
forward tax losses and tax credits. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for:

    Temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the 
time of the transaction;

    Temporary differences related to 
investments in subsidiaries, associates, 
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and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Brookfield India REIT is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

    Taxable temporary differences arising on 
initial recognition of goodwill.

   Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used. The existence of unused tax 
losses is strong evidence that future taxable 
profit may not be available. Therefore, in case 
of a history of recent losses, Brookfield India 
REIT recognises a deferred tax asset only to the 
extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 
differences or there is convincing other evidence 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which such deferred tax asset can be 
realised. Deferred tax assets—unrecognised or 
recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are recognised/reduced to the extent that it 
is probable/no longer probable respectively that 
the related tax benefit will be realised. Further, 
no deferred tax asset/liabilities are recognized 
in respect of temporary differences that reverse 
within tax holiday period.

   Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

   The measurement of deferred tax reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 
the manner in which the Brookfield India REIT 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

n) Provisions and contingencies 
  A provision is recognized when the Brookfield 

India REIT has a present obligation as a result of 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, in respect of which 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Brookfield India REIT or a present 
obligation that is not recognized because it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability 
also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot 
be measured reliably. The Brookfield India REIT does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements.

  Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized 
when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Company from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations 
under the contract.

o) operating segments 
  Operating segments are reported in a manner 

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.

	 Identification	of	segments:	
  In accordance with Ind AS 108- Operating Segment, 

the operating segments used to present segment 
information are identified on the basis of information 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(‘CODM’) to allocate resources to the segments and 
assess their performance. An operating segment 
is a component of the Brookfield India REIT that 
engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Brookfield India REIT’s other components. 

  Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT’s 
structure and powers conferred to the Manager to 
Brookfield India REIT, the Governing Board of the 
Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) has been identified as the Chief Operating 

Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered 
for all major decisions w.r.t. the management, 
administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

  As the Brookfield India REIT is primarily engaged 
in the business of developing and maintaining 
commercial real estate properties in India, CODM 
reviews the entire business as a single operating 
segment and accordingly disclosure requirements 
of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of 
reportable segments are not applicable. 

p) Subsequent events 
  The Condensed Standalone Financial Statements 

are prepared after reflecting adjusting and non-
adjusting events that occur after the reporting period 
but before the Condensed Standalone Financial 
Statements are authorized for issue.

q) cash and cash equivalents 
  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 

and on hand and short-term money market deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

r) Earnings per unit 
  Basic earnings per unit is calculated by dividing the net 

profit / (loss) for the period attributable to unit holders 
of the Brookfield India REIT by the weighted average 
number of units outstanding during the period.

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
unit, the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to unit holders of the Brookfield India REIT and the 
weighted average number of units outstanding 
during the period are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential units.

  Dilutive potential units are deemed converted as 
of the beginning of the reporting date, unless they 
have been issued at a later date. In computing 
diluted earnings per unit, only potential units that are 
dilutive and which either reduces earnings per unit or 
increase loss per units are included.

s) Offsetting
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount presented in the Condensed 
Standalone Balance Sheet when, and only when, 
the Brookfield India REIT currently has a legally 
enforceable right to set off the amounts and 
it intends either to settle them on a net basis 
or to realize the asset and settle the liability 
simultaneously.

t) Cash flow statement
  Cash flows are reported using the indirect method, 

whereby net profit before tax is adjusted for the 
effects of transactions of a non-cash nature and 
any deferrals or accruals of past or future cash 
receipts or payments. The cash flows from operating, 
investing and financing activities of the Brookfield 
India REIT are segregated. For the purpose of the 
Statement of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents 
consist of cash and short-term deposits.

u) cash distribution to unitholders
  The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a liability to 

make cash distributions to Unitholders when the 
distribution is authorized and a legal obligation  
has been created. As per the REIT Regulations,  
a distribution is authorized when it is approved  
by the Board of Directors of the Manager.  
A corresponding amount is recognised directly in 
equity. (Refer note 10(a)(i)).
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3.  non currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - InVEStMEntS  

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Trade,	unquoted,	Investments	in	Subsidiaries	(at	cost)	(refer	note	below)
97,526 (March 31, 2021: 59,545) Equity shares of Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 

 24,761.39  14,661.39 

143,865,096 (March 31, 2021: 143,865,096) Equity shares of Shantiniketan Properties 
Private Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 

 11,407.83  11,407.83 

464,641,121 (March 31, 2021: 464,641,121) Equity shares of Festus Properties Private 
Limited of `10 each, fully paid up 

 8,655.46  8,655.46 

9,999 (March 31, 2021: 9,999) Equity shares of Candor India Office Parks Private Limited 
of `10 each, fully paid up 

 220.20  220.20 

 45,044.88  34,944.88 
Investments in 12% compulsorily convertible debentures (debentures)*  -    10,100.00 

 45,044.88  45,044.88 

 The Trust has issued 164,619,801 Units as consideration to acquire these investments wherein the tradable REIT 
Units have been valued at `275 each, aggregating amounting to `45,270.44 million.

 * Issued by Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited.

 note: 

 Details	of	%	shareholding	in	the	subsidiaries,	held	by	Trust	is	as	under:	

name of Subsidiary As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

- Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  100% 100%
- Festus Properties Private Limited  100% 100%
- Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  100% 100%
- Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  100% 100%

4. non currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - LoAnS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
Loan to Subsidiaries - refer note 25  35,386.00  36,100.00 

 35,386.00  36,100.00 

 terms for Loan to Subsidiaries
 Security: Unsecured

 Interest: 12.50% per annum (compounded quarterly).

 repayment:
 (a)  Bullet repayment on the date falling at the end of 15 (fifteen) years from the first disbursement date.

 (b)  Early repayment option (wholly or partially) is available to the borrower (SPVs).    

 (c)   The interest on these loan to subsidiaries is receivable on the last date of every financial quarter. 
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary, the interest with respect to the loans under the facility, shall accrue 
and become due and receivable only on availability of free cash flow on the interest  payment date. In the 
event on any Interest payment date, the free cash flows are lower than the calculated interest (including any 
shortfall of past interest periods), the shortfall between the free cash flows and the calculated interest shall 
be accumulated and become due and receivable from and to the extent of free cash flows available on the 
subsequent interest payment dates.    

5. non-currEnt tAx ASSEtS (nEt) 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Advance income tax  16.22  16.92 
 16.22  16.92 

6. otHEr non-currEnt ASSEtS 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
Security deposit  30.00  30.00 

 30.00  30.00 

7. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - cASH And cASH EQuIVALEntS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Balance with banks : 
  - in current account  24.66  185.42 
  - in escrow account*  150.97  1,432.87 
  - in deposit account (with original maturity of 3 months or less)  2,220.00  -   

 2,395.63  1,618.29 

  * Represents the balance of `150.97 million as at September 30, 2021 (March 31, 2021 : `1,432.87 million) from proceeds of initial 
public offer of Brookfield India REIT Units (Total proceeds `38,000.00 million). These amounts are held in the escrow account and 
can be withdrawn for partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing indebtedness of SPVs, general purposes 
and issue expenses (as specified in the  Brookfield India REIT’s final offer document).    

8. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - otHEr

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
to parties other than related parties 
Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  0.61  -   
to related parties (refer note 25) 
Interest accrued but not due on Investment in Debentures  -    387.08 
Interest accrued but not due on Loan to Subsidiaries  373.48  543.97 

 374.09  931.05 

9. otHEr currEnt ASSEtS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
Prepaid expenses*  5.38  -   

 5.38  -   

 * For related parties balance, refer note 25
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10.   unIt cAPItAL

Particulars  no. of units  Amount 

As at July 17, 2020  -    -   
units issued during the period 
-  pursuant to the initial public offer, issued, subscribed and fully paid-up in cash  

(refer note ii below) 
 138,181,800  38,000.00 

- in exchange for equity interest in SPVs (refer note iii below)  127,892,403  35,170.41 
- in exchange for 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debenture in Candor Kolkata  36,727,398  10,100.03 
Less: Issue expenses (refer note below)  (1,495.66)
closing balance as at March 31, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
As at April 1, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Less: Issue expenses (refer note below)  (12.94)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021  (297.05)
closing balance as at September 30, 2021  302,801,601  81,464.79 

 Note: Issue expenses pertaining to the Initial Public Offering (IPO) and listing of the Units on the National Stock 
Exchange and Bombay Stock Exchange have been reduced from the Unitholders capital as at September 30, 2021 
and March 31, 2021 in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.

 (a)  Terms/rights attached to Units and accounting thereof
   (i)   The Trust has only one class of Units. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. 

Each holder of Unit is entitled to one vote per unit. The Unitholders have the right to receive at least 
90% of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of the Trust at least once in every six months in each financial 
year in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager 
approves dividend distributions. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of Units held by the 
Unitholders. The Trust declares and pays dividends in Indian Rupees.

    Under the provisions of the REIT Regulations, Brookfield India REIT is required to distribute to Unitholders 
not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of Brookfield India REIT for each financial year.  
Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Brookfield India REIT 
to pay to its Unitholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument 
which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated 29 December 
2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/141/2016 dated 26 December 2016) issued under the REIT Regulations, the 
Unit Capital have been presented as “Equity” in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of 
Annexure A to the SEBI Circular dated 26 December 2016 dealing with the minimum presentation and 
disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified as 
equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity 
when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

  (ii)   Initial Public Offering of 138,181,800 Units for cash at price of `275 per Unit aggregating to `38,000.00 
million.

  (iii)   Brookfield India REIT acquired the SPVs by acquiring all the equity interest held by our Sponsor and 
certain members of our Sponsor Group. The acquisition of equity interest in the SPVs has been done by 
issue of 127,892,403 Units of `275 each as per the table below.

name of SPV 

 number of units allotted for acquiring  
all the equity interest held in the SPVs 

Sponsor Sponsor Group 
(excluding Sponsor) total 

Candor Kolkata  54,117,888  16,364  54,134,252 
Festus  -    31,474,412  31,474,412 
SPPL Noida  -    41,483,012  41,483,012 
CIOP  -    800,727  800,727 
total number of units issued  54,117,888  73,774,515  127,892,403 

 (b)  unitholders holding more than 5 percent units in the trust 
name of unitholders  no. of units  % of holdings 
BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 17.87%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,373 13.71%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 12.13%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  28,086,775 9.28%

 (c)    The Trust has not allotted any fully paid-up units by way of bonus units nor has it bought back any class of 
units from the date of registration till the balance sheet date. Further, the Trust has not issued any units for 
consideration other than cash from the date of registration till the balance sheet date, except as disclosed above.

11.  otHEr EQuItY*

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

reserves and Surplus 
Retained earnings  1,484.77  626.23 

 1,484.77  626.23 

  *Refer Condensed Standalone Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for detailed movement in other equity balances. 

 retained earnings
  The cumulative gain or loss arising from the operations which is retained and is recognized and accumulated 

under the heading of retained earnings. At the end of the period, the profit/(loss) after tax is transferred from the 
Statement of Profit and Loss to the retained earnings account.

12.  currEnt FInAncIAL LIABILItIES - trAdE PAYABLES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises  1.56  -   
Total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises*  29.94  21.79 

 31.50  21.79 

 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 25



119118 Half YearlY report 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

Notes to the Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Condensed Standalone Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements

13.   currEnt - otHEr FInAncIAL LIABILItIES 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Other payables*  267.96  1,248.33 
 267.96  1,248.33 

 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 25

14.  otHEr currEnt LIABILItIES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Statutory dues payable  3.18  70.01 
 3.18  70.01 

15.  IntErESt IncoME

Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Interest Income* 
-  on Debentures (Representing FVTPL 

gain on 12% Compulsorily Convertible 
Debentures)

 -    -    -    -    178.43  178.43 

- on Loans to subsidiaries  1,145.21  1,141.51  -    2,286.72  543.97  543.97 
Interest income on fixed deposits  
with banks

 9.62  1.53  -    11.15  -    -   

 1,154.83  1,143.04  -    2,297.87  722.40  722.40 

 * Refer note 25

16.  otHEr ExPEnSES 

Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Marketing and advertisement expenses  4.85  3.19  -    8.04  56.00  56.00 

Donation  -    20.00  -    20.00  -    -   

Miscellaneous expenses  0.01  2.36  0.03  2.37  0.20  0.23 

 4.86  25.55  0.03  30.41  56.20  56.23 

17.  tAx ExPEnSE

Particulars

 For the quarter 
ended 

September 30, 
2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Current tax  4.12  0.65  -    4.77  -    -   
Deferred tax  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 4.12  0.65  -    4.77  -    -   

  Brookfield India REIT is a business trust registered under SEBI REIT Regulations, 2014. Hence, the interest and 
dividend received or receivable by Brookfield India REIT from the SPVs are exempt from tax under section 10(23FC) 
of the Income Tax Act, 1961 (Act). Further, any expenditure incurred in relation to earning the exempt income is not 
tax deductible in view of the provisions of section 14A of the Act. 

  The income of Brookfield India REIT, other than exempt income mentioned above, is chargeable to tax at the 
maximum marginal rates in force (for the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2021: 42.744%; for the period 
ended March 31, 2021: 42.744%), except for the income chargeable to tax on transfer of short term capital assets 
under section 111A of the Act and long term capital assets under section 112 of the Act.

18. contInGEnt LIABILItIES

 There are no contingent liabilities as at September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021.

19. cAPItAL coMMItMEntS

 There are no capital commitments as at September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021.

20. FInAncIAL InStruMEntS – FAIr VALuES And rISK MAnAGEMEnt

 i)  Financial instruments by category and fair value
    The below table summarizes the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 

instruments that are (a) recognized and measured at fair value and (b) measured at amortized cost and for 
which fair values are disclosed in the financial statements. The Brookfield India REIT has classified its financial 
instruments, which are measured at fair value, into three levels in accordance with Ind AS.

carrying value Fair value
As at  

September 30, 
2021

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at  
September 30, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 2021

At Amortized cost
Financial assets 
Cash and cash equivalents#  2,395.63  1,618.29  2,395.63  1,618.29 
Loans*  35,386.00  36,100.00 38,295.90  36,100.00 
Other financial assets#   374.09  931.05  374.09  931.05 
At FVtPL
Financial Assets 
12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures 
(CCD)** 

 -    10,100.00  -    10,100.00 

Total financial assets  38,155.72  48,749.34 41,065.62  48,749.34 
At Amortized cost
Financial liabilities 
Trade payables#   31.50  21.79  31.50  21.79 
Other financial liabilities#   267.96  1,248.33  267.96  1,248.33 
Total financial liabilities  299.46  1,270.12  299.46  1,270.12 

   # fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost has been disclosed to be same 
as carrying value as the carrying value approximately equals to their fair value.

   * Fair value of loan which are recognized at amortized cost, has been calculated at the present value of the future cash flows 
discounted at the current borrowing rate.

   **Fair value of investments in 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures (CCDs) are classified as level 3 in the fair value 
hierarchy due to the inclusion of unobservable inputs. On April 1, 2021, these debentures have been converted into equity 
shares of Candor Kolkata at conversion price which is equal to the fair market value of the equity shares of K1 at the time 
of conversion in accordance with the terms of these CCDs. Accordingly, the fair value of these CCDs as at March 31, 2021 is 
same as the face value of CCDs (`10,100.00 million).

 ii)  Measurement of fair values
   The different levels of fair value have been defined below:

    Level 1: Level 1 hierarchy includes financial instruments measured using quoted prices for instance listed 
equity instruments, traded bonds and mutual funds that have quoted price.
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    Level 2: The fair value of financial instruments that are not traded in an active market (for example, traded 
bonds, over-the counter derivatives) is determined using valuation techniques which maximize the use of 
observable market data and rely as little as possible on entity-specific estimates. If all significant inputs 
required to fair value an instrument are observable, the instrument is included in level 2.

    Level 3: If one or more of the significant inputs is not based on observable market data, the instrument is 
included in level 3.

    There have been no valuation under Level 1 and Level 2. There has been no  transfers into or out of Level 3 of 
the fair value hierarchy for the quarter/period ended September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021.

    The Brookfield India REIT’s policy is to recognize transfers into and transfers out of fair value hierarchy levels as 
at the end of the reporting period.

21. SEGMEnt rEPortInG

  The Trust does not have any Operating segments as at September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021, hence disclosure 
under Ind AS 108, Operating segments has not been provided in the Condensed Standalone financial statements.

22. EArnInGS PEr unIt (EPu)

 Basic EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the quarter/period attributable to Unitholders by the 
weighted average number of units outstanding during the quarter/period. Diluted EPU amounts are calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to Unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during the 
period plus the weighted average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential 
units into unit capital. The Units of the Trust were allotted on February 8, 2021 and February 11, 2021.

Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Profit/(Loss) after tax for calculating 
basic and diluted EPU

 1,140.49  1,237.81  (2.20)  2,378.30  628.43  626.23 

Weighted average number of Units (Nos.)  302,801,601  302,801,601 Not Applicable  302,801,601  84,237,021  59,423,015 
Earnings Per Unit
     - Basic (Rupees/unit)  3.77  4.09 Not Applicable  7.85  7.46  10.54 
     - Diluted (Rupees/unit)*  3.77  4.09 Not Applicable  7.85  7.46  10.54 

 * The Trust does not have any outstanding dilutive units

23. uncErtAIntY rELAtInG to tHE GLoBAL HEALtH PAndEMIc on coVId-19:   
 The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to cause disruption to business activities as well as disrupted travel and 

adversely impacted local, regional, national and international economic conditions. Brookfield India REIT has 
considered possible effects that may result from the pandemic relating to COVID-19 on the carrying amounts and 
fair value of Investments in Subsidiaries. The fair value of investments in subsidiaries is primarily determined basis 
the fair value of the underlying investment properties as at September 30, 2021. As a result, future revenues and 
cash flows produced by investment properties could be potentially impacted due to this prevailing uncertainty. In 
response, Brookfield India REIT has adjusted cash flow assumptions for its estimate of near-term disruption to cash 
flows to reflect collections, vacancy and assumptions with respect to new leasing activity. In addition, Brookfield 
India REIT has continued to assess the appropriateness of the discount and terminal capitalization rates giving 
consideration to changes to property level cash flows and any risk premium inherent in such cash flow changes 
as well as the current cost of capital and credit spreads. Further, in developing assumptions relating to possible 
future uncertainties in the Indian economic conditions because of this pandemic; Brookfield India REIT, as at the 
date of approval of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements, has used internal and external sources 
of information including reports on fair valuation of investment properties from property consultants, economic 

forecast and other information from market sources on the expected future performance of Brookfield India REIT. 
Based on this analysis, Brookfield India REIT has concluded that there is no impairment to the carrying amount of 
investments in subsidiaries and the fair value of investments in subsidiaries disclosed in the Condensed Standalone 
Financial Statements represents the best estimate based on internal and external sources of information on the 
reporting date.

 The impact of COVID-19 on Brookfield India REIT Condensed Standalone Financial Statements may differ from that 
estimated as at the date of approval of these Condensed Standalone Financial Statements.

24. InVEStMEnt MAnAGEMEnt FEE

 rEIt Management Fees
 Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated July 17, 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to fees 

@ 1% of NDCF, exclusive of applicable taxes (also refer note 27). The fees has been determined for undertaking 
management of the REIT and its investments.The said Management fees for the quarter and half year ended 
September 30, 2021 amounts to `24.92 million and `45.91 million respectively.

25. rELAtEd PArtY dIScLoSurES

 A. Related parties to Brookfield India REIT as at September 30, 2021

  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor  

  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited - Investment Manager  

  Axis Trustee Services Limited—Trustee

   The Ultimate parent entity and sponsor groups, with whom the group has related party 
transactions during the period, consist of the below entities:

  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor  

  a)  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. (BSREP II India)  

  b)  Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM) , ultimate parent entity and controlling party  

  c)  Kairos Property Managers Private Limited (Kairos)  

  d)  BSREP Moon C1 L.P  

  e)  BSREP Moon C2 L.P  

  f)  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. (BSREP India Office III)  

  g)  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Holdings)

   directors & Key personnel of the Investment Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) 

  directors

  Akila Krishnakumar (Independent Director) 

  Shailesh Vishnubhai Haribhakti (Independent Director) 

  Anuj Ranjan (Non-Executive Director) 

  Ankur Gupta (Non-Executive Director)
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  Key personnel 

  Alok Aggarwal - Managing director and chief executive officer – India office business 

  Sanjeev Kumar Sharma - Executive vice president and chief financial officer – India office business 

  Subsidiary (SPVs) (w.e.f. February 8, 2021)

  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited

  Festus Properties Private Limited

  Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited

  Candor India Office Parks Private Limited 

 B.  related party transactions

Nature of transaction/  
Entity’s name

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

unsecured loan given to 
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 66.00  -    -    66.00  24,050.00  24,050.00 

-  Festus Properties Private Limited  89.00  -    -    89.00  7,900.00  7,900.00 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private 

Limited 
 33.00  -    -    33.00  4,150.00  4,150.00 

total  188.00  -    -    188.00  36,100.00  36,100.00 
unsecured loan repaid by
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 359.00  249.00  -    608.00  -    -   

-  Festus Properties Private Limited  87.00  -    -    87.00  -   
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private 

Limited 
 159.00  48.00  -    207.00  -    -   

total  605.00  297.00  -    902.00  -    -   
Investment in debentures 
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 

total  -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 
conversion of Investment in 
debentures to Investment in 
Equity shares
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 -    10,100.03  -    10,100.03  -    -   

total  -    10,100.03  -    10,100.03  -    -   
Investment in Equity shares of SPV
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 -    10,100.00  -    10,100.00  14,661.39  14,661.39 

-  Festus Properties Private Limited  -    -    -    -    8,655.46  8,655.46 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private 

Limited 
 -    -    -    -    11,407.83  11,407.83 

-  Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited 

 -    -    -    -    220.20  220.20 

total  -    10,100.00  -    10,100.00  34,944.88  34,944.88 
trustee Fee Expense 
- Axis Trustee Services Limited 0.74 0.74 0.65 1.48  1.56  2.21 
total 0.74 0.74 0.65 1.48  1.56  2.21 
Interest Income on Loans to 
Subsidiaries
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 757.66  760.46  -    1,518.13  362.40  362.40 

-  Festus Properties Private Limited  256.94  249.83  -    506.77  119.04  119.04 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private 

Limited 
 130.61  131.22  -    261.83  62.53  62.53 

total  1,145.21  1,141.51  -    2,286.73  543.97  543.97 

Nature of transaction/  
Entity’s name

 For the  
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Interest Income on debentures
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 

Structures Private Limited 
 -    -    -    -    178.43  178.43 

total  -    -    -    -    178.43  178.43 
Investment management fees
-  Brookprop Management Services 

Private Limited
 24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -    -   

total  24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -    -   
dividend Income
-  Candor India Office Parks Private 

Limited 
 30.00  150.00  -    180.00  -    -   

total  30.00  150.00  -    180.00  -    -   
Issue of unit capital
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    14,882.42  14,882.42 
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  -    -    -    -    11,412.33  11,412.33 
-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 

Ltd.
 -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 

-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 
Ltd.

 -    -    -    -    7,723.86  7,723.86 

-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    931.60  931.60 
- BSREP Moon C1 LP  -    -    -    -    220.18  220.18 
- BSREP Moon C2 LP  -    -    -    -    0.02  0.02 
total  -    -    -    -    45,270.44  45,270.44 
repayment of unit capital
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  53.09  -    -    53.09  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  40.71  -    -    40.71  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  3.32  -    -    3.32  -    -   
-  BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.79  -    -    0.79  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 

Ltd.
 27.55  -    -    27.55  -    -   

-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 36.03  -    -    36.03  -    -   

total  161.49  -    -    161.49  -    -   
Interest distributed
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  247.21  -    -    247.21  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  189.57  -    -    189.57  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  15.47  -    -    15.47  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  3.66  -    -    3.66  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 

Ltd.
 128.30  -    -    128.30  -    -   

-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 167.77  -    -    167.77  -    -   

total  751.98  -    -    751.98  -    -   
other Income distributed
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  24.41  -    -    24.41  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  18.72  -    -    18.72  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  1.53  -    -    1.53  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.36  -    -    0.36  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. 

Ltd.
 12.67  -    -    12.67  -    -   

-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. 
Ltd.

 16.56  -    -    16.56  -    -   

total 74.25  -    -   74.25  -    -   
reimbursement of expense 
incurred by (excluding GSt)
-  Brookprop Management Services 

Private Limited
 -    -    0.38  -    251.91  252.29 

-  Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited 

 (0.21)  6.24  -    6.03  66.55  66.55 

-  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd  9.26  15.91  1.17  25.17  166.90  168.07 
total  9.05  22.15  1.55  31.20  485.36  486.91 
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outstanding balances at the period end As at 
September 30, 2021 

As at 
March 31, 2021

unsecured loans receivable (non-current)
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  23,508.00  24,050.00 
-  Festus Properties Private Limited  7,902.00  7,900.00 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  3,976.00  4,150.00 
total  35,386.00  36,100.00 
Investment in equity shares of SPV 
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  24,761.39  14,661.39 
-  Festus Properties Private Limited  8,655.46  8,655.46 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  11,407.83  11,407.83 
-  Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  220.20  220.20 
total  45,044.88  34,944.88 
Investment in debentures 
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  -    10,100.00 
total  -    10,100.00 
Interest accrued but not due on Loan to Subsidiaries 
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  246.98  362.40 
-  Festus Properties Private Limited  83.90  119.04 
-  Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  42.60  62.53 
total  373.48  543.97 
Interest accrued but not due on Investment in debentures
-  Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  -    387.08 
total  -    387.08 
Prepaid expenses 
-  Axis Trustee Services Ltd  1.47  -   
total  1.47  -   
trade Payable (net of withholding tax)
-  Axis Trustee Services Ltd  -    2.07 
-  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  21.01  -   
total  21.01  2.07 
other Payable (net of withholding tax)
-  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  0.08  65.21 
-  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd.  227.63  198.32 
-  Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  0.12  46.14 
total  227.83  309.67 

26. dEtAILS oF utILISAtIon oF ProcEEdS oF IPo ArE AS FoLLowS:

objects of the issue as per the prospectus Proposed 
utilisation

Actual  
utilisation upto 

September 30, 
2021

unutilised 
amount as at 

September 30, 
2021

Partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing 
indebtedness of our Asset SPVs

 35,750.00  35,750.00  -   

General purposes (refer note below)  350.00  583.83  -   
Issue expenses (refer note below)  1,900.00  1,345.86  320.31 
total  38,000.00  37,679.69  320.31 

  Note: Amount of `233.83 million has been used for general corporate purposes from the proposed utilization towards issue 
expenses.

27. dIStrIButIon PoLIcY

 In terms of the Distribution policy and REIT Regulations, not less than 90% of the NDCFs of our Asset SPVs are 
required to be distributed to Brookfield REIT, in proportion of its shareholding in our Asset SPVs, subject to 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act. The cash flows receivable by Brookfield REIT may be in the form 
of dividends, interest income, principal loan repayment, proceeds of any capital reduction or buyback from 
our Asset SPVs/CIOP, sale proceeds out of disposal of investments of any or assets directly/indirectly held by 
Brookfield REIT or as specifically permitted under the Trust Deed or in such other form as may be permissible 
under the applicable laws.

 At least 90% of the NDCFs of Brookfield REIT (“REIT Distributions”) shall be declared and made once every quarter 
of a Financial Year by our Manager. The first distribution shall be made upon completion of the first full quarter after 
the listing of our Units on the Stock Exchanges. Further, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, REIT Distributions 
shall be made no later than 15 days from the date of such declarations. The REIT Distributions, when made, shall be 
made in Indian Rupees.

 The NDCFs shall be calculated in accordance with the REIT Regulations and any circular, notification or guidelines 
issued thereunder including the SEBI Guidelines.

28.  On April 1, 2021, 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures issued by Candor Kolkata and held by Brookfield India 
REIT (45,535 numbers of 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debentures) have been converted into 37,981 number of equity 
shares each of `10 at a premium of `265,912.43.

29. “0.00” Represents value less than `0.01 million.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
(as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021
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To The Board of Directors of
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited 
(the “Investment Manager”)
(Acting in capacity as the Investment Manager of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust)

IntroductIon

1.  We have reviewed the accompanying unaudited 
Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements of BrooKFIELd IndIA rEAL EStAtE 
truSt (“the rEIt”) and its subsidiaries (together 
referred to as “the Group”), which comprise the 
unaudited Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet 
as at September 30, 2021, the unaudited Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss (including 
other comprehensive income), the unaudited 
Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash flow for 
the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2021, 
the unaudited Condensed Consolidated Statement 
of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for the half year 
ended September 30, 2021, the unaudited Statement 
of Net Assets at Fair Value as at September 30, 2021, 
the unaudited Statement of Total Returns at Fair 
Value for the half year ended September 30, 2021 
and the unaudited Statement of Net Distributable 
Cash Flow of the REIT and each of the subsidiaries 
for the quarter and half year ended September 
30, 2021 as an additional disclosure in accordance 
with Paragraph 6 of Annexure A to the Securities 
Exchange Board of India (SEBI) Circular No. CIR/
IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 29, 2016 along 
with summary of the significant accounting policies 
and select explanatory notes (together hereinafter 
referred as the “Condensed Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements”).

2.  The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements, which is the responsibility of the 
Investment Manager and approved by the Board 
of Directors of the Investment Manager, have been 
prepared in accordance with the requirements of 
SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014 as amended from time to time read with SEBI 
Circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated December 
29, 2016 (“REIT Regulations”); Indian Accounting 
Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“Ind AS 
34”), prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with 
the REIT Regulations. Our responsibility is to express 
a conclusion on the Condensed Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements based on our review.

Scope of review
3.  We conducted our review of the Condensed 

Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 
in accordance with the Standard on Review 
Engagements (SRE) 2410 “Review of Interim Financial 
Information Performed by the Independent Auditor 
of the Entity”, issued by the Institute of Chartered 
Accountants of India (ICAI). A review of interim 
financial information consists of making inquiries, 
primarily of Investment Manager’s personnel 
responsible for financial and accounting matters, and 
applying analytical and other review procedures.  A 
review is substantially less in scope than an audit 
conducted in accordance with Standards on Auditing 
issued by ICAI and consequently does not enable us 
to obtain assurance that we would become aware 
of all significant matters that might be identified in 
an audit. Accordingly, we do not express an audit 
opinion.

4.  The Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial 
Statements includes the financial information of the 
following entities:

Sr. 
no.

name of the entities

A Parent entity
1 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

B Subsidiaries
1 Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited

2 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited

3 Festus Properties Private Limited

4 Candor India Office Parks Private Limited

Basis for Qualified Conclusion
5.  The following matter relates to certain subsidiaries of 

the REIT:

  Paragraph 8(4) of the Unlisted Public Companies 
(Preferential Allotment) Amendment Rules, 2011 (the 
Rules), require that any allotment of securities against 
share application money received by a Company, 
shall be completed within sixty days from the receipt 
of application money and in case the company is not 
able to allot the securities within the said period of 
sixty days, it shall repay the application money within 
fifteen days thereafter, failing which it will be required 
to be re-paid with interest at the rate of twelve 
percent per annum. The monies received on such

Independent Auditor’s Report 
on Review of Condensed Consolidated Interim Financial Statements 

  application shall be kept in a separate bank account 
and shall not be utilised for any purpose other than 
(i) for adjustment against allotment of securities; or 
(ii) for the repayment of monies where the company 
is unable to allot securities. 

  Prior to March 31, 2014, Shantiniketan Properties 
Private Limited (SPPL Noida), subsidiary of the REIT 
had received certain amounts as share application 
money (“Share Application Money”), against which 
SPPL Noida had neither allotted shares nor refunded 
such Share Application Money. The segregation 
and maintenance of such Share Application Money 
in a separate bank account, and the utilization 
of such Share Application Money for general 
corporate purposes, was not in accordance with the 
Rules. Prior to March 31, 2014, (i) SPPL Noida had 
accrued interest on the Share Application Money 
in accordance with the requirements of the said 
Rules; and (ii) the Share Application Money (including 
accrued interest) was converted in full, to inter 
corporate deposits, based on legal advice obtained 
by SPPL Noida. As of date, all such inter corporate 
deposits have been repaid in full, and there are no 
outstanding dues payable by SPPL Noida in lieu 
of having received the Share Application Money. 
During the period ended March 31, 2021, SPPL Noida 
has filed petition under Companies Act, 2013 for 
compounding of offence. The impact, if any, of such 
non-compliances cannot be ascertained.

  Prior to March 31, 2014, Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech  
Structures Private Limited (“Candor Kolkata”), 
subsidiary of the REIT had received certain amounts 
as Share Application Money, against which Candor 
Kolkata had not allotted shares. The segregation 
and maintenance of such Share Application Money 
in a separate bank account, and the utilization of 
such Share Application Money for general corporate 
purposes, was not in accordance with the Rules. 
Prior to March 31, 2014, (i) Candor Kolkata had 
accrued interest on the Share Application Money in 
accordance with the requirements of the said Rules 
and refunded the share application money; and (ii) 

the accrued interest on share application money 
was converted in full, to inter corporate deposits, 
based on legal advice obtained by Candor Kolkata. 
As of date, all such inter corporate deposits have 
been repaid in full, and there are no outstanding 
dues payable by Candor Kolkata in lieu of having 
received the Share Application Money. During 
the period ended March 31, 2021, Candor Kolkata 
has filed petition under Companies Act, 2013 for 
compounding of offence. The impact, if any, of such 
non-compliances cannot be ascertained.

  This matter was also qualified in our report on the 
Consolidated Financial Statements for the quarter 
ended June 30, 2021 and year ended March 31, 2021.

 Qualified Conclusion
6.  Based on our review, except for the possible effects 

of the matter described in paragraph 5 above, 
nothing has come to our attention that causes us 
to believe that the Condensed Consolidated Interim 
Financial Statements, have not been prepared in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations, Ind AS 34, 
prescribed under Rule 2(1)(a) of the Companies 
(Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015 (as 
amended) and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India, to the extent not inconsistent with 
the REIT Regulations.

Emphasis of matter
7.  We draw attention to Note 15(a)(i) which describes 

the presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” to 
comply with REIT Regulations. Our conclusion is not 
modified in respect of this matter.

For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS
Chartered Accountants

            (Firm’s Reg. No. 015125N)

Anand Subramanian
Partner

Place: Bengaluru  (Membership No. 110815)
Date: November 09, 2021    (UDIN: 21110815AAAAED9074)
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Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Particulars note
As at 

September 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Audited)
ASSEtS
non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 3 122.33 101.17
Investment property 4 99,322.97  100,179.76 
Investment property under development 4 915.41  791.74 
Intangible assets 3 0.27 0.42
Financial assets
- Other financial assets 5  57.22  281.83 
Deferred tax assets (net) 6 2,725.58  2,641.23 
Non-current tax assets (net) 7  1,670.37  1,527.81 
Other non-current assets 8  535.93  555.42 
total non-current assets 105,350.08  106,079.38 

current assets
Financial assets
- Trade receivables 9  132.80  204.35 
- Cash and cash equivalents 10  2,766.62  3,155.19 
- Other bank balances 11  318.11  150.65 
- Loans 12  -    -   
- Other financial assets 13  249.96  163.13 
Other current assets 14  162.94  157.32 
total current assets  3,630.43  3,830.64 
totAL ASSEtS 108,980.51  109,910.02 

EQuItY And LIABILItIES
Equity 
Unit Capital 15  81,464.79  81,774.78 
Other equity 16 155.11  252.75 
total equity 81,619.90  82,027.53 

LIABILItIES
non current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Borrowings 17  21,672.60  21,015.17 
- Lease liabilities  81.61  87.12 
- Other financial liabilities 18  1,035.54  1,412.27 
Provisions 19  11.88  10.86 
Other non-current liabilities 20  472.53  386.47 
total non-current liabilities 23,274.16  22,911.89 

current liabilities
Financial liabilities
- Lease liabilities  10.42  10.42 
- Trade payables 21
  Total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises  2.60  1.09 
   Total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro enterprises  

and small enterprises   475.02  444.41 

- Other financial liabilities 22  3,139.28  3,993.79 
Provisions 23  5.01  4.49 
Other current liabilities 24  333.19  396.01 
Current tax liabilities (net) 25  120.93  120.39 
total current liabilities 4,086.45  4,970.60 
total liabilities  27,360.61  27,882.49 
totAL EQuItY And LIABILItIES 108,980.51  109,910.02 

Significant accounting policies 2

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Particulars  note 

 For the quarter 
ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the quarter 
ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From July 17, 
2020 to  

September 30, 
2020

 (unaudited)* 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the half 
year ended 

March 31, 2021
(unaudited) 

 From July  17, 
2020 to 

March 31, 2021
(Audited)* 

Income and gains
Revenue from operations 26  2,117.08  2,190.81  -    4,307.89  1,309.42  1,309.42 
Other income 27  30.93  35.94  -    66.87  51.65  51.65 
total income  2,148.01  2,226.75  -    4,374.76  1,361.07  1,361.07 
Expenses and losses
Cost of material consumed 28  4.72  8.88  -    13.60  2.48  2.48 
Employee benefits expenses 29  52.46  51.08  -    103.54  28.10  28.10 
Finance costs 30  425.47  419.14  -    844.61  410.77  410.77 
Depreciation and amortization 
expenses

31  471.13  456.15  -    927.28  316.75  316.75 

Investment management fees  24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -    -   
Valuation expenses  2.99  0.94  -    3.93  5.78  5.78 
Trustee fees  0.74  0.74  0.65  1.48  1.56  2.21 
Other expenses 32  532.23  557.58  1.55  1,089.81  444.00  445.55 
total expenses  1,514.66  1,515.50  2.20  3,030.16  1,209.44  1,211.64 
Profit/(Loss) before Income tax  633.35  711.25  (2.20)  1,344.60  151.63  149.43 
tax expense: 33
Current tax
- for current period  7.41  0.65  -    8.06  0.44  0.44 
- for earlier years  -    -    -    -    18.89  18.89 
Deferred tax charge/(credit) (56.88)  (27.74)  -   (84.62)  (122.93)  (122.93)
Tax expense for the quarter/period (49.47)  (27.09)  -   (76.56)  (103.60)  (103.60)
Profit/(Loss) for the quarter/period 
after income tax

682.82  738.34  (2.20) 1,421.16  255.23  253.03 

other comprehensive income
Items that will not be reclassified to 
profit or loss
-  Remeasurement of defined benefit 

obligations
 0.51  0.71  -    1.22  (0.35)  (0.35)

-  Income tax related to items that will 
not be reclassified to profit or loss

 (0.16)  (0.10)  -    (0.26)  0.07  0.07 

Other comprehensive income/(loss) 
for the quarter/period, net of tax

 0.35  0.61  -    0.96  (0.28)  (0.28)

Total comprehensive income/(loss)
for the quarter/period

683.17  738.95  (2.20) 1,422.12  254.95  252.75 

Earnings per unit 39
Basic 2.25  2.44  Not Applicable 4.69  3.03  4.26 
Diluted 2.25  2.44  Not Applicable 4.69  3.03  4.26 

Significant accounting policies 2

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

* Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the information 
in Condensed Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for the quarter and half year ended 
September 30, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021
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Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021
 (unaudited) 

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020
 (unaudited)* 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021

(unaudited) 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(Audited)* 

Cash flows from operating activities :
Profit/(Loss) before tax  633.35  711.25  (2.20)  1,344.60  151.63  149.43 
Adjustments for :
Depreciation and amortization expense  471.13  456.15  -    927.28  316.75  316.75 
Allowance for credit loss  0.25  -    -    0.25  0.05  0.05 
Interest income on fixed deposit  (20.27)  (15.71)  -    (35.98)  (3.21)  (3.21)
Deferred income amortization  (38.12)  (38.14)  -    (76.26)  (21.01)  (21.01)
Advances written off  -    -    -    -    1.27  1.27 
Credit impaired  5.11  2.71  -    7.82  23.32  23.32 
Property, plant and equipment written off  -    -    -    -    0.15  0.15 
Finance cost  425.47  419.14  -    844.61  410.77  410.77 
Interest income on security deposit  (6.26)  (12.93)  -    (19.19)  (2.49)  (2.49)
Operating cash flows before working 
capital changes 

1,470.66  1,522.47  (2.20) 2,993.13  877.23  875.03 

Movement in working capital: 
(Increase)/Decrease in other current and  
non current assets

 (14.27)  10.70  -    (3.57)  25.76  25.76 

(Increase)/Decrease in current and non current 
financial assets

 41.17  (89.87)  -    (48.70)  331.76  331.76 

(Decrease)/Increase in current and non current 
financial liabilities

 (211.17)  (67.75)  2.20  (278.92)  (120.55)  (118.35)

Increase/(Decrease) in other current and  
non current liabilities

68.26  92.32  -   160.58  (291.48)  (291.48)

cash generated from operating activities 1,354.65  1,467.87  -   2,822.52  822.72  822.72 
Income taxes (paid)/refunds received (net)  (39.00)  (111.06)  -    (150.06)  573.50  573.50 
net cash generated from operating 
activities (A) 

1,315.65  1,356.81  -   2,672.46  1,396.22  1,396.22 

Cash flow from investing activities :
Expenditure incurred on investment property  (121.41)  (123.95)  -   (245.36)  (132.59)  (132.59)
Purchase of property, plant and equipment  (19.45)  (10.61)  -    (30.06)  (4.52)  (4.52)
Fixed deposits matured#  82.68  98.87  -    181.55  -    -   
Fixed deposits made#  (83.19)  (9.28)  -    (92.47)  (347.40)  (347.40)
Interest received on fixed deposits  18.83  12.08  -    30.91  1.11  1.11 
Interest received on security deposit  6.26  12.93  -    19.19  2.49  2.49 
net cash used in investing activities (B) (116.28)  (19.96)  -   (136.24)  (480.91)  (480.91)
Cash flows from financing  activities :
Finance costs paid  (388.16)  (382.57)  -    (770.73)  (592.85)  (592.85)
Proceeds from long-term borrowings  500.00  150.00  -    650.00  21,200.00  21,200.00 
Repayment of Lease liabilities  (11.02)  -    -    (11.02)  -    -   
Repayment of non convertible bonds  -    -    -    -    (256.00)  (256.00)
Repayment of long-term borrowings  -    -    -    -    (56,620.43)  (56,620.43)
Proceeds from issue of Units   -    -    -    -    38,000.00  38,000.00 
Expense incurred towards Initial public offerings  (18.08)  (958.15)  -    (976.23)  (268.14)  (268.14)
Distribution to unitholders  (1,816.81)  -    -    (1,816.81)  -    -   
Net cash (used in)/generated from 
financing activities (C) 

(1,734.07)  (1,190.72)  -   (2,924.79)  1,462.58  1,462.58 

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

# Represents fixed deposits with original maturity of more than 3 months.

Notes:

1.  The cash flow statement has been prepared in accordance with “Indirect Method” as set out in Indian Accounting Standard -7 : 
“Statement on Cash Flows”.

2.  The Trust had issued Units in exchange for investments in SPVs during the previous year ended March 31, 2021. The same has not been 
reflected in Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows since these were non-cash transactions. (Refer note 15 and 42).

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

*Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the information
in Condensed Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for the quarter and half year ended
September 30, 2020 and year ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021
 (unaudited) 

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 
(unaudited) 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020
 (unaudited)* 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021

 (unaudited) 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021

(unaudited) 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

(Audited)* 

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and  
cash equivalents (A+B+c) 

 (534.70)  146.13  -    (388.57)  2,377.89  2,377.89 

cash and cash equivalents at the 
beginning of the quarter/period

 3,301.32  3,155.19  -    3,155.19  -    -   

cash and cash equivalents acquired due 
to asset acquisition: 

 -    -    -    -    777.30  777.30 

cash and cash equivalents at the end of 
the quarter/period (refer note 10)

 2,766.62  3,301.32  -    2,766.62  3,155.19  3,155.19 

components of cash and cash equivalents 
at the end of the quarter/period
Balances with banks 
-  in current account  178.65  468.10  -    178.65  1,132.32  1,132.32 
-  in deposit account  2,437.00  2,440.00  -    2,437.00  590.00  590.00 
-  in escrow account  150.97  393.22  -    150.97  1,432.87  1,432.87 

 2,766.62  3,301.32  -    2,766.62  3,155.19  3,155.19 
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Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Changes in Unitholder’s Equity 
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(A)  unIt cAPItAL

unit in nos. Amount
Balance as on July 17, 2020*  -    -   
Add: Units issued (refer note 15)  302,801,601  83,270.44 
Less: Issue expenses  -    (1,495.66)
Balance as at March 31, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Balance as on April 1, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Less: Issue expenses  -    (12.94)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021#  -    (297.05)
Balance as at September 30, 2021  302,801,601  81,464.79 

(B)  otHEr EQuItY 

Particulars  retained 
earnings 

Balance at July 17, 2020*  -   
Add: Profit for the period ended March 31, 2021  253.03 
Add: Other comprehensive income for the period ended March 31, 2021  (0.28)
Balance as at March 31, 2021  252.75 
Balance as on April 1, 2021  252.75 
Add: Profit for the half year ended September 30, 2021 1,421.16
Add: Other comprehensive income for the half year ended September 30, 2021  0.96 
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021#  (1,519.76)
Balance as at September 30, 2021 155.11

# The distributions made by Trust to its Unitholders are based on the Net Distributable Cash flows (NDCF) of Brookfield India REIT 
under the REIT Regulations. (Refer foot note 2 of Net Distributable Cash Flows of Brookfield India REIT - Standalone)

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

* Since Brookfield India REIT was registered pursuant to a trust deed dated July 17, 2020, the management has provided the 
information in Condensed Consolidated Statement of changes in Unitholder’s Equity with effect from said date i.e. July 17, 2020 for 
period ended March 31, 2021.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

S. 
no. Particulars

As at September 30, 2021 As at March 31, 2021
Book Value Fair value Book Value Fair value

A Assets 108,980.51 125,341.14  109,789.63  123,626.13
(refer note 2 below)

B Liabilities  (27,360.61)  (27,360.61)  (27,762.10)  (27,762.10)
C net Assets (A-B) 81,619.90 97,980.53  82,027.53  95,864.03 
D No. of units  302,801,601  302,801,601  302,801,601  302,801,601 
E NAV per unit (C/D) 269.55 323.58  270.90  316.59 

Measurement of fair values 
The fair value of investment properties and investment property under development has been determined by 
independent external property valuers, having appropriately recognised professional qualifications and recent 
experience in the location and category of the properties being valued.

Valuation technique
 The fair value measurement of the investment properties and investment property under development has been 
categorized as a Level 3 fair value based on the inputs to the valuation technique used.

The valuers have followed a Discounted Cash Flow method. The discounted cash flow method considers the present value 
of net cash flows to be generated from the respective properties, taking into account the expected rental growth rate, 
vacancy period, occupancy rate, average sq. ft. rent and lease incentive costs. The expected net cash flows are discounted 
using the risk adjusted discount rates. Among other factors, the discount rate estimation considers the quality of a 
building and its location (prime vs secondary), tenant credit quality, lease terms and investors expected return.

For fair valuation of financial assets and financial liabilities refer note 36.

notes
1.   Candor Kolkata has plans to de-notify a portion of its SEZ into non SEZ. The denotification will be taken up prior 

to the construction commencement and is procedural in nature. Hence, the fair valuation of such SEZ portion has 
been computed by the valuers assuming non IT use.

2.   Project wise break up of Fair value of Assets :

 As at September 30, 2021

Entity and Property name
Fair value of Investment 

property and Investment 
property under development

other assets at 
book value total assets

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  70,105.00 3,535,23 73,640.23
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  20,687.00 784.37 21,471.37
Festus Properties Private Limited  25,807.00  1,873.49  27,680.49 
Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  -    101.21  101.21 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust  -    2,447.84  2,447.84 

 116,599.00 8,742.14 125,341.14
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Statement of Net Assets at Fair Value
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

 As at March 31, 2021

Entity and Property name
Fair value of Investment 

property and Investment 
property under development

other assets at 
book value total assets

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  69,195.00  4,245.24  73,440.24 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  20,121.00  787.97  20,908.97 
Festus Properties Private Limited  25,492.00  1,907.93  27,399.93 
Candor India Office Parks Private Limited  -    211.78  211.78 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust  -    1,665.21  1,665.21 

 114,808.00  8,818.13  123,626.13 

  a.  Fair values of assets as disclosed above are the fair values of the total assets of all SPVs as included in the 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.     

 b.  Fair values of investment property and investment property under development as at September 30, 2021 as 
disclosed above are solely based on the fair valuation report of the independent external valuer appointed 
under the REIT Regulations.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

Statement of Total Return at Fair Value
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2) 

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

S. 
no. Particulars

For the  
half year ended  

September 30, 2021 

From  
July 17, 2020 to  
March 31, 2021

A Total comprehensive Income 1,422.12  252.75 
B Add/(Less) :  Changes in fair value not recognized 

- Investment Property 2,524.12  521.82 
C (A+B) total return 3,946.24  774.57 

In the above statement, changes in fair value for the period ended September 30, 2021 has been computed based on 
the difference in fair values of investment properties and investment property under development as at September 
30, 2021 and  March 31, 2021 after adjusting change in book value of investment properties and investment property 
under development. The fair values of the aforementioned assets as at September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021 are 
solely based on the valuation report of the independent valuer appointed under the REIT Regulations.   
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Sr.  
no. Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 

September 30, 2021 

For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 2021 
1 Cash flows received from Asset SPVs, CIOP/Operating Service 

Provider and any investment entity in the form of:
 Interest (net of applicable taxes, if any)  1,315.26  1,529.03  2,844.29 

 Dividends (net of applicable taxes, if any)  30.00  150.00  180.00 

  Repayment of Shareholder Debt (or debentures and other 
similar instruments)

 605.00  297.00  902.00 

  Proceeds from buy-backs/capital reduction/redemptions (net 
of applicable taxes)

 -    -    -   

2 Add: Proceeds from sale, (transfer or liquidation or redemption 
or otherwise realization) of investments (including cash 
equivalents), assets or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs, or any 
form of fund raise at Brookfield REIT level, adjusted for the 
following:

 -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -   

  Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -   

 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -   

  Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -   

  Investment in shares or debentures or shareholder debt of 
Asset SPVs and/or CIOP/Operating Service Provider or other 
similar investments

 -    -    -   

  Lending to Assets SPVs and/or CIOP/Operating Service 
Provider

 -    -    -   

3 Add: Proceeds from sale (transfer or liquidation or 
redemption or otherwise realization) of investments, assets or 
shares of/ interest in Asset SPVs not distributed pursuant to 
an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT Regulations, if such 
proceeds are not intended to be invested subsequently

 -    -    -   

4 Add: Any other income received at the Brookfield REIT level 
and not captured herein, or refund/waiver/cessation of any 
expenses/liability.

 9.40  1.14  10.54 

5 Less: Any other expense (whether in the nature of revenue or 
capital expenditure) or any liability or other payouts required 
at the Brookfield REIT level, and not captured herein

 (40.26)  (32.34)  (72.60)

6 Less: Any payment of fees, including but not limited to:
 Trustee fees  (2.95)  (2.21)  (5.16)

 REIT Management Fees  (22.95)  -    (22.95)

 Valuer fees  (0.98)  (4.84)  (5.82)

 Legal and professional fees  (10.25)  (1.72) (11.97)

 Trademark license fees  -    -    -   

 Secondment fees  -    -    -   

7 Add: Cash flow received from Asset SPV and investment entity, 
if any including to the extent not covered above:
 repayment of the debt in case of investments by way of debt  -    -    -   

 proceeds from buy-backs/capital reduction  -    -    -   

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(i) Brookfield India REIT - Standalone

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016

Sr.  
no. Particulars

 For the  
quarter ended 

September 30, 2021 

For the  
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021

 For the  
half year ended 

September 30, 2021 
8 Add/(Less): Debt drawdown/(payment) of interest and 

repayment on external debt (including any loans, bonds, 
debentures or other form of debt funding) at the Brookfield 
REIT level

 -    -    -   

9 Less: Income tax and other taxes (if applicable) at the 
standalone Brookfield REIT level (net of any tax refunds)

 (3.83)  (0.24)  (4.07)

10 Add/(Less): Cash inflows and outflows in relation to any real 
estate properties held directly by the Brookfield REIT, to the 
extent not covered above (if any)

 -    -    -   

11 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to net 
changes in security deposits, working capital, etc.

 68.83  8.95  77.78 

 ndcF  1,947.27  1,944.77  3,892.04 

The difference between SPV level NDCF and REIT level NDCF is primarily on account of utilization of opening cash at the 
SPV level.

notes:

1   The Board of Directors of the Manager to the Trust, in their meeting held on November 09, 2021, have declared distribution to 
Unitholders of `6.00 per unit which aggregates to `1,816.81 million for the quarter ended September 30, 2021. The distributions of 
`6.00 per unit comprises `3.88 per unit in the form of interest payment on shareholder loan, `0.09 per unit in the form of dividend, 
`2.00 per unit in the form of repayment of SPV debt and the balance `0.03 per unit in the form of interest on fixed deposit.

2  The Board of Directors of the Manager to the Trust, in their meeting held on August 10, 2021, had approved distribution to 
Unitholders of `6.00 per unit which aggregated to `1,816.81 million for the quarter ended June 30, 2021. The distributions of 
`6.00 per unit comprised of 4̀.57 per unit in the form of interest payment on shareholder loan and CCD’s, `0.45 per unit in the 
form of dividend, `0.98 per unit in the form of repayment of SPV debt and the balance `0.003 per unit in the form of interest on 
fixed deposit.

3  Statement of Net Distributable cash flows has not been disclosed for all the comparative periods except for quarter ending  
June 30, 2021, since the first distribution of the REIT as stated in Final Offer Document was made upon completion of the first full 
quarter ie. quarter ended June 30, 2021 after the listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges. 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(i) Brookfield India REIT - Standalone

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016
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(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the quarter ended September 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

1 Profit/(Loss)after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

(129.70)  (35.44)  13.99  (157.60) (308.75)

Adjustment
2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 

Statement of profit and loss
 164.44  71.09  0.22  64.26  300.01 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager.
For example, any decrease/increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognised in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of the 
asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per effective 
interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents recognised on 
a straight line basis, etc.

(48.97)  (13.47)  1.45  58.28 (2.71)

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/disposal/liquidation of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
other assets or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale/liquidation/transfer/disposal of real 
estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), assets 
or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -    -   
  Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   
 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   
 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   
  Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

  Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested 
subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 754.06  116.50  -    256.94  1,127.50 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/prepaid expenditure, etc.

 (109.18)  69.26  12.55  77.23  49.86 

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalised overheads, etc.

 (84.03)  (56.73)  (0.09)  (0.03)  (140.88)

notes:

1  Statement of Net Distributable cash flows has not been disclosed for all the comparative periods except for quarter ending  
June 30, 2021, since the first distribution of the REIT as stated in Final Offer Document was made upon completion of the first 
full quarter ie. quarter ended June 30, 2021 after the listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the quarter ended September 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/drawdown/(redemption) of 
preference shares/debentures/any other such instrument/
premiums/accrued interest/any other obligations/liabilities 
etc., to parties other than Brookfield REIT, as may be deemed 
necessary by the Manager.

 229.33  62.34  -    51.08  342.75 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if applicable).

 -    -    -    -    -   

total adjustments (B) 905.65  248.99  14.13  507.76 1,676.53
ndcF (c) = (A+B) 775.95  213.55  28.12  350.16 1,367.78
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(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the quarter ended June 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

1 Loss after tax as per statement of profit and loss 
(standalone) (A)

 (81.08)  (37.18)  (8.96)  (128.02)  (255.24)

Adjustment
2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 

Statement of profit and loss
 166.16  71.29  0.20  64.25  301.90 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager. 
For example, any decrease/increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognised in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of the 
asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per effective 
interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents recognised on 
a straight line basis, etc.

 (33.40)  (3.43)  (0.18)  54.25  17.24 

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/disposal/liquidation of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
other assets or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale/liquidation/transfer/disposal of real 
estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), assets 
or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -    -   
  Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   
 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   
 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   
  Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

  Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested 
subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 757.36  118.17  -    249.83  1,125.36 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/prepaid expenditure, etc.*

 796.21  51.90  57.67  (115.67)  790.11 

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalised overheads, etc.

 (41.34)  (92.43)  (0.71)  (0.08)  (134.56)

notes:

1  Statement of Net Distributable cash flows has not been disclosed for all the comparative periods except for quarter ending  
June 30, 2021, since the first distribution of the REIT as stated in Final Offer Document was made upon completion of the first 
full quarter ie. quarter ended June 30, 2021 after the listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges. 

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV 

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the quarter ended June 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/drawdown/(redemption) of 
preference shares/debentures/any other such instrument/
premiums/accrued interest/any other obligations/liabilities 
etc., to parties other than Brookfield REIT, as may be deemed 
necessary by the Manager.

 -    88.47  -    -    88.47 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if applicable).

 -    -    -    -    -   

total adjustments (B)  1,644.99  233.97  56.98  252.58  2,188.52 
ndcF (c) = (A+B)  1,563.91  196.79  48.02  124.56  1,933.28 

*NDCF for the quarter includes NDCF for the period February 8, 2021 to March 31, 2021 amounting to `759.47 million which has 
been included in other adjustment.
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(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the half year ended September 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

1 Profit/(Loss) after tax as per statement of profit and 
loss (standalone) (A)

(210.78)  (72.62)  5.03  (285.62) (563.99)

Adjustment
2 Add: Depreciation, amortization and impairment as per 

Statement of profit and loss
 330.60  142.38  0.42  128.51  601.91 

3 Add/(Less): Any other item of non-cash expense/non -cash 
income (net of actual cash flows for these items), as may be 
deemed necessary by the Manager.
For example, any decrease/increase in carrying amount of 
an asset or of a liability recognised in statement of profit 
and loss/income and expenditure on measurement of the 
asset or the liability at fair value, interest cost as per effective 
interest rate method, deferred tax, lease rents recognised on 
a straight line basis, etc.

(82.38)  (16.90)  1.27  112.53 14.52

4 Add/less: Loss/gain on sale. transfer/disposal/liquidation of 
real estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), 
other assets or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs.

 -    -    -    -    -   

5 Add: Proceeds from sale/liquidation/transfer/disposal of real 
estate assets, investments (including cash equivalents), assets 
or shares of/interest in Asset SPVs, adjusted for the following:

 -    -    -    -    -   

 Applicable capital gains and other taxes  -    -    -    -    -   
  Related debts settled or due to be settled from sale proceeds  -    -    -    -    -   
 Any acquisition  -    -    -    -    -   
 Directly attributable transaction costs  -    -    -    -    -   
  Proceeds reinvested or planned to be reinvested as per REIT 
Regulations

 -    -    -    -    -   

  Investment in any form as permitted under the REIT 
Regulations as may be deemed necessary by the Manager

 -    -    -    -    -   

6 Add: Proceeds from sale of real estate assets, investments, 
assets or sale of shares of Asset SPVs not distributed 
pursuant to an earlier plan to re-invest as per REIT 
Regulations, if such proceeds are not intended to be invested 
subsequently.

 -    -    -    -    -   

7 Add: Interest (or other similar payments) on Shareholder 
Debt (or on debentures or other instruments held by the 
Brookfield REIT) charged/debited to the statement of profit 
and loss.

 1,511.42  234.67  -    506.77  2,252.86 

8 Add/(Less): Other adjustments, including but not limited to 
net changes in security deposits, working capital, deferred/
prepaid income or deferred/prepaid expenditure, etc.*

 687.03  121.16  70.22  (38.44)  839.97 

9 Less: Any expense in the nature of capital expenditure 
including capitalized interest thereon (to the parties other 
than Brookfield REIT), capitalised overheads, etc.

 (125.37)  (149.16)  (0.80)  (0.11)  (275.44)

notes:

1  Statement of Net Distributable cash flows has not been disclosed for all the comparative periods except for quarter ending  
June 30, 2021, since the first distribution of the REIT as stated in Final Offer Document was made upon completion of the first full 
quarter ie. quarter ended June 30, 2021 after the listing of the Units on the Stock Exchanges.

Significant accounting policies (refer note 2)

The accompanying notes from 1 to 46 form an integral part of these Condensed Consolidated financial statements.

As per our report of even date attached
For dELoIttE HASKInS & SELLS For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Chartered Accountants Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
Firm Registration No.: 015125N (as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Anand Subramanian
Partner 
Membership No: 110815
Place: Bengaluru 
Date: November 09, 2021

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

(ii) Calculation of net distributable  
cash flows at each Asset SPV

Additional disclosures as required by Paragraph 6 to SEBI circular No.  
CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   
Net Distributable Cash Flows (NDCF) pursuant to guidance under Paragraph 6 to  
SEBI circular No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016   

Sr. 
no. Particulars

For the half year ended September 30, 2021
candor 
Kolkata

SPPL 
noida cIoP Festus total

10 Add/(Less): Net debt (repayment)/drawdown/(redemption) of 
preference shares/debentures/any other such instrument/
premiums/accrued interest/any other obligations/liabilities 
etc., to parties other than Brookfield REIT, as may be deemed 
necessary by the Manager.

229.33  150.81  -    51.08  431.22 

11 Add: Cash inflows in relation to equity/non-refundable 
advances, etc.

 -    -    -    -    -   

12 Less: Any dividends on or proceeds from repayments or 
redemptions or buy-backs or capital reduction of shares 
(including compulsory convertible instruments), held by 
anyone other than the Brookfield REIT (either directly or 
indirectly), and any taxes thereon (including any dividend 
distribution tax or buy back distribution tax, etc., if applicable).

 -   - - -  -   

total adjustments (B) 2,550.63  482.96  71.11  760.34 3,865.04
ndcF (c) = (A+B) 2,339.85  410.34  76.14  474.72 3,301.05

*NDCF for the half year includes NDCF for the period February 8, 2021 to March 31, 2021 amounting to `759.47 million which has 
been included in other adjustment.
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1 orGAnIzAtIon StructurE

  The interim Condensed Consolidated financial 
statements (‘Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements’) comprise financial statements of 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (‘Brookfield 
India REIT’ or ‘Trust’) and its subsidiaries namely 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited (‘SPPL 
Noida’), Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited (‘Candor Kolkata’), Festus Properties 
Private Limited (‘Festus’) and Candor India Office 
Parks Private Limited (‘CIOP’) (individually referred 
to as ‘Special Purpose Vehicle’ or ‘SPV’ and together 
referred to as ‘Brookfield India REIT Portfolio 
companies’ or ‘Group’). The SPVs are companies 
domiciled in India.

  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited 
(the ‘Settlor’) has set up the Brookfield India Real 
Estate Trust on July 17, 2020, as an irrevocable trust, 
pursuant to the Trust Deed, under the provisions of 
the Indian Trusts Act, 1882 and the Trust has been 
registered with SEBI as a Real Estate Investment Trust 
on September 14, 2020 under Regulation 6 of the 
Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014. The Trustee 
to Brookfield India Real Estate Trust is Axis Trustee 
Services Limited (the ‘Trustee’) and the Manager 
for Brookfield India Real Estate Trust is Brookprop 
Management Services Private Limited (the ‘Manager’).

  The objectives of Brookfield India REIT is to 
undertake activities in accordance with the 
provisions of the SEBI REIT Regulations and the Trust 
Deed. The principal activity of Brookfield India REIT is 
to own and invest in rent or income generating real 
estate and related assets in India with the objective 
of producing stable and sustainable distributions to 
Unitholders.

  Brookfield India REIT acquired the following SPVs by 
acquiring all the equity interest held by the Sponsor 
and certain members of Sponsor Group (refer note 
40) on February 8, 2021. In exchange for these equity 
interests, the above shareholders have been allotted 
127,892,403 Units of Brookfield India REIT valued at 
`275/- each.

  Brookfield India REIT went public as per its plan 
for Initial Public Offer of Units after obtaining the 
required approvals from the relevant authorities. The 
Units were allotted to the successful applicants on 
February 8, 2021 and February 11, 2021.

  All these Units were subsequently listed on the 
National Stock Exchange (NSE) and Bombay Stock 
Exchange (BSE) on February 16, 2021.

 The brief activities and shareholding pattern of the SPVs are provided below:

name of SPV Activities Shareholding up to  
February 8, 2021 (in percentage)

Shareholding from  
February 8, 2021 (in percentage)

SPPL Noida Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS sector in Sector 62, Noida, 
Uttar Pradesh.

BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 100%
BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 0.00%  
(10 Shares)

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

Candor Kolkata Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS Special Economic Zone 
(SEZ) in New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata 
and Sector 21, Dundahera Gurugram.

BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. 
Ltd.: 99.97%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. 
Ltd.: 0.03%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

CIOP Providing management related 
service including facilities 
management service and property 
management services.

BSREP Moon C1 L.P.: 99.99%
BSREP Moon C2 L.P. : 0.01%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech 
Structures Private Limited : 
0.00% (1 shares) (as nominee of 
Brookfield India REIT)

Festus Developing and leasing of commercial 
real estate property in India, primarily 
in IT/ITeS Special Economic Zone 
(SEZ) in Powai, Mumbai.

Kairos Property Managers Pvt. 
Ltd.:10.76%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II  
Pte. Ltd.:89.24%

Brookfield India REIT : 100%
Candor India Office Parks Private 
Limited : 0.00% (1 shares) (as 
nominee of Brookfield India REIT)

2.   BASIS oF PrEPArAtIon And SIGnIFIcAnt 
AccountInG PoLIcIES

2.1   Basis of preparation of condensed 
Consolidated financial statements

  The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
of Brookfield India REIT comprises the Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheet as at 30 September 
2021, the Condensed Consolidated Statement of 
Profit and Loss (including other comprehensive 
income) and the Condensed Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flow for the quarter and half year ended 
September 30, 2021, the Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for the 
half year ended September 30, 2021, the Statement 
of Net Assets at fair value as at September 30, 2021, 
the Statement of Total Returns at fair value for the 
half year ended September 30, 2021, the Statement 
of Net Distributable Cash Flow of Brookfield India 
REIT and each of the SPVs for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2021 a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information and other additional financial disclosures 
as required under the SEBI (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014. The Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized 
for issue in accordance with resolutions passed by 
the Board of Directors of the Manager on behalf of 
the Brookfield India REIT on November 09, 2021. The 
Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements have 
been prepared in accordance with the requirements 
of SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 
2014, as amended from time to time read with 
the SEBI circular number CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 
dated 29 December 2016 (“REIT Regulations”) ; 
Indian Accounting Standard (Ind AS) 34 “Interim 
Financial Reporting”, as defined in Rule 2(1)(a) of the 
Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 
2015 (‘Ind AS’) to the extent not inconsistent with the 
REIT Regulations (refer note 15(a)(i) on presentation 
of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” instead of compound 
instruments under Ind AS 32 – Financial Instruments: 
Presentation), read with relevant rules issued 
thereunder and other accounting principles generally 
accepted in India.

  Accordingly, these interim condensed consolidated 
financial statements do not include all the 
information required for a complete set of financial 
statements. These interim condensed consolidated 
financial statements should be read in conjunction 
with the consolidated financial statements and 

related notes included in the Company’s consolidated 
financial statements under IND AS for the period 
ended March 31, 2021. Accounting policies have been 
consistently applied except where a newly issued 
accounting standard is initially adopted or a revision 
to an existing accounting standard requires a change 
in the accounting policy hitherto in use.

The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements are 
presented in Indian Rupees in Millions, except when 
otherwise indicated.

2.2 Significant accounting policies
a) Basis of consolidation
  The Brookfield India REIT consolidates entities which 

it owns or controls. The Condensed Consolidated 
Financial Statements comprise the financial 
statements of the Brookfield India REIT and its 
subsidiary SPVs as disclosed in Note 1. Control 
exists when the parent has power over the entity, 
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from 
its involvement with the entity and has the ability 
to affect those returns by using its power over the 
entity. Power is demonstrated through existing 
rights that give the ability to direct relevant activities, 
those which significantly affect the entity’s returns. 
Subsidiaries are consolidated from the date control 
commences until the date control ceases. 

  The procedure adopted for preparing Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements of Brookfield India 
REIT is stated below:

 i)   The Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements have been prepared using the 
principles of consolidation as per Ind AS 110 - 
Consolidated Financial Statements.

 ii)   The financial statements of the Group are 
consolidated by combining/adding like items of 
assets, liabilities, equity, income, expenses and 
cash flows.

 iii)  Intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, 
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions 
between entities of Brookfield India REIT are 
eliminated in full;

 iv)   The figures in the notes to accounts and 
disclosures have been Consolidated line by 
line and intragroup transactions and balances 
including unrealized profit are eliminated in full 
on consolidation.
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b)  Functional and presentation currency
  The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

are presented in Indian rupees, which is Brookfield 
India REIT’s functional currency and the currency 
of the primary economic environment in which 
Brookfield India REIT operates. All financial 
information presented in Indian rupees has been 
rounded off to nearest million except unit and per 
unit data.

c)  Basis of measurement 
  The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

have been prepared on historical cost basis except 
for certain financial instruments measured at 
fair value at the end of each reporting period as 
explained in the accounting policies below.

  The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.

d)  use of judgments and estimates 
  The preparation of Condensed Consolidated 

Financial Statements in conformity with generally 
accepted accounting principles in India (Ind AS), to 
the extent not inconsistent with the REIT regulations, 
requires management to make estimates and 
assumptions that affect the reported amounts 
of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual 
results could differ from those estimates.

  Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed 
on a periodic basis. Revisions to accounting estimates 
are recognized in the period in which the estimates 
are revised and in any future periods affected.

  Information about significant areas of estimation 
uncertainty and critical judgements in applying 
accounting policies that have the most significant 
effect on the amounts recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements is included in the 
following notes:

 (i)  presentation of “Unit Capital” as “Equity” in 
accordance with the REIT Regulations instead of 
compound instrument (Note 15)

 (ii)  determination of useful life and residual values 
of investment property and property, plant and 
equipment (Note 2.2 (g) and (h))

 (iii)  classification of assets as investment property 
or as property, plant and equipment (Note 2.2 
(g) and (h))

 (iv)  determination of recoverable amount/fair value 
of investment property (Note 2.2 (g), and  
Note 41)

 (v)  impairment of financial assets, property, plant 
and equipment and intangible assets (Note 2.2 
(i) and (l))

 (vi)  recognition and measurement of provisions 
for contingencies and disclosure of contingent 
liabilities (Note 2.2 (q) and Note 34)

 (vii) determination of lease term (Note 2.2 (n))

 (viii)  recognition/recoverability of deferred tax assets 
(Note 2.2 (p))

e)  Current versus non-current classification 
  Brookfield India REIT presents assets and liabilities 

in the Condensed Consolidated Balance Sheet based 
on current/non-current classification:

  An asset is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

    it is expected to be realized in, or is intended for 
sale or consumption in, the normal operating 
cycle;

    it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

     it is expected to be realized within 12 months 
after the reporting date; or

    it is cash or cash equivalent unless it is 
restricted from being exchanged or used to 
settle a liability for at least 12 months after the 
reporting date. 

  Brookfield India REIT classifies all other assets as 
non-current.

  A liability is classified as current when it satisfies any 
of the following criteria:

    it is expected to be settled in normal operating 
cycle of Brookfield India REIT;

    it is held primarily for the purpose of being 
traded;

    it is due to be settled within 12 months after the 
reporting date; or

    the Brookfield India REIT does not have an 
unconditional right to defer settlement of the 
liability for at least 12 months after the reporting 
date. Terms of a liability that could, at the option 
of the counterparty, result in its settlement by 
the issue of equity instruments do not affect its 
classification. 

  Brookfield India REIT classifies all other liabilities as 
non-current.

  Current assets/liabilities include current portion of 
non-current financial assets/liabilities respectively. 
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are classified as 
non-current assets and liabilities. 

f)  Fair value measurement 
  Fair value is the price that would be received to sell 

an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly 
transaction between market participants at the 
measurement date, regardless of whether that price 
is directly observable or estimated using another 
valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of 
an asset or a liability, Brookfield India REIT takes into 
account the characteristics of the asset or liability 
and how market participants would take those 
characteristics into account when pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. 

  Inputs to fair value measurement techniques are 
disaggregated into three hierarchical levels, which 
are directly based on the degree to which inputs to 
fair value measurement techniques are observable 
by market participants: 

    Level 1: Inputs are unadjusted, quoted prices in 
active markets for identical assets or liabilities at 
the measurement date.

    Level 2: Inputs (other than quoted prices 
included in Level 1) are either directly or 
indirectly observable for the asset or liability 
through correlation with market data at the 
measurement date and for the duration of the 
asset’s or liability’s anticipated life. 

    Level 3: Inputs are unobservable and reflect 
management’s best estimate of what market 
participants would use in pricing the asset or 
liability at the measurement date. Consideration 
is given to the risk inherent in the valuation 
technique and the risk inherent in the inputs in 
determining the estimate.

  Fair value measurements are adopted by Brookfield 
India REIT to calculate the carrying amounts of 
various assets and liabilities. 

g)  Investment properties 
 Recognition and measurement
  Investment property consists of commercial 

properties which are primarily held to earn rental 
income and commercial developments that are 
being constructed or developed for future use as 
commercial properties. The cost of commercial 
development properties includes direct development 
costs, realty taxes and borrowing costs directly 
attributable to the development. Subsequent 
to initial recognition, investment property is 
measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and 
impairment losses, if any.

  Equipment and furnishings physically attached and 
integral to a building are considered to be part of the 
investment property.

 Subsequent expenditure and disposal
  Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the 

investment property’s carrying amount only when it 
is probable that future economic benefits associated 
with the expenditure will flow to the Brookfield India 
REIT and the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The cost of the assets not ready for its 
intended use before such date, are disclosed as 
investment property under development. All other 
repairs and maintenance costs are expensed when 
incurred. When part of an investment property is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized. 

  Any gain or loss from disposal of an investment 
property is recognized in Statement of profit  
and loss.
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 Depreciation
  Investment property is depreciated using the 

straight-line method over their estimated useful lives. 
The useful lives of the assets have been determined 
by management after considering nature of assets, 
the estimated usage of the assets, the operating 
conditions of the assets, past history of replacement 
and maintenance support. 

  The asset’s residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

  The useful lives of the investment property are 
tabulated as below:

Particulars useful Life (Years)

Buildings 60

Plant and Machinery 4 – 15 

Furniture and Fixtures 10 – 12

Electrical fittings 4 – 15

Diesel generator sets 15 – 25

Air conditioners 5 – 15 

Office Equipment 5 – 12

Kitchen Equipment 5

Computers 3 – 6

Right of Use (Leasehold Land) As per lease term

  The fair value of investment property is disclosed in 
the statement of net assets at fair value. Fair values 
are determined by an independent valuer who holds 
a recognized and relevant professional qualification 
and has recent experience in the location and 
category of the investment property being valued.

h)   Property, plant and equipment and intangible 
assets 

 Recognition and measurement
  Property, plant and equipment are measured at cost 

less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses, if any.

  Cost of an item of property, plant and equipment 
comprises the purchase price, including import 
duties and other non-refundable purchase taxes and 
any directly attributable cost of bringing the asset to 
its working condition for its intended use. Any trade 
discounts and rebates are deducted in arriving at the 
purchase price.

  If significant parts of an item of property, plant and 
equipment have different useful lives, then they are 
accounted for as separate items (major components) 
of property, plant and equipment. Likewise, on initial 
recognition expenditure to be incurred towards 
major inspections and overhauls are required to be 
identified as a separate component and depreciated 
over the expected period till the next overhaul 
expenditure.

 Subsequent expenditure and disposal
  Subsequent expenditure is capitalized to the 

property, plant and equipment’s carrying amount 
only when it is probable that future economic 
benefits associated with the expenditure will flow 
to the Brookfield India REIT and the cost of the item 
can be measured reliably. All other repairs and 
maintenance costs are expensed when incurred. 
When part of a property, plant and equipment is 
replaced, the carrying amount of the replaced part is 
derecognized. 

  Any gain or loss from disposal of a property, plant 
and equipment is recognized in Statement of profit 
and loss.

 Depreciation
  Property, plant and equipment are depreciated 

using the straight-line method over their estimated 
useful lives. The useful lives of the assets have been 
determined by management after considering nature 
of assets, the estimated usage of the assets, the 
operating conditions of the assets, past history of 
replacement and maintenance support.

  The asset’s residual values and useful lives are 
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of 
each reporting period.

  Depreciation on additions (disposals) is provided 
on pro-rata basis i.e. from (up to) the date on which 
asset is ready for use (disposed off).

  Leasehold improvements are depreciated over 
primary period of lease or the useful life of the asset, 
whichever is lower. 

  Estimated useful lives of items of property, plant and 
equipment are tabulated as follows: -

Particulars useful Life (Years)

Buildings 60

Plant and Machinery 5 – 20

Furniture and Fixtures 5 – 14

Electrical fittings 10

Air conditioners 5 – 15

Office Equipment 4 – 15

Kitchen Equipment 5

Vehicle 8

Computers 3 – 14

Computer Software 5

  Intangible assets comprise purchase of software. 
Intangible assets are carried at cost and amortized 
over a period of 5 years, which represents the period 
over which the Brookfield India REIT expects to 
derive economic benefits from the use of the assets.

  The estimated useful life of the intangible assets and 
the amortization period are reviewed at the end of 
each reporting period and the amortization period is 
revised to reflect the changed pattern, if any.

i)  Impairment of non-financial assets 
  Brookfield India REIT assesses, at each reporting 

date, whether there is an indication that a non-
financial asset other than deferred tax assets 
may be impaired. If any indication exists, or when 
annual impairment testing for an asset is required, 
the Brookfield India REIT estimates the asset’s 
recoverable amount. Goodwill is tested annually for 
impairment.

  An impairment loss is recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss if the 
carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit (CGU) exceeds its recoverable amount. 
Impairment loss recognized in respect of a CGU is 
allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the CGU, and then to reduce 
the carrying amounts of the other assets of the CGU 
on a pro rata basis. A CGU is the smallest identifiable 
asset group that generates cash flows that are largely 
independent from other assets and groups. 

  Impairment losses are recognized in the Condensed 
Consolidated Statement of Profit and Loss, unless it 

reverses previous revaluation credited to equity, in 
which case it is charged to equity.

  Goodwill (if any) arising from a business combination 
is allocated to CGUs or group of CGUs that are 
expected to benefit from the synergies of the 
combination.

  An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and its value in use. In estimating value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their 
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments of the time 
value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In 
determining fair value less costs of disposal, recent 
market transactions are taken into account. For the 
purpose of impairment testing, assets that cannot 
be tested individually are grouped together into the 
smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows 
from continuing use that are largely independent of 
the cash inflows of other assets or CGU.

  Impairment losses recognized in prior periods are 
assessed at each reporting date for any indications 
that the loss has decreased or no longer exists. 
An impairment loss is reversed if there has been 
a change in the estimates used to determine the 
recoverable amount. An impairment loss in respect 
of goodwill is not subsequently reversed. In respect 
of other assets, such a reversal is made only to the 
extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been 
determined, net of depreciation, if no impairment 
loss had been recognized.

j)  Foreign currency transactions 
  Items included in the financial statements of the 

Brookfield India REIT are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment 
in which the Brookfield India REIT operates (‘the 
functional currency’). The financial statements 
are presented in Indian rupee (INR), which is the 
Brookfield India REIT functional and presentation 
currency. 

  Foreign currency transactions in currencies other 
than the functional currency are translated into 
the functional currency using the exchange rates 
at the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange 
gains or losses resulting from the settlement of such 
transactions and from the translation of monetary 
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assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies at reporting period end exchange rates 
are generally recognized in the Statement of profit 
and loss. 

k)   Errors, estimates and change in accounting 
policies

  The Brookfield India REIT revises its accounting 
policies if the change is required due to a change in 
Ind AS or if the change will provide more relevant and 
reliable information to the users of the Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements. Changes in 
accounting policies are applied retrospectively, 
wherever applicable.

  A change in an accounting estimate that results 
in changes in the carrying amounts of recognised 
assets or liabilities or to profit or loss is applied 
prospectively in the period(s) of change. Discovery of 
errors results in revisions retrospectively by restating 
the comparative amounts of assets, liabilities and 
equity of the earliest prior period in which the error 
is discovered. The opening balances of the earliest 
period presented are also restated. 

l)  Financial instruments 
  A financial instrument is any contract that gives 

rise to a financial asset of one entity and a financial 
liability or equity instrument of another entity. 

 (i)  Financial Assets - Recognition 
   All financial assets are recognized initially at fair 

value (except for trade receivables which are 
initially measured at transaction price) plus, in 
the case of financial assets not recorded at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs 
that are attributable to the acquisition of the 
financial asset.  

	 	 Classification	and	subsequent	measurement
   For purposes of subsequent measurement, 

financial assets are classified in four categories:

   Debt instruments at amortized cost
   A ‘debt instrument’ is measured at the 

amortized cost if both the following conditions 
are met:

  a)   The asset is held within a business model 
whose objective is to hold assets for 
collecting contractual cash flows, and

  b)   Contractual terms of the asset give rise on 
specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest (SPPI) on 
the principal amount outstanding. 

   After initial measurement, such financial assets 
are subsequently measured at amortized cost 
using the effective interest rate (EIR) method. 
Amortized cost is calculated by taking into 
account any discount or premium on acquisition 
and fees or costs that are an integral part of the 
EIR. The EIR amortization is included in interest 
income in the statement of profit and loss. The 
losses arising from impairment are recognized in 
the statement of profit and loss. 

    Debt instruments at fair value through other 
comprehensive income (FVOCI)

   A ‘debt instrument’ is classified as at the FVOCI if 
both of the following criteria are met:

  a)   The objective of the business model is 
achieved both by collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling the financial assets, 
and

  b)   The asset’s contractual cash flows 
represent SPPI.

   Debt instruments included within the FVOCI 
category are measured initially as well as at 
each reporting date at fair value. Fair value 
movements are recognized in the other 
comprehensive income (OCI). However, interest 
income, impairment losses and reversals and 
foreign exchange gain or loss is recognized in 
statement of profit and loss. On derecognition of 
the asset, cumulative gains or losses previously 
recognized in OCI is reclassified from the 
equity to statement of profit and loss. Interest 
earned whilst holding FVOCI debt instrument 
is reported as interest income using the EIR 
method.

  	 	Debt	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or loss (FVTPL)

   FVTPL is a residual category for debt 
instruments. Any debt instrument, which does 
not meet the criteria for categorization as at 
amortized cost or as FVOCI, is classified as at 
FVTPL.

   In addition, the Brookfield India REIT may elect 
to designate a debt instrument, which otherwise 
meets amortized cost or FVOCI criteria, as at 
FVTPL. However, such election is allowed only if 
doing so reduces or eliminates a measurement 
or recognition inconsistency (referred to as 
‘accounting mismatch’). The Brookfield India  
REIT has not designated any debt instrument as 
at FVTPL.

   Debt instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit or 
loss.

    Equity instruments measured at fair value 
through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

   All equity investments in scope of Ind AS 109 
are measured at fair value. Equity instruments 
which are held for trading are classified as at 
FVTPL. For all other equity instruments, the 
Brookfield India REIT may make an irrevocable 
election to present in other comprehensive 
income subsequent changes in the fair value. 
The Brookfield India REIT makes such election 
on an instrument-by-instrument basis. The 
classification is made on initial recognition and is 
irrevocable.

   If the Brookfield India REIT decides to classify an 
equity instrument as at FVOCI, then all fair value 
changes on the instrument, excluding dividends, 
are recognized in the OCI. There is no recycling 
of the amounts from OCI to statement of profit 
and loss, even on sale of investment. However, 
the Brookfield India REIT may transfer the 
cumulative gain or loss within equity.

   Equity instruments included within the FVTPL 
category are measured at fair value with all 
changes recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss. 

 (ii)  Financial Assets - Derecognition
   A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part 

of a financial asset or part of a group of similar 
financial assets) is derecognized (i.e., removed 
from the Brookfield India REIT balance sheet) 
when:

    The rights to receive cash flows from the 
asset have expired, or

    The Brookfield India REIT has transferred its 
rights to receive cash flows from the asset 
or has assumed an obligation to pay the 
received cash flows in full without material 
delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ 
arrangement; and either (a) the Brookfield 
India REIT has transferred substantially 
all the risks and rewards of the asset, or 
(b) the Brookfield India REIT has neither 
transferred nor retained substantially all 
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has 
transferred control of the asset.

	 (iii)		 	Impairment	of	financial	assets
   Brookfield India REIT recognizes loss allowance 

using the expected credit loss (ECL) model for 
the financial assets which are not fair valued 
through profit or loss. Loss allowance for 
trade receivables with no significant financing 
component and lease receivables is measured at 
an amount equal to lifetime ECL. For all financial 
assets with contractual cash flows other than 
trade receivable and lease receivables, ECLs are 
measured at an amount equal to the 12-month 
ECL, unless there has been a significant increase 
in credit risk from initial recognition in which 
case those are measured at lifetime ECL. The 
amount of ECLs (or reversal) that is required to 
adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date, 
is recognized as an impairment gain or loss in 
the Statement of profit and loss.   

 (iv)   Financial liabilities – Recognition and Subsequent 
measurement

   Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities 
are initially measured at fair value less any 
attributable transaction costs. Subsequent to 
initial measurement, these are measured at 
amortized cost using the effective interest rate 
(‘EIR’) method or at fair value through profit or 
loss (FVTPL). 

   Brookfield India REIT financial liabilities include 
trade and other payables, loans and borrowings 
including bank overdrafts. 
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   The measurement of financial liabilities depends 
on their classification, as described below:

  	 	Financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or loss

   Financial liabilities at fair value through 
Statement of profit or loss include financial 
liabilities held for trading and financial liabilities 
designated upon initial recognition as at fair 
value through Statement of profit or loss. 
Financial liabilities are classified as held for 
trading if they are incurred for the purpose of 
repurchasing in the near term. This category 
also includes derivative financial instruments 
entered into by the Brookfield India REIT that 
are not designated as hedging instruments 
in hedge relationships as defined by Ind AS 
109. Separated embedded derivatives are also 
classified as held for trading unless they are 
designated as effective hedging instruments.

   Gains or losses on liabilities held for trading are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss.

   Financial liabilities designated upon initial 
recognition at fair value through Statement of 
profit or loss are designated as such at the initial 
date of recognition, and only if the criteria in Ind 
AS 109 are satisfied. For liabilities designated 
as FVTPL, fair value gains/losses attributable 
to changes in own credit risk are recognized in 
OCI. These gains or losses are not subsequently 
transferred to statement of profit and loss. 
However, the Brookfield India REIT may transfer 
the cumulative gains or losses within equity. All 
other changes in fair value of such liability are 
recognized in Statement of profit and loss. The 
Brookfield India REIT has not designated any 
financial liability as at fair value through profit  
or loss.

   Financial liabilities at amortized cost
   Financial liabilities that are not held for trading, 

or designated as at FVTPL, are measured 
subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

   The effective interest method is a method of 
calculating the amortized cost of a financial 
liability and of allocating interest expense over 
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is 
the rate that exactly discounts estimated future 

cash payments (including all fees and points 
paid or received that form an integral part of 
the effective interest rate, transaction costs 
and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial liability, or (where 
appropriate) a shorter period, to the amortized 
cost of a financial liability.

 (v)  Financial liabilities - Derecognition
   A financial liability is derecognized when the 

obligation under the liability is discharged or 
cancelled or expires. When an existing financial 
liability is replaced by another from the same 
lender on substantially different terms, or the 
terms of an existing liability are substantially 
modified, such an exchange or modification 
is treated as the derecognition of the original 
liability and the recognition of a new liability. 
The difference between the carrying amount of 
a financial liability that has been extinguished 
or transferred to another party and the 
consideration paid, including any non-cash 
assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is 
recognized in the Statement of profit and loss as 
other gains/(losses).

 (vi)  Income/loss recognition
   Interest income
   Interest income from debt instruments is 

recognized using the effective interest rate 
method. The effective interest rate is the 
rate that exactly discounts estimated future 
cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the gross carrying amount of 
a financial asset. While calculating the effective 
interest rate, the Brookfield India REIT estimates 
the expected cash flows by considering all the 
contractual terms of the financial instrument (for 
example, prepayment, extension, call and similar 
options) but does not consider the expected 
credit losses.

   Borrowing costs
   Borrowing cost includes interest expense as 

per effective interest rate (EIR) and exchange 
differences arising from foreign currency 
borrowings to the extent they are regarded as 
an adjustment to the interest cost. 

   Borrowing costs associated with direct 
expenditures on properties under development 
or redevelopment or property, plant and 
equipment are capitalized. The amount of 
borrowing costs capitalized is determined first 
by borrowings specific to a property where 
relevant, and then by a weighted average cost 
of borrowings to eligible expenditures after 
adjusting for borrowings associated with other 
specific developments. Where borrowings 
are associated with specific developments, 
the amount capitalized is the gross borrowing 
costs incurred less any incidental investment 
income. Borrowing costs are capitalized from 
the commencement of the development until 
the date of practical completion. The Brookfield 
India REIT considers practical completion to 
have occurred when the physical construction 
of property is completed and the property is 
substantially ready for its intended use and is 
capable of operating in the manner intended by 
management. Capitalization of borrowing costs 
is suspended and charged to the Statement 
of profit and loss during the extended periods 
when the active development on the qualifying 
assets is interrupted.

 (vii)  Embedded derivatives 
   Derivatives embedded in a host contract that 

is an asset within the scope of Ind AS 109 are 
not separated. Financial assets with embedded 
derivatives are considered in their entirety when 
determining whether their cash flows are solely 
payment of principal and interest. 

   Embedded derivatives closely related to the 
host contracts are not separated. Derivatives 
embedded in all other host contract are 
separated only if the economic characteristics 
and risks of the embedded derivative are not 
closely related to the economic characteristics 
and risks of the host and are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss.  

m)  Leases 
  At inception of a contract, the Brookfield India 

REIT assesses whether a contract is, or contains, 
a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the 
contract conveys the right to control the use of an 
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for 
consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys 
the right to control the use of an identified asset, the 
Brookfield India REIT assesses whether:

   the contract involves the use of an identified 
asset – this may be specified explicitly or 
implicitly, and should be physically distinct or 
represent substantially all of the capacity of a 
physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a 
substantive substitution right, then the asset is 
not identified;

   the Brookfield India REIT has the right to obtain 
substantially all of the economic benefits from 
use of the asset throughout the period of use; 
and

   the Brookfield India REIT has the right to direct 
the use of the asset. The Brookfield India REIT 
has this right when it has the decision making 
rights that are most relevant to changing 
how and for what purpose the asset is used. 
In rare cases where the decision about how 
and for what purpose the asset is used is 
predetermined, the Brookfield India REIT has the 
right to direct the use of the asset if either:

  –  the Brookfield India REIT has the right to 
operate the asset; or

  –  the Brookfield India REIT designed the asset 
in a way that predetermines how and for 
what purpose it will be used.

 As a lessee
  The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a right-

of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease 
commencement date. The right of use asset is initially 
measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount 
of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments 
made at or before the commencement date, plus any 
initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs 
to dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to 
restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is 
located, less any lease incentives received.

  The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated 
using the straight-line method from the 
commencement date to the earlier of the end of 
the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of 
the lease term. The estimated useful lives of right-
of-use assets are determined on the same basis as 
those of property, plant and equipment. In addition, 
the right-of-use asset is periodically reduced by 
impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain 
re-measurements of the lease liability.
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  The lease liability is initially measured at the present 
value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest 
rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be 
readily determined, the Brookfield India REIT’s 
incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Brookfield 
India REIT uses its incremental borrowing rate as the 
discount rate.

  Lease payments included in the measurement of the 
lease liability comprise the following:

   fixed payments, including in-substance fixed 
payments;

   variable lease payments that depend on an 
index or a rate, initially measured using the 
index or rate as at the commencement date;

   amounts expected to be payable under a 
residual value guarantee; and

   the exercise price under a purchase option that 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain to 
exercise, lease payments in an optional renewal 
period if the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably 
certain to exercise an extension option, and 
penalties for early termination of a lease unless 
the Brookfield India REIT is reasonably certain 
not to terminate early.

   The lease liability is measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method. 
It is remeasured when there is a change in 
future lease payments arising from a change 
in an index or rate, if there is a change in the 
Brookfield India REIT’s estimate of the amount 
expected to be payable under a residual 
value guarantee, or if the Brookfield India 
REIT changes its assessment of whether it will 
exercise a purchase, extension or termination 
option.

   When the lease liability is remeasured in this 
way, a corresponding adjustment is made to  
the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset, 
or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying 
amount of the right-of-use asset has been 
reduced to zero.

   The Brookfield India REIT presents right-of-
use assets that do not meet the definition of 
investment property in ‘property, plant and 

equipment’ and lease liabilities (current and 
non-current) in the statement of financial 
position.

   The Brookfield India REIT has elected not to 
recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities 
for short-term leases of machinery that have 
a lease term of 12 months or less and leases 
of low-value assets. The Brookfield India REIT 
recognizes the lease payments associated with 
these leases as an expense on a straight-line 
basis over the lease term.

 As a Lessor
  The Brookfield India REIT enters into lease 

agreements as a lessor with respect to its investment 
properties.

  Leases for which the Brookfield India REIT is 
a lessor are classified as finance or operating 
leases. Whenever the terms of the lease transfer 
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership 
to the lessee, the contract is classified as a finance 
lease. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases.

  When the Brookfield India REIT is an intermediate 
lessor, it accounts for the head lease and the sub-
lease as two separate contracts. The sub-lease is 
classified as a finance or operating lease by reference 
to the right-of-use asset arising from the head lease.

  Rental income from operating leases is recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant 
lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating 
and arranging an operating lease are added to the 
carrying amount of the leased asset and recognized 
on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

  Amounts due from lessees under finance leases 
are recognized as receivables at the amount of the 
Brookfield India REIT’s net investment in the leases. 
Finance lease income is allocated to accounting 
periods so as to reflect a constant periodic rate of 
return on the Brookfield India REIT’s net investment 
outstanding in respect of the leases.

  When a contract includes both lease and non-lease 
components, the Brookfield India REIT applies Ind AS 
115 to allocate the consideration under the contract 
to each component.

n)  revenue recognition
  Revenues are measured based on the transaction 

price, which is the consideration, net of tax collected 
from customers and remitted to government 
authorities such as Goods and Services tax, and 
applicable service level credits, discounts or price 
concessions. The computation of these estimates 
involves significant judgment based on various 
factors including contractual terms, historical 
experience, expense incurred etc.

 i. Income from Operating Lease Rentals 
   Assets given under operating lease are included 

in investment property. Revenue recognition 
under a lease commences when the tenant 
has a right to use the leased asset. Generally, 
this occurs on the lease commencement 
date. Rental income from operating leases is 
recognized on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease. In determining the 
lease term, management considers all facts and 
circumstances including renewal, termination 
and market conditions.

   Income from Operating Lease Rentals also 
includes percentage participating rents. 
Percentage participating rents are recognized 
when tenants’ specified sales targets have  
been met. 

 ii. Income from maintenance services 
   Income from maintenance services consists 

of revenue earned from the provision of daily 
maintenance, security and administration 
services, and is charged to tenants based on 
the occupied lettable area of the properties. 
Income from maintenance services is recognized 
when the entity has satisfied its performance 
obligation by delivering services as per terms of 
contract entered into with tenants.

o)  Employee benefits 
  Employee benefits include provident fund, gratuity 

and compensated absences.

 Provident fund 
  The Brookfield India REIT ‘s contribution to provident 

fund is considered as defined contribution plans and 
is charged as an expense in statement of profit and 
loss based on the amount of contribution required to 
be made as and when services are rendered by the 
employees.

 Gratuity 
  Brookfield India REIT has an obligation towards 

gratuity, a defined post-employment benefits plan 
covering eligible employees. The present value of 
the defined benefit liability and the related current 
service cost and past service cost are measured 
using projected unit credit method; with actuarial 
valuations being carried out at each balance 
sheet date. Remeasurements comprising actuarial 
gains and losses are recognized immediately in 
the balance sheet with a charge or credit to other 
comprehensive income in the period in which 
they occur. Remeasurements recognized in other 
comprehensive income are not reclassified. Past 
service cost is recognized in profit or loss when the 
plan amendment or curtailment occurs, or when the 
Brookfield India REIT recognizes related restructuring 
costs or termination benefits, whichever is earlier.

	 Short-term	employee	benefits
  The undiscounted amount of short-term employee 

benefits expected to be paid in exchange for the 
services rendered by employees are recognized 
during the period when the employees render the 
service. These benefits include performance incentive 
and compensated absences which are expected to 
occur within twelve months after the end of the period 
in which the employee renders the related service. 

  The cost of short-term compensated absences is 
accounted as under:

 (a)   in case of accumulated compensated 
absences, when employees render the services 
that increase their entitlement of future 
compensated absences; and

 (b)   in case of non-accumulating compensated 
absences, when the absences occur.

	 Other	Long-term	employee	benefits
  The employees of the Brookfield India REIT are 

entitled to other long term benefit by way of 
accumulating compensated absences. Cost of long-
term benefit by way of accumulating compensated 
absences arising during the tenure of the service 
is calculated taking into account the pattern of 
availment of leave. Compensated absences which 
are not expected to occur within twelve months after 
the end of the period in which the employee renders 
the related service are recognised as a liability at the 
present value of the defined benefit obligation based 
on actuarial valuations as at the balance sheet date 
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by an independent actuary using the Projected Unit 
Credit method. Actuarial gains and losses relating to 
long-term employee benefits are recognised in the 
statement of Profit and Loss in the period in which 
they arise.

p)  taxation 
  Income tax expense comprises current and deferred 

tax. It is recognized in Statement of profit and 
loss except to the extent that it relates to items 
recognized directly in equity or other comprehensive 
income, in which case it is recognized in equity or in 
other comprehensive income. 

 (i) Current tax
   Current tax comprises the expected tax payable 

or receivable on the taxable income or loss for 
the year and any adjustment to the tax payable 
or receivable in respect of previous years. The 
amount of current tax reflects the best estimate 
of the tax amount expected to be paid or 
received after considering the uncertainty, if any, 
related to income taxes. It is measured using 
tax rates (and tax laws) enacted or substantively 
enacted by the reporting date.

   Current tax assets and liabilities are offset only if 
there is a legally enforceable right to set off the 
recognised amounts, and it is intended to realise 
the asset and settle the liability on a net basis or 
simultaneously.

   Minimum Alternative Tax (‘MAT’) under the 
provisions of the Income Tax, 1961 is recognised 
as current tax in the Condensed Consolidated 
Statement of profit and loss. The credit 
available under the Act in respect of MAT paid 
is recognised as a deferred tax asset only when 
and to the extent there is convincing evidence 
that the Brookfield India REIT will pay normal 
income tax during the period for which MAT 
credit can be carried forward for set-off against 
normal tax liability. MAT credit recognised as 
an asset is reviewed at each balance sheet date 
and written down to the extent the aforesaid 
convincing evidence no longer exists.

 (ii) Deferred tax 
   Deferred tax is recognised in respect of 

temporary differences between the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial 
reporting purposes and the corresponding 

amounts used for taxation purposes. Deferred 
tax is also recognised in respect of carried 
forward tax losses and tax credits. Deferred tax 
is not recognised for:

    Temporary differences arising on the 
initial recognition of assets and liabilities 
in a transaction that is not a business 
combination and that affects neither 
accounting nor taxable profit or loss at the 
time of the transaction;

    Temporary differences related to 
investments in subsidiaries, associates, 
and joint arrangements to the extent that 
the Brookfield India REIT is able to control 
the timing of the reversal of the temporary 
differences and it is probable that they will 
not reverse in the foreseeable future; and

    Taxable temporary differences arising on 
initial recognition of goodwill.

   Deferred income tax assets are recognised 
to the extent that it is probable that future 
taxable profits will be available against which 
they can be used. The existence of unused tax 
losses is strong evidence that future taxable 
profit may not be available. Therefore, in case 
of a history of recent losses, Brookfield India 
REIT recognises a deferred tax asset only to the 
extent that it has sufficient taxable temporary 
differences or there is convincing other evidence 
that sufficient taxable profit will be available 
against which such deferred tax asset can be 
realised. Deferred tax assets—unrecognised or 
recognised, are reviewed at each reporting date 
and are recognised/reduced to the extent that it 
is probable/no longer probable respectively that 
the related tax benefit will be realised. Further, 
no deferred tax asset/liabilities are recognized 
in respect of temporary differences that reverse 
within tax holiday period.

   Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates that 
are expected to apply to the period when 
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, 
based on the laws that have been enacted or 
substantively enacted at the reporting date.

   The measurement of deferred tax reflects 
the tax consequences that would follow from 

the manner in which the Brookfield India REIT 
expects, at the reporting date, to recover or 
settle the carrying amount of its assets and 
liabilities.

   Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset 
if there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets and liabilities, and they 
relate to income taxes levied by the same tax 
authority on the same taxable entity, or on 
different tax entities, but they intend to settle 
current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis 
or their tax assets and liabilities will be realised 
simultaneously.

q)  Provisions and contingencies 
  A provision is recognized when the Brookfield 

India REIT has a present obligation as a result of 
past event and it is probable that an outflow of 
resources embodying economic benefits will be 
required to settle the obligation, in respect of which 
a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the 
obligation.

  A contingent liability is a possible obligation that 
arises from past events whose existence will be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of 
one or more uncertain future events beyond the 
control of the Brookfield India REIT or a present 
obligation that is not recognized because it is 
not probable that an outflow of resources will be 
required to settle the obligation. A contingent liability 
also arises in extremely rare cases where there is a 
liability that cannot be recognized because it cannot 
be measured reliably. The Brookfield India REIT does 
not recognize a contingent liability but discloses its 
existence in the financial statements. 

  Provisions for onerous contracts are recognized 
when the expected benefits to be derived by 
the Company from a contract are lower than the 
unavoidable costs of meeting the future obligations 
under the contract.

r)  operating segments 
  Operating segments are reported in a manner 

consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision maker.  

	 Identification	of	segments:	
  In accordance with Ind AS 108- Operating Segment, 

the operating segments used to present segment 

information are identified on the basis of information 
reviewed by the Chief Operating Decision Maker 
(‘CODM’) to allocate resources to the segments and 
assess their performance. An operating segment 
is a component of the Brookfield India REIT that 
engages in business activities from which it earns 
revenues and incurs expenses, including revenues 
and expenses that relate to transactions with any of 
the Brookfield India REIT’s other components. 

  Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT’s 
structure and powers conferred to the Manager to 
Brookfield India REIT, the Governing Board of the 
Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) has been identified as the Chief Operating 
Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered 
for all major decisions w.r.t. the management, 
administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

  As the Brookfield India REIT is primarily engaged 
in the business of developing and maintaining 
commercial real estate properties in India, CODM 
reviews the entire business as a single operating 
segment and accordingly disclosure requirements 
of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of 
reportable segments are not applicable. 

s)  Subsequent events 
  The Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements 

are prepared after reflecting adjusting and non-
adjusting events that occur after the reporting period 
but before the Condensed Consolidated Financial 
Statements are authorized for issue.

t)  cash and cash equivalents 
  Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank 

and on hand and short-term money market deposits 
with original maturities of three months or less that 
are readily convertible to known amounts of cash 
and which are subject to an insignificant risk of 
changes in value.

u)  Earnings per unit 
  Basic earnings per unit are calculated by dividing the net 

profit/(loss) for the period attributable to unit holders 
of the Brookfield India REIT by the weighted average 
number of units outstanding during the period.

  For the purpose of calculating diluted earnings per 
unit, the profit or loss for the period attributable 
to unit holders of the Brookfield India REIT and the 
weighted average number of units outstanding 
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during the period are adjusted for the effects of all 
dilutive potential units.

  Dilutive potential units are deemed converted as of 
the beginning of the reporting date, unless they have 
been issued at a later date. In computing diluted 
earnings per unit, only potential equity units that are 
dilutive and which either reduces earnings per unit or 
increase loss per units are included.

v)  Business Combination/Asset Acquisition
  The amendment to Ind AS 103 Business 

Combinations clarifies that while businesses usually 
have outputs, outputs are not required for an 
integrated set of activities and assets to qualify 
as a business. To be considered a business an 
acquired set of activities and assets must include, 
at a minimum, an input and a substantive process 
that together significantly contribute to the ability to 
create outputs. 

  The amendments remove the assessment of whether 
market participants are capable of replacing any 
missing inputs or processes and continuing to 
produce outputs. The amendments also introduce 
additional guidance that helps to determine whether 
a substantive process has been acquired.

  The amendments introduce an optional 
concentration test that permits a simplified 
assessment of whether an acquired set of activities 
and assets is not a business. Under the optional 
concentration test, the acquired set of activities and 
assets is not a business if substantially all of the fair 
value of the gross assets acquired is concentrated in 
a single identifiable asset or group of similar assets.

  Brookfield India REIT has opted to apply optional 
concentration test in respect of acquisition of SPVs. 
Refer Note 42 of the financial statements for details.

w)   condensed consolidated Statement of  
Cash flows

  Condensed Consolidated Cash flows are reported 
using the indirect method, whereby Profit/(loss) 
before tax is adjusted for the effects of transactions 
of a non-cash nature and any deferrals or accruals 
of past or future cash receipts or payments. The 
cash flows from operating, investing and financing 
activities of the Group are segregated. For the 
purpose of the Condensed Consolidated Statement 
of Cash Flow, cash and cash equivalents consist of 
cash and short-term deposits.

x)  Offsetting 
  Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset 

and the net amount presented in the Condensed 
Consolidated Balance Sheet when, and only when, 
the Group currently has a legally enforceable right 
to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle 
them on a net basis or to realize the asset and settle 
the liability simultaneously.

y)  cash distribution to unitholders
  The Brookfield India REIT recognizes a liability to 

make cash distributions to Unitholders when the 
distribution is authorized and a legal obligation 
has been created. As per the REIT Regulations, a 
distribution is authorized when it is approved by the 
Board of Directors of the Manager. A corresponding 
amount is recognized directly in equity (Refer note  
15 (a)(i)).

3.
 

Pr
o

PE
rt

Y,
 P

LA
n

t 
A

n
d

 E
Q

u
IP

M
En

t 
A

n
d

 In
tA

n
G

IB
LE

 A
SS

Et
S

 P
ar

ti
cu

la
rs

 G
ro

ss
 b

lo
ck

A
cc

um
ul

at
ed

 d
ep

re
ci

at
io

n
n

et
 b

lo
ck

Ba
la

nc
e  

as
 a

t
A

pr
il 

1,
 2

02
1

A
dd

it
io

ns
 

du
ri

ng
 t

he
 

pe
ri

od

D
el

et
io

ns
/

A
dj

us
tm

en
ts

Ba
la

nc
e  

as
 a

t
Se

pt
em

be
r 

30
, 2

02
1

Ba
la

nc
e  

as
 a

t  
A

pr
il 

1,
 2

02
1

ch
ar

ge
 fo

r 
th

e 
 p

er
io

d
D

el
et

io
ns

/
A

dj
us

tm
en

ts
Ba

la
nc

e  
as

 a
t

Se
pt

em
be

r 
30

, 2
02

1

Ba
la

nc
e  

as
 a

t
Se

pt
em

be
r 

30
, 2

02
1

Ba
la

nc
e  

as
 a

t
M

ar
ch

 3
1,

 
20

21

A
ss

et
s 

(s
it

e)

Ai
r c

on
di

tio
ne

r
 0

.0
7 

 - 
 - 

 0
.0

7 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 0

.0
7 

 0
.0

7 

Co
m

pu
te

rs
 0

.0
8 

 - 
 - 

 0
.0

8 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 0

.0
8 

 0
.0

8 

Pl
an

t a
nd

 m
ac

hi
ne

ry
 0

.0
2 

 - 
 - 

 0
.0

2 
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 0

.0
2 

 0
.0

2 

Fu
rn

itu
re

 a
nd

 fi
xt

ur
es

 1
.4

3 
 - 

 - 
 1

.4
3 

 0
.0

9 
 0

.2
0 

 -   
0.

29
1.

14
 1

.3
4 

O
ffi

ce
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t
 0

.2
8 

 - 
 - 

 0
.2

8 
 0

.0
0 

 0
.0

0 
 -   

 0
.0

0 
 0

.2
8 

 0
.2

8 

Su
b 

to
ta

l
 1

.8
8 

 - 
 - 

 1
.8

8 
 0

.0
9 

0.
20

 -   
0.

29
1.

59
 1

.7
9 

A
ss

et
s 

(m
ai

nt
en

an
ce

)

Ai
r c

on
di

tio
ne

r
 3

.1
1 

 0
.0

7 
 -   

 3
.1

8 
 0

.0
7 

 0
.3

0 
 -   

 0
.3

7 
 2

.8
1 

 3
.0

4 

Pl
an

t a
nd

 m
ac

hi
ne

ry
 6

6.
54

 
 2

9.
08

 
 -   

 9
5.

62
 

 1
.0

2 
 4

.3
0 

 -   
 5

.3
2 

 9
0.

30
 

 6
5.

52
 

Fu
rn

itu
re

 a
nd

 fi
xt

ur
es

 2
6.

69
 

 0
.4

7 
 -   

 2
7.

16
 

 0
.8

9 
 2

.6
4 

 -   
 3

.5
3 

 2
3.

63
 

 2
5.

80
 

O
ffi

ce
 e

qu
ip

m
en

t
 4

.8
7 

 0
.4

4 
 -   

 5
.3

1 
 0

.5
2 

 1
.4

2 
 -   

 1
.9

4 
3.

37
 4

.3
5 

El
ec

tr
ic

al
 fi

tt
in

gs
 0

.6
0 

 -   
 -   

 0
.6

0 
 0

.0
1 

 0
.0

3 
 -   

 0
.0

4 
 0

.5
6 

 0
.5

9 

Ki
tc

he
n 

Eq
ui

pm
en

ts
 0

.0
8 

 0
.0

0 
 -   

 0
.0

8 
 0

.0
0 

 0
.0

1 
 -   

 0
.0

1 
 0

.0
7 

 0
.0

8 

Su
b 

to
ta

l
 1

01
.8

9 
 3

0.
06

 
-

 1
31

.9
5 

 2
.5

1 
 8

.7
0 

 -   
 1

1.
21

 
12

0.
74

 9
9.

38
 

to
tA

L
 1

03
.7

7 
 3

0.
06

 
-

 1
33

.8
3 

 2
.6

0 
8.

90
 -   

11
.5

0
12

2.
33

 1
01

.1
7 

In
ta

ng
ib

le
 A

ss
et

s

So
ftw

ar
es

 0
.4

6 
 -   

 -   
 0

.4
6 

 0
.0

4 
 0

.1
5 

 -   
 0

.1
9 

 0
.2

7 
 0

.4
2 

G
rA

n
d

 t
o

tA
L 

 1
04

.2
3 

 3
0.

06
 

-
 1

34
.2

9 
 2

.6
4 

9.
05

 -   
11

.6
9

12
2.

60
 1

01
.5

9 



161160 Half YearlY report 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)
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5 5.   non currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - otHEr 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
Fixed deposits with banks*  1.00  257.53 
Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  0.01  1.50 
Lease rent equalization**  56.21  22.80 

57.22  281.83 

 *As at September 30, 2021, these fixed deposits are of restricted use being lien against various authorities. As at March 31, 2021, 
these fixed deposits were of restricted use being lien against debt service reserve account, bank guarantees given to various 
authorities and security for sales tax registration. 

 **Lease rent equalization are classified as Financial assets as right to consideration is unconditional and is due only after passage 
of time.

6.  dEFErrEd tAx ASSEt (nEt)

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Deferred tax asset (net) 2,725.58  2,641.23 
2,725.58  2,641.23 

  The Group has recognised deferred tax asset of `2,110.43 million (March 31, 2021: `1,729.06 million) on unabsorbed 
depreciation and `964.86 million (March 31, 2021: `964.86 million) on MAT credit entitlement, considering the 
deferred tax liability on temporary differences that will reverse in the future and estimated taxable income for 
future years.

7. non-currEnt tAx ASSEtS (nEt) 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Advance income tax  1,670.37  1,527.81 
 1,670.37  1,527.81 

8. otHEr non-currEnt ASSEtS 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good)  
Security deposits  517.50  517.38 
Capital advances  5.19  21.14 
Prepaid expenses  3.84  5.96 
Balance recoverable from government authorities  9.40  10.94 

 535.93  555.42 

9. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - trAdE rEcEIVABLES  

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Trade receivables considered good - unsecured  132.80  204.35 
Trade receivables - credit impaired  46.23  49.10 
Less: loss allowance  (46.23)  (49.10)

 132.80  204.35 
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10. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - cASH And cASH EQuIVALEntS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Balance with banks : 
  - in current account  178.65  1,132.32 
  - in deposit account (with original maturity of 3 months or less)  2,437.00  590.00 
  - in escrow account*  150.97  1,432.87 

 2,766.62  3,155.19 

  * Represents the balance of `150.97 million as at 30 September 2021 (March 31, 2021 : `1,432.87 million) from proceeds of initial 
public offer of Brookfield India REIT Units (Total proceeds `38,000.00 million). These amounts are held in the escrow account and 
can be withdrawn for partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing indebtedness of SPVs, general purposes 
and issue expenses (as specified in the  Brookfield India REIT’s final offer document).

11. otHEr BAnK BALAncES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Deposit account with original maturity of more than 3 months and  upto 12 months*  318.11  150.65 
 318.11  150.65 

* These fixed deposits includes `318.11 million as at September 30, 2021 (March 31, 2021: `60.64 million) which are of restricted 
use being  lien against debt service reserve account, bank guarantees given to various authorities and given as security for sales 
tax registration.

12. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - LoAnS
As at  

September 30, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2021 
to parties other than related parties
(Unsecured and considered doubtful)
Advances to vendors  0.36  0.36 
Less: loss allowance  (0.36)  (0.36)

 -    -   
Loans receivables considered good - secured  -    -   
Loans receivables considered good - unsecured  -    -   
Loans receivables which have significant increase in credit risk  0.36  0.36 
Loans receivables - credit impaired  -    -   
Less: loss allowance  (0.36)  (0.36)

 -    -   

13. currEnt FInAncIAL ASSEtS - otHEr

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
to parties other than related parties 
Unbilled revenue*  155.32  79.63 
Interest accrued but not due on fixed deposits with banks  8.51  1.94 
Lease rent equalization*  8.19  1.64 
Other receivables  77.93  77.93 
to related parties (refer note 40) 
Other receivables  0.01  1.99 

 249.96  163.13 

 *Classified as financial assets as right to consideration is unconditional and is due only after passage of time.

14.  otHEr currEnt ASSEtS 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

(Unsecured and considered good) 
Security deposits  0.01  0.01 
Advances to vendors  27.82  31.36 
Prepaid expenses  41.37  32.02 
Balance recoverable from government authorities  93.74  93.93 

 162.94  157.32 

15.   unIt cAPItAL

Particulars  no. of units  Amount 

As at July 17, 2020  -    -   
Units issued during the period 
-  pursuant to the initial public offer, issued, subscribed and fully paid-up in cash  

(refer note ii below) 
 138,181,800  38,000.00 

-  in exchange for equity interest in SPVs (refer note iii below)  127,892,403  35,170.41 
-  in exchange for 12% Compulsorily Convertible Debenture in Candor Kolkata  36,727,398  10,100.03 
Less: Issue expenses (refer note below)  -    (1,495.66)
closing balance as at March 31, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
As at April 1, 2021  302,801,601  81,774.78 
Less: Issue expenses (refer note below)  -    (12.94)
Less: Distribution to Unitholders for the quarter ended June 30, 2021  -    (297.05)
closing balance as at September 30, 2021  302,801,601  81,464.79 

  Note: Issue expenses pertaining to the Initial Public Offering (IPO) and listing of the Units on the National Stock Exchange and 
Bombay Stock Exchange have been reduced from the Unitholders capital as at September 30, 2021 and March 31, 2021 in 
accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: Presentation.

 (a)  Terms/rights attached to Units and accounting thereof
   (i)   The Trust has only one class of Units. Each Unit represents an undivided beneficial interest in the Trust. 

Each holder of Unit is entitled to one vote per unit. The Unitholders have the right to receive at least 
90% of the Net Distributable Cash Flows of the Trust at least once in every six months in each financial 
year in accordance with the REIT Regulations. The Board of Directors of the Investment Manager 
approves dividend distributions. The distribution will be in proportion to the number of Units held by the 
Unitholders. The Trust declares and pays dividends in Indian Rupees.

    Under the provisions of the REIT Regulations, Brookfield India REIT is required to distribute to Unitholders 
not less than 90% of the net distributable cash flows of Brookfield India REIT for each financial year.  
Accordingly, a portion of the Unit Capital contains a contractual obligation of the Brookfield India REIT 
to pay to its Unitholders cash distributions. Hence, the Unit Capital is a compound financial instrument 
which contain both equity and liability components in accordance with Ind AS 32 - Financial Instruments: 
Presentation. However, in accordance with SEBI Circulars (No. CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated 29 December 
2016 and No. CIR/IMD/DF/141/2016 dated 26 December 2016) issued under the REIT Regulations, the 
Unit Capital have been presented as “Equity” in order to comply with the requirements of Section H of 
Annexure A to the SEBI Circular dated 26 December 2016 dealing with the minimum presentation and 
disclosure requirements for key financial statements. Consistent with Unit Capital being classified as 
equity, the distributions to Unitholders is also presented in Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity 
when the distributions are approved by the Board of Directors of Investment Manager.

  (ii)   Initial Public Offering of 138,181,800 Units for cash at price of ̀ 275 per Unit aggregating to ̀ 38,000.00 million.
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  (iii)   Brookfield India REIT acquired the SPVs by acquiring all the equity interest held by our Sponsor and 
certain members of our Sponsor Group. The acquisition of equity interest in the SPVs has been done by 
issue of 127,892,403 Units of `275 each as per the table below.

name of SPV 

 number of units allotted for acquiring  
all the equity interest held in the SPVs

Sponsor Sponsor Group 
(excluding Sponsor) total 

Candor Kolkata  54,117,888  16,364  54,134,252 
Festus  -    31,474,412  31,474,412 
SPPL Noida  -    41,483,012  41,483,012 
CIOP  -    800,727  800,727 
total number of units issued  54,117,888  73,774,515  127,892,403 

 (b)   unitholders holding more than 5 percent units in the trust 
name of unitholders  no. of units  % of holdings 
BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  54,117,888 17.87%
BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  41,499,373 13.71%
BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36,727,398 12.13%
BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  28,086,775 9.28%

 (c)    The Trust has not allotted any fully paid-up units by way of bonus units nor has it bought back any class of 
units from the date of registration till the balance sheet date. Further, the Trust has not issued any units for 
consideration other than cash from the date of registration till the balance sheet date, except as disclosed above.

16.  otHEr EQuItY*   

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

reserves and Surplus 
Retained earnings 155.11  252.75 

155.11  252.75 

  *Refer Condensed Consolidated Statement of Changes in Unitholders’ Equity for detailed movement in other equity balances.

 retained earnings
  The cumulative gain or loss arising from the operations which is retained by the Brookfield India REIT is recognized 

and accumulated under the heading of retained earnings. At the end of the year, the profit/(loss) after tax is 
transferred from the Statement of Profit and Loss to the retained earnings account.

17.  non-currEnt FInAncIAL LIABILItIES - BorrowInGS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Secured  
Term loan from financial institutions  21,672.60  21,015.17 
total Borrowings  21,672.60  21,015.17 

18.  non-currEnt FInAncIAL LIABILItIES - otHErS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Security deposit from lessee  1,033.64  1,393.07 
Retention money  1.90  19.20 

 1,035.54  1,412.27 

19. ProVISIonS 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Provision for gratuity  11.88  10.86 
 11.88  10.86 

20. otHEr non-currEnt LIABILItIES 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Deferred income  252.19  318.67 
Contract liability*  220.34  67.80 

 472.53  386.47 

  *Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited entered into a Joint Development Agreement with Gurgaon Infospace 
Limited (GIL) by which GIL will pay `1,000 million in various tranches commencing January 2021 to October 2023 for the 
development/construction of building used for commercial and retail purposes on certain land parcels, the title of which is held 
by Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. Under the said agreement, Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures 
Private Limited is entitled to 72% of the gross sale receipts and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the 
developed areas and GIL is entitled to receive balance 28%. The amount received including GST as at September 30, 2021 of 
`260.00 million (March 31, 2021 of `80.00 million) is presented as contract liability (excluding GST). 

21. currEnt FInAncIAL LIABILItIES - trAdE PAYABLES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Total outstanding dues to micro enterprises and small enterprises  2.60  1.09 
Total outstanding dues to creditors other than micro enterprises and small enterprises*  475.02  444.41 

 477.62  445.50 

 *For balance payable to related parties, refer note 40

22. currEnt - otHEr FInAncIAL LIABILItIES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Security deposit from lessee  2,480.21  2,337.00 
Retention money  142.67  136.30 
Capital creditors  202.20  293.37 
Employee related payables  34.37  11.51 
Other payables  279.83  1,215.61 

 3,139.28  3,993.79 

23.  ProVISIonS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Provision for gratuity  0.10  0.08 
Provision for compensated absences  4.91  4.41 

 5.01  4.49 
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24.  otHEr currEnt LIABILItIES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Advance from customers  43.16  42.49 
Statutory dues payable  112.62  177.66 
Deferred income  177.41  168.29 
Other payables  -    7.57 

 333.19  396.01 

25.  currEnt tAx LIABILItIES (nEt) 

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Provision for income tax  120.93  120.39 
 120.93  120.39 

26. rEVEnuE FroM oPErAtIonS

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Sale of services 
Income from operating lease rentals *  1,561.40  1,616.10  -    3,177.50  943.40  943.40 
Income from maintenance services  550.31  563.26  -    1,113.57  362.88  362.88 

 2,111.71  2,179.36  -    4,291.07  1,306.28  1,306.28 
Sale of products 
Sale of food and beverages  5.03  11.16  -    16.19  2.90  2.90 
Others  0.34  0.29  -    0.63  0.24  0.24 
total revenue from operations  2,117.08  2,190.81  -    4,307.89  1,309.42  1,309.42 

 * Assets given on operating lease

27. otHEr IncoME

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Interest income from financial assets  
at amortized cost
Interest income on fixed deposits with 
banks 

 20.27  15.71  -    35.98  3.21  3.21 

Interest income on security deposit  6.26  12.93  -    19.19  2.49  2.49 
others 
Income from scrap sale  0.95  2.82  -    3.77  1.64  1.64 
Interest on income tax refund  0.77  4.08  -    4.85  44.29  44.29 
Liabilities/provisions no longer required 
written back 

 0.34  0.40  -    0.74  0.02  0.02 

Miscellaneous income  2.34  -    -    2.34  -    -   
  30.93  35.94  -    66.87  51.65  51.65 

28. coSt oF MAtErIALS conSuMEd

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Opening stock  -    -    -    -    -    -   
Add: purchases during the period  4.44  8.67  -    13.11  2.24  2.24 
Add: Others  0.28  0.21  -    0.49  0.24  0.24 
Less: Closing stock  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 4.72  8.88  -    13.60  2.48  2.48 

29. EMPLoYEE BEnEFItS ExPEnSE

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Salaries, wages and bonus  48.39  47.56  -    95.95  25.32  25.32 
Contributions to provident fund   2.41  2.41  -    4.82  1.41  1.41 
Gratuity expense  1.16  1.11  -    2.27  1.08  1.08 
Compensated absences  0.50  -    -    0.50  0.29  0.29 

 52.46  51.08  -    103.54  28.10  28.10 

30. FInAncE coStS

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Interest and finance charges on 
financial liabilities at amortized cost 
Interest on term loan  387.16  380.26  -    767.42  289.04  289.04 
Interest on non-convertible bonds  -    -    -    -    0.76  0.76 
Interest on lease liability 2.77  2.75  -    5.52  1.57  1.57 
others 
Other borrowing costs 41.44  41.35  -   82.79  122.65  122.65 

431.37  424.36  -   855.73  414.02  414.02 
Less: Transferred to investment property 
under development 

 (5.90)  (5.22)  -    (11.12)  (3.25)  (3.25)

425.47  419.14  -   844.61  410.77  410.77 

31.  dEPrEcIAtIon And AMortIzAtIon ExPEnSES

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

-  on property plant and equipment and 
intangible assets 

 4.53  4.32  -    8.85 2.55  2.55 

- on investment property  466.60  451.83  -   918.43  314.20  314.20 
 471.13  456.15  -    927.28  316.75  316.75 
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32.  otHEr ExPEnSES 

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Property management fees  81.84  81.70  -    163.54  55.01  55.01 
Power and fuel  184.27  180.25  -    364.52  92.48  92.48 
Repair and maintenance  153.24  163.68  -    316.92  99.31  99.31 
Insurance  8.11  8.08  -    16.19  4.64  4.64 
Legal and professional expense  37.01  44.14  1.52  81.15  53.64  55.16 
Audit fees (refer note"a" below)  4.54  5.63  -    10.17  17.64  17.64 
Rates and taxes  26.39  19.79  -    46.18  20.00  20.00 
Brokerage   -    -    -    -    0.05  0.05 
Facility usage fees  7.25  9.36  -    16.61  5.46  5.46 
Lease rent  2.49  2.10  -    4.59  0.90  0.90 
Credit Impaired  5.11  2.71  -    7.82  23.32  23.32 
Allowance for credit loss  0.25  -    -    0.25  0.05  0.05 
Advances written off  -    -    -    -    1.27  1.27 
Corporate social responsibility expenses  1.78  1.03  -    2.81  1.97  1.97 
Property, plant and equipment written off  -    -    -    -    0.15  0.15 
Donation  -    20.00  -    20.00  -   
Miscellaneous expenses  19.95  19.11  0.03  39.06  68.11  68.14 

 532.23  557.58  1.55  1,089.81  444.00  445.55 

a) details of remuneration to auditors

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

As auditor (on accrual basis, excluding 
applicable taxes) 
-  for statutory audit  4.54  5.63  -    10.17  17.64  17.64 
-  for reimbursement of expenses  -    -    -    -    -    -   

 4.54  5.63  -    10.17  17.64  17.64 

33.  tAx ExPEnSE

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30, 2021 

 From  
July 17, 2020 to  
September 30, 

2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the  
half year ended 
March 31, 2021 

 From  
July  17, 2020 to 
March 31, 2021

Current tax
-  for current period  7.41  0.65  -    8.06  0.44  0.44 
-  for earlier years  -    -    -    -    18.89  18.89 
Deferred tax charge/(credit) (56.88)  (27.74)  -   (84.62)  (122.93)  (122.93)

(49.47)  (27.09)  -   (76.56)  (103.60)  (103.60)

  Brookfield India REIT is a business trust registered under SEBI REIT Regulations, 2014. Hence, the interest and 
dividend received or receivable by Brookfield India REIT from the SPVs is exempt from tax under section 10(23FC) of 
the Income Tax Act, 1961 (Act). Further, any expenditure incurred in relation to earning the exempt income is not tax 
deductible in view of the provisions of section 14A of the Act. 

  The income of Brookfield India REIT, other than exempt income mentioned above, is chargeable to tax at the 
maximum marginal rates in force (for the quarter and half year ended September 30, 2021: 42.744%; for the period 
ended March 31, 2021: 42.744%), except for the income chargeable to tax on transfer of short term capital assets 
under section 111A of the Act and long term capital assets under section 112 of the Act.

  SPVs are the Indian companies incorporated under the Companies Act. The total income of the SPVs is chargeable 
to tax in accordance with the provisions of the Act. 

34. contInGEnt LIABILItIES

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Claims against the SPVs not acknowledged as debt in respect of Income-Tax matters 
(Refer note 1 below)

 822.34  776.80 

Claims against the SPVs not acknowledged as debt in respect of Indirect tax  
{VAT/Work contract/Entry tax} (Refer note 2 below)

 2.67  2.67 

Grand total  825.01  779.47 

 note 1
As at  

September 30, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2021 

Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  807.04  762.54 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  15.30  14.26 
total  822.34  776.80 

  Contingent liabilities as at September 30, 2021 includes penalty amounting to `485.38 million (March 31, 2021 
`485.38 million)  in relation to disallowance of settlement fees paid in earlier years for termination of contract. Other 
contingencies include `336.96 million (March 31, 2021 : `291.42 million) relating to other disallowances under the 
Income Tax Act, 1961.

 The tax officer has set-off certain tax refund claimed in Income tax returns against these demands.

 note 2
As at  

September 30, 2021
As at 

March 31, 2021 

Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited*  2.67  2.67 
total  2.67  2.67 

  * The Company has given a bank guarantee of `1.00 million (March 31, 2021: `1.00 million) to Member Secretary UP Pollution 
Control Board.

35. coMMItMEntS

As at  
September 30, 2021

As at 
March 31, 2021 

Capital commitments (net of advances)  271.12  327.47 
the SPV wise details of capital commitments are as follows:
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited  61.79  59.19 
Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited  209.33  268.28 

 271.12  327.47 

 other commitments  
 Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (formerly known as “Candor Gurgaon Two Developers & 

Projects Private Limited”; now amalgamated in Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited w.e.f.  
April 1, 2017) has an agreement with Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL). The title to the land is held by Gurgaon 
Infospace Limited, a third party and is not affiliated to the Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited. 
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited has developmental rights with respect to the property 
pursuant to a Joint Development Agreement ( JDA) with GIL entered on November 16, 2006 as amended from time 
to time. Under the said agreement Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited is entitled to 72% of the 
gross sale receipts and deposits from the tenants arising out of the lease of the developed areas and GIL is entitled 
to receive balance 28%.
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 In supplement to earlier JDA, a new co-development agreement was entered into between GIL (the developer) and 
Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited (the co-developer) on September 17, 2007 as amended from 
time to time under which the developer and co-developer will jointly carry out the process of installation of fit-outs 
& fixtures and the cost of such installation shall be shared by the developer and co-developer in the same ratio as 
to sharing of gross proceeds i.e. 28% and 72% respectively. This agreement is accounted as joint operations as per 
Ind AS 111.

36. FInAncIAL InStruMEntS – FAIr VALuES And rISK MAnAGEMEnt
 i)  Financial instruments by category and fair value
    The below table summarizes the judgements and estimates made in determining the fair values of the financial 

instruments that are measured at amortized cost and for which fair values are disclosed in the financial 
statements. There are no financial instruments, which are subsequently measured at fair value.

carrying value Fair value
As at  

September 30, 
2021

As at 
March 31, 2021

As at  
September 30, 

2021

As at 
March 31, 2021

At Amortized cost
Financial assets 
Trade receivables #  132.80  204.35  132.80  204.35 
Cash and cash equivalents #  2,766.62  3,155.19  2,766.62  3,155.19 
Other bank balances #  318.11  150.65  318.11  150.65 
Other financial assets #  307.18  444.96  307.18  444.96 
Total financial assets  3,524.71  3,955.15  3,524.71  3,955.15 
At Amortized cost
Financial liabilities 
Borrowings #  21,672.60  21,015.17  21,672.60  21,015.17 
Trade payables #  477.62  445.50  477.62  445.50 
Other financial liabilities #  4,174.82  5,406.06  4,174.82  5,406.06 
Total financial liabilities 26,325.04  26,866.73 26,325.04  26,866.73 

   # fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities which are recognized at amortized cost has been disclosed to be same 
as carrying value as the carrying value approximately equals to their fair value.

37. SEGMEnt rEPortInG

 a)  Ind AS 108 establishes requirements to identify the operating segment and related disclosures, basis how 
the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’) evaluates the performance and allocates resources to different 
segments. Based on an analysis of Brookfield India REIT structure and powers conferred to the Manager 
to REIT, the Governing Board of the Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private Limited) has been 
identified as the Chief Operating Decision Maker (‘CODM’), since they are empowered for all major decisions 
w.r.t. the management, administration, investment, disinvestment, etc.

   As the Group is primarily engaged in the business of developing and maintaining commercial real estate 
properties in India, CODM reviews the entire business as a single operating segment and accordingly disclosure 
requirements of Ind AS 108 “Operating Segments” in respect of reportable segments are not applicable.

 b)   Customer A represented 18.43%, 18.19%, 17.95% and 17.18% of revenues for the quarter, half year ending 
September 30, 2021, quarter ending June 30, 2021 and period ending March 31, 2021 respectively, Customer 
B represented 15.39%, 15.76%, 16.12% and 16.18% of revenues for the quarter, half year ending September 
30, 2021, quarter ending June 30, 2021 and period ending March 31, 2021 respectively and Customer C 
represented 11.50%, 11.41% 11.33% and 10.71% of revenues for the quarter, half year ending September 30, 
2021, quarter ending June 30, 2021 and period ending March 31, 2021 respectively.

A
dd

it
io

na
l fi

na
nc

ia
l d

is
cl

os
ur

es
 a

s 
re

qu
ir

ed
 u

nd
er

 p
ar

a 
4 

of
 S

EB
I c

ir
cu

la
r 

CI
R

/I
M

D
/D

F/
14

1/
20

16
 d

at
ed

 2
6 

D
ec

em
be

r 
20

16

38
. 

ST
AT

EM
EN

T 
O

F 
PR

O
PE

RT
y 

w
IS

E 
R

EN
TA

L/
O

PE
R

AT
IN

g
 IN

CO
M

E 
 

S.
 

n
o.

En
tit

y 
an

d 
 

Pr
op

er
ty

 n
am

e
Pr

op
er

ty
 A

dd
re

ss
Lo

ca
tio

n
n

at
ur

e 
of

 
In

co
m

e

Fo
r t

he
 

qu
ar

te
r e

nd
ed

  
Se

pt
em

be
r 3

0,
 

20
21

Fo
r t

he
  

qu
ar

te
r e

nd
ed

 
Ju

ne
 3

0,
 2

02
1

Fr
om

 Ju
ly

 1
7,

 
20

20
 to

 
Se

pt
em

be
r 3

0,
 

20
20

Fo
r t

he
  

ha
lf 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 

Se
pt

em
be

r  
30

, 
20

21

Fo
r t

he
  

ha
lf 

ye
ar

 e
nd

ed
 

M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

02
1

Fr
om

  
Ju

ly
 1

7,
 2

02
0 

to
 

M
ar

ch
 3

1,
 2

02
1

1
Ca

nd
or

 K
ol

ka
ta

 O
ne

  
H

i-T
ec

h 
St

ru
ct

ur
es

 
Pr

iv
at

e 
Li

m
ite

d

Ca
nd

or
 T

ec
hS

pa
ce

 IT
/IT

ES
 S

EZ
, 

D
un

da
he

ra
, S

ec
to

r-
21

 G
ur

ga
on

, 
H

ar
ya

na
-1

22
01

6

G
ur

ga
on

Re
nt

al
 in

co
m

e 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

op
er

at
in

g 
in

co
m

e

 8
46

.9
8 

88
8.

62
 -   

 1
,7

35
.6

0 
 5

55
.4

1 
 5

55
.4

1 

2
Ca

nd
or

 K
ol

ka
ta

 O
ne

  
H

i-T
ec

h 
St

ru
ct

ur
es

 
Pr

iv
at

e 
Li

m
ite

d

IT
/IT

ES
 S

EZ
, C

an
do

r T
ec

hS
pa

ce
, 

Ac
tio

n 
Ar

ea
- 1

 D
, N

ew
 T

ow
n,

 R
aj

ar
ha

t, 
Ko

lk
at

a-
70

01
56

Ko
lk

at
a

Re
nt

al
 in

co
m

e 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

op
er

at
in

g 
in

co
m

e

 5
18

.7
9 

 5
39

.7
3 

 -   
 1

,0
58

.5
2 

 3
06

.7
0 

 3
06

.7
0 

3
Sh

an
tin

ik
et

an
 

Pr
op

er
tie

s 
Pr

iv
at

e 
Li

m
ite

d

IT
/IT

ES
 P

ar
k,

 C
an

do
r T

ec
hS

pa
ce

, 
In

st
itu

tio
na

l P
lo

t N
o 

B/
2 

- 6
2,

 S
ec

to
r 

62
 , 

N
O

ID
A,

 U
tt

ar
 P

ra
de

sh
- 2

01
30

9 

N
oi

da
Re

nt
al

 in
co

m
e 

an
d 

ot
he

r 
op

er
at

in
g 

in
co

m
e

 3
10

.3
6 

29
9.

34
 -   

 6
09

.7
0 

 1
75

.6
8 

 1
75

.6
8 

4
Fe

st
us

 P
ro

pe
rt

ie
s 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Li
m

ite
d

Ke
ns

in
gt

on
 A

 a
nd

 B
, I

T/
IT

ES
, 

Ke
ns

in
gt

on
 S

EZ
 B

ui
ld

in
g,

 H
ira

na
nd

an
i 

Bu
si

ne
ss

 P
ar

k,
 P

ow
ai

 M
um

ba
i, 

M
um

ba
i C

ity
, M

ah
ar

as
ht

ra
-4

00
07

6

M
um

ba
i

Re
nt

al
 in

co
m

e 
an

d 
ot

he
r 

op
er

at
in

g 
in

co
m

e

 4
40

.9
5 

46
3.

12
 -   

 9
04

.0
7 

 2
71

.6
3 

 2
71

.6
3 

5
Ca

nd
or

 In
di

a 
O

ffi
ce

 
Pa

rk
s 

Pr
iv

at
e 

Li
m

ite
d

F-
83

, P
ro

fit
 C

en
tr

e,
 G

at
e 

N
o.

 1
, 

M
ah

av
ir 

N
ag

ar
, N

ea
r P

iz
za

 H
ut

, 
Ka

nd
iv

al
i (

W
), 

M
um

ba
i-4

00
06

7

M
um

ba
i

Pr
op

er
ty

 
m

an
ag

em
en

t 
fe

es
 

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

 -   
 -   

to
ta

l
 2

,1
17

.0
8 

 2
,1

90
.8

1 
 -   

 4
,3

07
.8

9 
 1

,3
09

.4
2 

 1
,3

09
.4

2 



175174 Half YearlY report 2021-22 Brookfield India Real Estate Trust

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Notes to the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements
(All amounts are in Rupees millions unless otherwise stated)

Who We Are Our Properties How We Performed How We Integrate ESG Statutory Disclosure Financial Statements

39. EArnInGS PEr unIt (EPu)

 Basic EPU amounts are calculated by dividing the profit for the quarter/period attributable to Unitholders by the 
weighted average number of units outstanding during the  quarter/period. Diluted EPU amounts are calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to Unitholders by the weighted average number of units outstanding during quarter/
period plus the weighted average number of units that would be issued on conversion of all the dilutive potential 
units into unit capital. The Units of the Trust were allotted on February 8,2021 and February 11, 2021.

Particulars

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30,  
2021 

 From July 17, 
2020 to  

September 30, 
2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the half 
year ended 

March 31, 2021 

 From July  17, 
2020 to 

March 31, 2021

Profit / (Loss) after tax for 
calculating basic and diluted 
EPU

682.82  738.34  (2.20) 1,421.16  255.23  253.03 

Weighted average number of 
Units (Nos.)

 302,801,601  302,801,601 Not Applicable  302,801,601  84,237,021  59,423,015 

Earnings Per Unit
- Basic (Rupees/unit) 2.25  2.44 Not Applicable 4.69  3.03  4.26 
- Diluted (Rupees/unit)* 2.25  2.44 Not Applicable 4.69  3.03  4.26 

 *The Trust does not have any outstanding dilutive units.

40. rELAtEd PArtY dIScLoSurES

 A. Related parties to Brookfield India REIT as at September 30, 2021

  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor  

  Brookprop Management Services Private Limited - Investment Manager  

  Axis Trustee Services Limited—Trustee

   The Ultimate parent entity and sponsor groups, with whom the group has related party 
transactions during the period, consist of the below entities:

  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd- Sponsor  

  a)  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd. (BSREP II India)  

  b)  Brookfield Asset Management Inc. (BAM) , ultimate parent entity and controlling party  

  c)  Kairos Property Managers Private Limited (Kairos)  

  d)  BSREP Moon C1 L.P  

  e)  BSREP Moon C2 L.P  

  f)  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd. (BSREP India Office III)  

  g)  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd. (BSREP India Holdings)

   Brookfield India REIT’s interests in subsidiaries are set out in note 1”- Organization structure.  

   directors & Key personnel of the Investment Manager (Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited) 

  directors

  Akila Krishnakumar (Independent Director) 

  Shailesh Vishnubhai Haribhakti (Independent Director) 

  Anuj Ranjan (Non-Executive Director) 

  Ankur Gupta (Non-Executive Director)

  Key personnel 

  Alok Aggarwal - Managing director and chief executive officer – India office business 

  Sanjeev Kumar Sharma - Executive vice president and chief financial officer – India office business 

  Key management personnel of SPV’s

  - candor Kolkata one Hi-tech Structures Private Limited  

  Subrata Ghosh- Managing Director 

  Neeraj Kapoor- Company Secretary (till July 31, 2021) 

  - Festus Properties Private Limited  

  Lalit Kumar- Company Secretary 

 B.  related party transactions

Nature of transaction/ 
Entity’s name

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30,  
2021 

 From July 17, 
2020 to  

September 30, 
2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the half 
year ended 

March 31,  
2021 

 From July  17, 
2020 to 

March 31,  
2021

trustee Fee Expense 
- Axis Trustee Services Limited  0.74  0.74  0.65  1.48  1.56  2.21 
total  0.74  0.74  0.65  1.48  1.56  2.21 
reimbursement of expense incurred by 
(excluding GSt)
-  Brookprop Management Services Private 

Limited
 1.89  0.80  0.38  2.69  252.87  253.25 

-  BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd  9.26  15.91  1.17  25.17  166.90  168.07 
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.05  0.05 
total  11.15  16.71  1.55  27.86  419.82  421.37 
reimbursement of expense incurred on 
behalf of (excluding GSt)
-  Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited  0.04  0.46  -    0.50  1.24  1.24 
total  0.04  0.46  -    0.50  1.24  1.24 
Issue of unit capital
 -  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    14,882.42  14,882.42 
 -  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  -    -    -    -    11,412.33  11,412.33 
 -  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    10,100.03  10,100.03 
 -  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    7,723.86  7,723.86 
 -  Kairos Property Managers Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    931.60  931.60 
 - BSREP Moon C1 LP  -    -    -    -    220.18  220.18 
 - BSREP Moon C2 LP  -    -    -    -    0.02  0.02 
total  -    -    -    -    45,270.44  45,270.44 
12%  unsecured non convertible 
debentures repaid
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    256.00  256.00 
total  -    -    -    -    256.00  256.00 
Interest expense on unsecured non 
convertible debentures
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  -    -    -    -    0.76  0.76 
total  -    -    -    0.76  0.76 
Internet & connectivity charges
- Technology Service Group LLC  3.54  3.13  -    6.67  2.52  2.52 
total  3.54  3.13  -   6.67  2.52  2.52 
Property management fees
-  Brookprop Management Services Private 

Limited
 45.44  45.90  -    91.34  24.91  24.91 

-  Kairos Property Managers Private Limited  -    -    -    -    2.69  2.69 
total  45.44  45.90  -    91.34  27.60  27.60 
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Nature of transaction/ 
Entity’s name

 For the 
quarter ended 
September 30, 

2021

 For the 
quarter ended 

June 30,  
2021 

 From July 17, 
2020 to  

September 30, 
2020 

 For the half 
year ended 

September 30, 
2021 

 For the half 
year ended 

March 31,  
2021 

 From July  17, 
2020 to 

March 31,  
2021

Investment management fees
-  Brookprop Management Services Private 

Limited
 24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -   

total  24.92  20.99  -    45.91  -    -   
compensation to key management per-
sonnel of SPV's
- Short-term employee benefits  1.76  1.91  -    3.67  1.40  1.40 
- Post-employment benefits*  -    -    -    -    -    -   
- Other long-term benefits  0.10  0.11  -    0.21  0.06  0.06 
total  1.86  2.02  -    3.88  1.46  1.46 
Provision for Gratuity and compensated 
absences transfer to
-  Brookprop Management Services Private 

Limited
 -    -    -    -    3.26  3.26 

-  Arliga India Office Parks Private Limited  -    -    -    -    0.30  0.30 
-  Equinox Business Parks Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.23  0.23 
- Vrihis Properties Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.05  0.05 
total  -    -    -    -    3.84  3.84 
Provision for Gratuity and compensated 
absences transfer from
-  Equinox Business Parks Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.18  0.18 
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.24  0.24 
- Vrihis Properties Pvt Ltd  -    -    -    -    0.19  0.19 
total  -    -    -    -   0.61 0.61
repayment of unit capital
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  53.09  -    -    53.09  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  40.71  -    -    40.71  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  3.32  -    -    3.32  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.79  -    -    0.79  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  27.55  -    -    27.55  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  36.03  -    -    36.03  -    -   
total  161.49  -    -    161.49  -    -   
Interest distributed
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  247.21  -    -    247.21  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  189.57  -    -    189.57  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  15.47  -    -    15.47  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  3.66  -    -    3.66  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  128.30  -    -    128.30  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  167.77  -    -    167.77  -    -   
total  751.98  -    -    751.98  -    -   
other Income distributed
-  BSREP India office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.  24.41  -    -    24.41  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings Pte Ltd.  18.72  -    -    18.72  -    -   
-  Kairos Property Managers Pvt. Ltd.  1.53  -    -    1.53  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C1 L.P.  0.36  -    -    0.36  -    -   
- BSREP Moon C2 L.P.  0.00  -    -    0.00  -    -   
-  BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.  12.67  -    -    12.67  -    -   
-  BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte. Ltd.  16.56  -    -    16.56  -    -   
total 74.25  -    -   74.25  -    -   

   *As the liabilities for the gratuity and compensated absences are provided on an actuarial basis, and calculated for the 
respective SPV as a whole, the said liabilities pertaining specifically to KMP are not known for current period and hence, not 
included here.

outstanding balances As at 
September 30, 2021 

As at 
March 31, 2021

trade Payable (net of withholding tax)
- Axis Trustee Services Ltd  -    2.07 
- Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  21.07  0.61 
total  21.07  2.68 
other Payable (net of withholding tax)
- Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  0.08  65.21 
- BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte Ltd  227.63  198.32 
total  227.71  263.53 
Prepaid expenses 
- Axis Trustee Services Ltd  1.47  -   
total  1.47  -   
other receivables
- Mountainstar India Office Parks Private Limited  0.01  1.99 
total 0.01  1.99 
Vendor Advance-others  (net of withholding tax)
- Technology Service group LLC  12.19  17.23 
total  12.19  17.23 

41. uncErtAIntY rELAtInG to tHE GLoBAL HEALtH PAndEMIc on coVId-19:

  The COVID-19 pandemic has continued to cause disruption to business activities as well as disrupted travel and 
adversely impacted local, regional, national and international economic conditions. Brookfield India REIT has 
considered possible effects that may result from the pandemic relating to COVID-19 on the carrying amounts and fair 
value of investment property (including under development). As a result, future revenues and cash flows produced by 
investment properties could be potentially impacted due to this prevailing uncertainty. In response, Brookfield India 
REIT has adjusted cash flow assumptions for its estimate of near-term disruption to cash flows to reflect collections, 
vacancy and assumptions with respect to new leasing activity. In addition, Brookfield India REIT has continued to 
assess the appropriateness of the discount and terminal capitalization rates giving consideration to changes to 
property level cash flows and any risk premium inherent in such cash flow changes as well as the current cost of 
capital and credit spreads. Further, in developing assumptions relating to possible future uncertainties in the Indian 
economic conditions because of this pandemic; Brookfield India REIT, as at the date of approval of these Condensed 
Consolidated Financial Statements, has used internal and external sources of information including reports on 
fair valuation of investment properties from property consultants, economic forecast and other information from 
market sources on the expected future performance of Brookfield India REIT. Based on this analysis, Brookfield India 
REIT has concluded that there is no impairment to the carrying amount of investment property and the fair value of 
investment property disclosed in the Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements represents the best estimate 
based on internal and external sources of information on the reporting date.

  The impact of COVID-19 on Brookfield India REIT Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements may differ from that 
estimated as at the date of approval of these Condensed Consolidated Financial Statements.

42. ASSEtS AcQuISItIon     

  On February 8, 2021 (the acquisition date), Brookfield India REIT acquired 100% of the equity interest and 
compulsorily convertible debentures of four SPVs as described in more detail in Note 1 - Organization structure; in 
exchange for units of Brookfield India REIT amounting to `45,270.45 Million (the “Purchase consideration”). 

  The management applied the optional concentration test, under Ind AS 103, and concluded that the acquired set 
of activities and assets is not a business because substantially all of the fair value of the gross assets acquired 
is concentrated in investment properties, with similar risk characteristics. Accordingly, this transaction has been 
accounted for as an asset acquisition.

  The management identified and recognised the individual identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed; and 
allocated the purchase consideration to the individual identifiable assets and liabilities on the basis of their relative 
fair values at the date of acquisition.
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 The allocated value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the four SPVs as at the date of acquisition were:

Assets Amount  
(in million)

Property, plant and equipment  98.22 
Investment property  100,378.03 
Investment property under development  723.34 
Other assets  6,848.43 
total Assets (A)  108,048.02 
Liabilities
Borrowings (including current maturities of long term borrowings)  56,776.42 
Other liabilities  6,001.16 
total Liabilities (B)  62,777.58 
net Assets (A – B)  45,270.44 

43. MAnAGEMEnt FEE

 Property Management Fees
  Pursuant to the Candor Amended and Restated Service Agreement dated December 1, 2020, Investment Manager 

is entitled to a yearly fees @ 3% of the income from operating lease rentals as recorded in the books of accounts 
of SPPL Noida and Candor Kolkata, payable on a monthly basis, exclusive of applicable taxes. The fees has been 
determined for providing real estate operating services to CIOP in relation to the Operational Services rendered 
by it with respect to SPPL Noida and Candor Kolkata. The said Management fees for the quarter and half year 
ended September 30, 2021 amounts to `33.78 million and `67.67 million respectively (for the quarter and period 
ended March 31, 2021 amounts to `19.04 million). There are no changes during the period in the methodology for 
computation of fees paid to Manager.

  Pursuant to the Festus Service Agreement dated December 1, 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to a yearly 
fee of 3% of the income from operating lease rentals as recorded in the books of accounts of Festus, payable on 
a monthly basis, exclusive of applicable taxes. The fees has been determined for providing real estate operating 
services to Festus in relation to the management and operation of the Kensington and any other properties 
developed by Festus from time to time (“Festus Properties”). The said Management fees for the quarter and half 
year ended September 30, 2021 amounts to `11.66 million and `23.67 million respectively (for the quarter and 
period ended March 31, 2021 amounts to `5.87 million). There are no changes during the period in the methodology 
for computation of fees paid to Manager.

 rEIt Management Fees
  Pursuant to the Investment Management Agreement dated July 17, 2020, Investment Manager is entitled to fees 

@ 1% of NDCF, exclusive of applicable taxes (also refer note 45). The fees has been determined for undertaking 
management of the REIT and its investments. The said Management fees for the quarter and half year ended  
September 30, 2021 amounts to `24.92 million and `45.91 million respectively (for the quarter and period ended  
March 31, 2021 `Nil).

44. dEtAILS oF utILISAtIon oF ProcEEdS oF IPo ArE AS FoLLowS:

objects of the issue as per the prospectus Proposed 
utilisation

Actual  
utilisation upto 

September 30, 
2021

unutilised 
amount as at 

September 30, 
2021

Partial or full pre-payment or scheduled repayment of the existing 
indebtedness of our Asset SPVs

 35,750.00  35,750.00  -   

General purposes (refer note below)  350.00  583.83  -   
Issue expenses (refer note below)  1,900.00  1,345.86  320.31 
total  38,000.00  37,679.69  320.31 

  Note: Amount of `233.83million has been used for general corporate purposes from the proposed utilization towards issue 
expenses.

For and on behalf of the Board of Directors of  
Brookprop Management Services Private Limited  
(as Manager to the Brookfield India REIT)  

Ankur Gupta
Director 
DIN No. 08687570
Place: Mumbai
Date: November 09, 2021

Alok Aggarwal
Chief executive officer
DIN No. 00009964
Place: Gurugram
Date: November 09, 2021

Sanjeev Kumar Sharma
Chief financial officer
DIN No. 00211963 
Place: Mumbai 
Date: November 09, 2021

45. dIStrIButIon PoLIcY

 In terms of the Distribution policy and REIT Regulations, not less than 90% of the NDCFs of our Asset SPVs are 
required to be distributed to Brookfield REIT, in proportion of its shareholding in our Asset SPVs, subject to 
applicable provisions of the Companies Act. The cash flows receivable by Brookfield REIT may be in the form 
of dividends, interest income, principal loan repayment, proceeds of any capital reduction or buyback from 
our Asset SPVs/CIOP, sale proceeds out of disposal of investments of any or assets directly/indirectly held by 
Brookfield REIT or as specifically permitted under the Trust Deed or in such other form as may be permissible 
under the applicable laws.

  At least 90% of the NDCFs of Brookfield REIT (“REIT Distributions”) shall be declared and made once every quarter 
of a Financial Year by our Manager. The first distribution shall be made upon completion of the first full quarter 
after the listing of our Units on the Stock Exchanges. Further, in accordance with the REIT Regulations, REIT 
Distributions shall be made no later than 15 days from the date of such declarations. The REIT Distributions, 
when made, shall be made in Indian Rupees.

 The NDCFs shall be calculated in accordance with the REIT Regulations and any circular, notification or guidelines 
issued thereunder including the SEBI Guidelines.

46. “0.00” Represents value less than `0.01 million.
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Disclaimer

summary Valuation report:
Portfolio of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust
Date of Valuation: september 30, 2021

Date of report: November 08, 2021   

Submitted to:

Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 

This report is prepared exclusively for the benefit and use of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (“Brookfield India REIT”)  
(the “Recipient” or the “Company” or “Instructing Party”) and / or its associates and for, presentations, research reports, 
publicity materials, press releases prepared for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of the portfolio of 
Brookfield India REIT and does not carry any right of publication or disclosure to any other party. The Company may 
share the report with its appointed advisors for any statutory or reporting requirements. Neither this report nor any 
of its contents may be used for any other purpose other than the purpose as agreed upon in the Letter of Engagement 
(“LOE”) dated March 15, 2021 without the prior written consent of the Valuer.

The information in this report reflects prevailing conditions and the view of the Valuer as of its date, all of which are, 
subject to change. In preparation of this report, the accuracy and completeness of information shared by the Company 
has been relied upon and assumed, without independent verification, while applying reasonable professional judgment 
by the Valuer.

This report has been prepared upon the express understanding that it will be used only for the purposes set out in 
the LOE dated March 15, 2021. The Valuer is under no obligation to provide the Recipient with access to any additional 
information with respect to this report unless required by any prevailing law, rule, statute or regulation.

This report should not be deemed an indication of the state of affairs of the real estate financing industry nor shall it 
constitute an indication that there has been no change in the business or state of affairs of the industry since the date of 
preparation of this document.
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1 Instruction

1.1 Instructing Party

1.2 Purpose and Date of Valuation

1.3 Reliant Parties 

1.4 Limitation of Liability

1.5 Professional Competency of the Valuer

1.6 Disclosures

1.7 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications to Valuation

2 Valuation summary

2.1 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications

3 Valuation Approach and Methodology

3.1 Purpose of Valuation

3.2 Valuation Guideline and Definition

3.3 Valuation Approach

3.4 Valuation Methodology

3.5 Information Sources

4 REIT Portfolio

4.1 Candor Techspace IT/ITeS SEZ, Dundahera, Gurugram (G2)

4.2 Candor Techspace IT/ITeS Park, Sector 62, Noida (N1)

4.3 Candor Techspace IT/ITeS SEZ, New Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata (K1)

4.4 Kensington (A & B) IT/ITeS SEZ, Powai, Mumbai (Kensington)

Contents 1 InSTRucTIon

1.1 Instructing Party
  Brookfield India REIT (hereinafter referred to as the “Instructing Party” or the “client”) has appointed 

Mr. Shubhendu Saha, MRICS, registered as a valuer with the Insolvency and Bankruptcy Board of India (IBBI) for the 
asset class Land and Building under the provisions of the Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017 
(hereinafter referred as the “Valuer”) to undertake the valuation of office properties located across Gurugram, 
Noida, Kolkata and Mumbai (together herein referred as “Subject Properties” mentioned below).

s.no Asset Location city Type REIT ownership

REIT Portfolio

1 Candor Techspace G2 Sector 21 Gurugram IT/ITes SEZ 100%1

2 Candor Techspace N1 Sector 62 Noida IT/ITes Park 100%

3 Candor Techspace K1 New Town Rajarhat Kolkata IT/ITes SEZ 100%

4 Kensington Powai Mumbai IT/ITes SEZ 100%

 1. Property has a 28% JDA interest structured as a revenue share to the landowner.

  The exercise has been carried out in accordance with the instructions (Caveats & Limitations) detailed in Section 1.7 
of this report. The extent of professional liability towards the Client is also outlined within these instructions. 

1.2 Purpose and Date of Valuation
  It is understood the purpose of this valuation exercise is for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of 

the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT under the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 [SEBI (REIT) Regulations], as amended, together with circulars, clarifications, guidelines and 
notifications issued thereunder by SEBI and also disclosure as per fair value accounting under Indian Accounting 
Standards (Ind AS 40).

  This valuation summary (“Summary Valuation Report”) is intended to be included in the filing by the Brookfield 
India REIT with SEBI and the stock exchanges where the units of the Brookfield India REIT are listed. Additionally, 
any other relevant documents such as publicity material, research reports, presentation and press releases may 
also contain this report or any part thereof. This Summary Valuation Report is a summary of the “Valuation Reports” 
dated November 08, 2021 issued by Mr. Shubhendu Saha.

1.3 Reliant Parties
  The Reliant Parties would mean Brookprop Management Services Private Limited (“Brookprop” or “Manager”), 

Brookfield India REIT and their unitholders and Axis Trustee Services Limited (“Trustee”). The reliance on this 
report is extended to the Reliant Parties for the purpose as highlighted in this Summary Valuation Report. The 
auditors, debenture trustees, stock exchanges, unit holders of the REIT, Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(SEBI), and credit rating agencies, would be extended reliance by the Valuer but would not be liable to such parties, 
except in case of gross negligence and wilful misconduct by the Valuer. 

  The valuation exercise is conducted strictly and only for the use of the Reliant Parties and for the purpose 
specifically stated. The Instructing Party shall make all reliant parties aware of the terms and conditions of the 
agreement under which this exercise is being undertaken and take due acknowledgements to the same effect.

1.4 limitation of liability
   The Valuer has provided the services exercising due care and skill but does not accept any legal liability arising 

from negligence or otherwise to any person in relation to possible environmental site contamination or any 
failure to comply with environmental legislation, which may affect the value of the properties. Further, the 
Valuer shall not accept liability for any errors, misstatements, omissions in the report caused due to false, 
misleading or incomplete information or documentation provided to him by the Instructing Party.

   The Valuer’s maximum aggregate liability for claims arising out of or in connection with the Valuation, under 
this contract shall not exceed the professional indemnity insurance obtained by him. As on the date of Letter of 
Engagement (“LoE”) and this report the professional indemnity insurance maintained by the Valuer is for  
INR 50 Million (Indian Rupees Fifty Million).
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   In the event that any of the BSREP India Holdings V Pte. Ltd (the “Sponsor”), Manager, Trustee, Brookfield India 
REIT  or other intermediaries appointed in connection with the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of 
the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT subject to any claim (“claim Parties”) in connection with, arising out of 
or attributable to the Valuation, the Claim Parties will be entitled to require the Valuer, to be a necessary party/ 
respondent to such claim and the Valuer shall not object to his inclusion as a necessary party/ respondent. 
However, the legal cost with respect to appointment of lawyers by the Valuer as a respondent/ defendant shall 
be borne by the Client. If the Valuer, as the case may be, does not co-operate to be named as a necessary 
party/ respondent to such claims or co-operate in providing adequate/ successful defence in defending such 
claims, the Claim Parties jointly or severally will be entitled to initiate a separate claim against the Valuer in this 
regard and his liability shall extend to the value of the claims, losses, penalties, costs and liabilities incurred by 
the Claim Parties. 

   The Valuer is neither responsible for any legal due diligence, title search, zoning check, development 
permissions and physical measurements nor undertake any verification/validation of the zoning regulations/
development controls etc.

1.5 Professional competency of the Valuer
  Mr. Shubhendu Saha, the Valuer for the Subject Property is registered as a valuer with IBBI for the asset class Land 

and Building under the provisions of The Companies (Registered Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017 since May 15, 
2019. He completed his Bachelor’s in Planning from the School of Planning and Architecture, New Delhi in 1997 and 
Master’s in Management Studies from Motilal Nehru National Institute of Technology, Allahabad in 1999.

  Mr. Saha has more than 20 years of experience in the domain of urban infrastructure and real estate advisory. 
From 2009 to 2015, he was the national practice head of Valuation Advisory services of DTZ International Property 
Advisers Private limited (now known as Cushman and Wakefield Property Advisers Private Limited), a leading 
International Property Consulting firm in India. He also led the business solutions and consulting services for the 
property management business of Cushman and Wakefield India Private Limited from 2015 to 2017. In early part 
of his career, he worked with renowned organisations like ICRA Limited, Copal Research (now known as Moody’s 
Analytics) and National Council of Applied Economic Research. His last employment was with PwC as Director Real 
Estate Advisory before he started his practice as an independent valuer.

  As the leader of valuation services business at DTZ, Mr. Saha authored India specific guidelines of the RICS  
Valuation Standards (“Red Book”) for financial accounting, taxation and development land, which became part of the  
7th edition of Red Book. He is the first registered valuer under the provisions of the Companies (Registered Valuers 
and Valuation) Rules, 2017 to undertake the valuation of REIT assets for an IPO. Mr. Saha also led the valuation of 
India’s first listed portfolio of healthcare assets at Singapore Stock Exchange as a Business Trust and led numerous 
valuation exercises for multiple private equity funds, real estate funds, financial institutions, developers and 
corporates across asset classes of commercial, retail, residential and hospitality. His clientele includes, Mindspace 
REIT, Embassy REIT, Air India, HDFC, Religare Health Trust, Duet Hotels, DLF, RMZ, K Raheja Corp, Embassy Group, 
Citibank, Tishman Speyer, IL&FS, HSBC, IDFC, Ascendas India etc.

1.6 Disclosures
 The Valuer declares and certifies that:

   He is eligible to be appointed as a valuer in terms of Regulation 2(1)(zz) of the Securities and Exchange Board 
of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014 along with SEBI (REIT) (Amendment) Regulations, 
2016 with the valuation exercise having been conducted and valuation report prepared in accordance with 
aforementioned regulations.

  He is not an associate of the Sponsor, the Instructing Party or the Trustee for the Brookfield India REIT.

   He is registered with IBBI as registered valuer for asset class Land and Building under the provisions of the 
Companies (Registered Valuer and Valuation) Rules, 2017.

   He has more than a decade’s experience in leading large real estate valuation exercises comprising investment 
portfolios of various real estate funds, trusts and corporates comprising diverse assets like residential projects, 
retail developments, commercial office buildings, townships, industrial facilities, data centres, hotels, healthcare 
facilities and vacant land and therefore has adequate experience and qualification to perform property 
valuations at all times. 

   He has not been involved in acquisition or disposal within the last twelve months of any of the properties 
valued under this summary valuation report.

  He has educational qualifications, professional knowledge and skill to provide competent professional services.

   He has adequate experience and qualification to perform property valuation and is assisted by sufficient key 
personnel who have the adequate experience and qualification to perform property valuation. 

   He is not financially insolvent and has access to financial resources to conduct his practice effectively and meet 
his liabilities.

   He has ensured that adequate and robust internal controls are in place to ensure the integrity of the Valuation 
Report. 

  He is aware of all statutes, laws, regulations and rules relevant to this valuation exercise. 

   He has conducted the valuation exercise without any influence, coercion or bias and in doing so rendered high 
standards of service, ensured due care, and exercised due diligence and professional judgment.

  He has acted independently and with objectivity and impartiality in conducting this valuation exercise.

   The valuation exercise that has been undertaken is impartial, true and to his best understanding and 
knowledge, fair and in accordance with the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment 
Trusts) Regulations, 2014 along with subsequent amendments.

   He or any of his employees involved in valuing the assets of the Brookfield India REIT have not invested nor 
shall invest in the units of Brookfield India REIT or in securities of any of the Subject Properties being valued 
till the time he is designated as the Valuer and not less than six months after ceasing to be the Valuer of the 
Brookfield India REIT.

   He has discharged his duties towards Brookfield India REIT in an efficient and competent manner, utilising his 
professional knowledge, skill and experience in best possible way to conduct the valuation exercise.

   He has conducted the valuation of the Subject Properties with transparency and fairness and rendered, at 
all times, high standards of service, exercise due diligence, ensure proper care and exercised independent 
professional judgment.

   He has not and shall not accept any remuneration, in any form, for conducting valuation of any of the Subject 
Properties of Brookfield India REIT from any person or entity other than Brookfield India REIT or its authorised 
representatives.

   He has no existing or planned future interest in the Client, Trustee, Manager, Brookfield India REIT, the Sponsor, 
or the  Sponsor Group or the Special Purpose Vehicles (“SPVs”) and the fee for this valuation exercise is neither 
contingent upon the values reported nor on success of any of the transactions envisaged or required as part 
of the disclosure of valuation of assets, forming part of the portfolio of Brookfield India REIT, in accordance with 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, 
together with clarifications, guidelines and notifications thereunder in the Indian stock exchanges together with 
the clarifications, guidelines and notifications thereunder in the Indian stock exchanges.

   The valuation reported is not an investment advice and should not be construed as such, and specifically he 
does not express any opinion on the suitability or otherwise of entering into any financial or other transaction 
with the Client or the SPVs.

   He shall, before accepting any assignment from any related party to Brookfield India REIT, disclose to Brookfield 
India REIT, any direct or indirect consideration which the Valuer may have in respect of such assignment 

   He shall disclose to the Trustee of Brookfield India REIT, any pending business transaction, contracts under 
negotiations and other arrangements with the Instructing Party or any other party whom the Brookfield India 
REIT is contracting with or any other factors which may interfere with his ability to give an independent and 
professional conduct of the valuation exercise; as on date the Valuer has no constraints towards providing an 
independent professional opinion on the value of any of the Subject Properties. 

   He has not and shall not make false, misleading or exaggerated claims in order to secure or retain his 
appointment.

   He has not and shall not provide misleading opinion on valuation, either by providing incorrect information or 
by withholding relevant information.
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   He has not accepted this instruction to include reporting of the outcome based on a pre-determined opinions 
and conclusions required by Brookfield India REIT.

   The valuation exercise has been conducted in accordance with internationally accepted valuation standards as 
required by SEBI (REIT) Regulations and The Companies (Registration of Valuers and Valuation) Rules, 2017.

   He notes that there are encumbrances, however, no options or pre-emptions rights in relation to the assets 
based on the title report prepared by Ind-Legal, Fox & Mandal and DSK Legal (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as “Legal Counsel”).

1.7 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications to Valuation
  While the Valuation Report has been prepared independently by the Valuer, the report and this summary is subject 

to the following:

 a.  The valuation exercise is based on prevailing market dynamics as on the date of valuation without taking into 
account any unforeseeable event or developments, which could impact the valuation in the future.

 b.  Novel Coronavirus disease (Covid-19) has been declared as a pandemic by the World Health Organization 
(WHO). Measures adopted by governments across the globe in form of lockdowns, restricting economic 
activities, people movement, etc. have disrupted businesses and economies. In India as well, the government 
has adopted similar measures to contain the spread of Covid-19 which has caused business disruptions and 
slowdown in economic activity. Real estate sector like many other sectors is going through challenges posed 
by Covid-19 disruptions. Though the magnitude of the pandemic and its future impact on businesses is difficult 
to predict due to the uncertainties caused by Covid-19, the commercial real estate sector has so far shown 
reasonable resilience to the disruptions caused by Covid-19 and therefore we expect Covid-19 pandemic 
to have a short term impact on the demand for commercial real estate.  We expect the long-term demand 
for commercial real estate to remain intact and therefore our valuation assumptions reflect our long-term 
expectation while taking into account any short-term impacts.

 c.  The valuation exercise is not envisaged to include all possible investigations with respect to the Subject 
Properties and wherein certain limitations to the investigations and inspections carried out are identified so 
as to enable the Reliant Party/Parties to undertake further investigations wherever considered appropriate or 
necessary prior to reliance. The Valuer has undertaken visual inspection of the Subject Properties and is not 
liable for any loss occasioned by a decision not to conduct further investigation or inspections.

 d.  Assumptions, being an integral part of any valuation exercise, are adopted as valuation is a matter of judgment 
and many parameters utilized to arrive at the valuation opinion may fall outside the scope of expertise or 
instructions of the Valuer. The Reliant Parties accepts that the valuation contains certain specific assumptions 
and acknowledge and accept the risk that if any of the assumptions adopted to arrive at the valuation estimates 
turns out to be incorrect, there may be a material impact on the valuations. Complete set of assumptions are 
mentioned in Valuation Reports dated November 08, 2021.

 e.  The valuation exercise is based on the information shared by the Instructing Party or the Client, which has 
been assumed to be correct and used to conduct the valuation exercise while applying reasonable professional 
judgment by the Valuer. In case of information shared by any third party and duly disclosed in the report, the 
same is believed to be reasonably reliable, however, the Valuer does not accept any responsibility should those 
prove not to be so. 

 f.  Any statement regarding any future matter is provided as an estimate and/or opinion based on the information 
known at the date of this report. No warranties are given regarding accuracy or correctness of such 
statements.

 g.  Any plan, map, sketch, layout or drawing included in this report is to assist reader in visualizing the relevant 
property and are for representation purposes only with no responsibility being borne towards their 
mathematical or geographical accuracy.

 h.  Except as disclosed by the Client, it is assumed that the Subject Properties are free from any encroachments 
and available on the date of valuation.

 i.  For the purpose of this valuation exercise, reliance has been made on the Title Reports prepared by the Legal 
Counsels for each of the Subject Properties and no further enquiries have been made with authorities in this 
regard. It is understood that the Subject Properties have encumbrances disputes and claims, however, the 
Valuer does not have the expertise or the purview to verify the veracity or quantify these encumbrances, 
disputes or claims. For the purpose of this valuation exercise, it is assumed that respective Subject Properties 
have clear and marketable titles.

 j.  The current zoning of the Subject Properties has been assessed on the basis of review of various documents 
including title reports shared by the Instructing Party and the current land use maps publicly available. The 
same has been considered for the purpose of this valuation exercise. Additionally, it is also assumed that the 
development on the Subject Properties adheres/would adhere to the development regulations as prescribed 
by the relevant authorities. No further enquiries have been made with the competent jurisdictional authorities 
to validate the legality of the same. 

 k.  The total developable/developed area, leasable area, site/plot area considered for this valuation exercise is 
based on the Architect’s Certificate shared by the Instructing Party and the same has been checked against the 
approvals/layout plans/building plans provided by the Client. However, no additional verification and physical 
measurement for the purpose of this valuation exercise has been undertaken.

 l.  In absence of any information to the contrary, it is assumed that there are no abnormal ground conditions nor 
archaeological remains present, which might adversely affect the current or future occupation, development 
or value of the Subject Properties and the Subject Properties are free from any rot, infestations, structural 
or latent defect; no currently known deleterious or hazardous materials or suspect techniques are used in 
construction or subsequent alterations or additions to the property and comments made in the property 
details do not  purport to express an opinion about an advice upon the conditions of uninspected parts and 
should be taken as making an implied representation or statement about such parts.

 m. It is also stated that this is a valuation report and not a structural survey.

 n.  Unless specifically disclosed in the report, no allowances are made with respect to any existing or proposed 
local legislation relating to taxation on realization of the sale value of the Subject Properties. 

 o.  Given the evolving and maturing real estate markets in India, any comparable evidences (if any) or market 
quotes provided has been limited to basic details such as area of asset, general location, price/rate of 
transaction or sale and any other specific details that are readily available in public domain only shall be  
shared. Any factual information such as tenants’ leasable area, lease details such as, rent, lease/rent 
commencement and end dates, lock-in period, rent escalation terms etc. with respect to Subject Properties is 
based on the documents/information shared by the Client/Instructing Party and the same has been adopted 
for the purpose of this valuation exercise. While few lease deeds have been reviewed on a sample basis, the 
Valuer does not take any responsibility towards authenticity of the rent rolls shared by the Client. Any change 
in the aforementioned information will have an impact on the valuation estimates and, in that case, the same 
would need to be reassessed. The relevant information sources are mentioned in Valuation Reports dated 
November 08, 2021.

 p.  All measurements, areas and property age quoted/mentioned in the report are approximate. The areas of 
Subject Property are based on Architect’s certificate as mentioned in (k) above.

 q.  The Valuer is not an advisor with respect to any tax, regulatory or legal matters with respect to by Brookfield 
India REIT. No investigation or enquiries on the holding entity or any SPV’s claim on the title of the Subject 
Properties has been made and the same is assumed to be valid based on the information shared by the Client/
Instructing Party. No consideration shall be / has been given to liens or encumbrances against them. Therefore, 
no responsibility is assumed for matters of a legal nature.

 r.  Kindly note that quarterly assessment of cash flows has been undertaken for the purpose of this valuation 
exercise.
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2 VALuATIon SuMMARy

  The following table highlights the summary of the market value of each of the Subject Properties which is part of the 
proposed Brookfield India REIT as on September 30, 2021.

s. No. Asset name 

Leasable area (Million sq. ft.) 1 Market Value (in ` Million)

completed under 
construction

Future 
Development

Potential
completed

under-construction/ 
Future Development

Potential
Total

REIT Portfolio
1 G2 3.86 NA 0.10 43,608 581  44,1892

2 N1 1.86 0.08 0.87 17,277 3,410 20,687
3 K1 3.06 NA 2.68 21,718 4,198 25,916
4 Kensington 1.54 NA NA 25,807 NA 25,807

ToTAL 10.32 0.08 3.65 108,410 8,189 1,16,599

 Note: All figures in the above table are rounded. 

 1. Based on Architect’s Certificate (Dated: September 30, 2021) 

 2.  Property has a 28% JDA interest structured as a revenue share to landowner. The valuation is only for the interest of 
Brookfield India REIT in the property.

Brookfield India REIT Portfolio composition (Market Value)

7%

93%

  Completed as of September 30, 2021          Under Construction/Future Development

2.1 Assumptions, Disclaimers, Limitations & Qualifications
  This Summary Valuation Report is provided subject to a summary of assumptions, disclaimers, limitations and 

qualification detailed throughout this Report which are made in conjunction with those included within the 
sections covering various assumptions, disclaimers, limitations and qualifications within the detailed Valuation 
Report. Reliance on this report and extension of the liability of the Valuer is conditional upon the reader’s 
acknowledgement of these statements. This valuation is for the use of the parties mentioned in Section 1.3 of this 
Summary Valuation Report.

 Prepared by

 (Shubhendu Saha)
 IBBI/RV/05/2019/11552

Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 

Summary Valuation Report Page 11 
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3 VALuATIon APPRoAch AnD METhoDoLogy

3.1 Purpose of Valuation
  The purpose of this valuation exercise is to estimate the value of the Subject Properties forming a part of the 

portfolio of Brookfield India REIT, for the disclosure of valuation of assets forming part of the portfolio of Brookfield 
India REIT under the SEBI (Real Estate Investment Trust) Regulations, 2014, as amended, together with clarifications, 
guidelines and notifications thereunder.

3.2 Valuation guideline and Definition
  Given the purpose of valuation as mentioned above, the valuation exercise has been carried out to estimate the 

“Market Value” of the Subject Properties in accordance with the IVSC International Valuation Standards issued on  
July 31, 2019, effective from January 31, 2020.

  As per IVSC International Valuation Standards, “Market Value” is defined as ‘The estimated amount for which an 
asset or liability should exchange on the valuation date between a willing buyer and a willing seller in an arm’s-
length transaction after proper marketing and where the parties had each acted knowledgeably, prudently and 
without compulsion.’

3.3 Valuation Approach 
  The valuation for the Subject Properties being Market Value, has been derived by adopting income approach, 

utilising the discounted cash flow method with rental reversion.

  The income approach is based on the premise that value of an income producing asset is a function of future 
benefits and income derived from that asset. Using this valuation method, future cash flows from the property are 
forecasted using precisely stated assumptions. This method allows for the explicit modelling of income and cost 
associated with the property. These future financial benefits are then discounted to a present-day value (valuation 
date) at an appropriate discount rate. A variation of the Discounted Cash Flow Method is mentioned below.

 Income Approach - Discounted Cash Flow Method using Rental Reversion

  Given the market practice in most commercial/ IT developments involves contracting tenants in the form of pre-
commitments at sub-market rentals to increase the attractiveness of the property to prospective tenants. Such 
benefits are typically extended to anchor tenants. Additionally, there are instances of tenants paying above-market 
rentals for certain properties as well (primarily owing to market conditions at the time of contracting the lease). In 
order to arrive at a unit value for these tenancies, we have normalised the impact of such sub/above market leases 
on the valuation of the Subject Property by estimating the rental revenue achievable at the end of the term, based 
on the expected rents in the market.

3.4 Valuation Methodology 
  In order to compute the Market Value of the Subject Properties it is prudent to understand the market dynamics 

and the location where the Subject Property is located (existing and future supply, demand from occupiers, average 
office space take up by an occupier in a particular sector, existing vacancy numbers and the rentals, likely growth of 
the office space etc.). Understanding of the micro market positioning (where the Subject Property is located) with 
respect to a location is also very important.  The next step then becomes to understand the situation of the Subject 
Property (current achievable rentals, vacancy numbers, competing supply in the micro market etc.) with respect to 
the micro market. 

  Each of the steps required to assess the Market Value of the Subject Properties is detailed below.  The same have 
been elaborated in the Valuation Reports also.

 Market and Location Assessment:

  The Client appointed Cushman & Wakefield (CWI) to prepare an independent industry and market research report, 
which has been relied upon and reviewed by the Valuer to develop the understanding and assess the relevant 
micro-markets of the Subject Properties. The said review, was carried out in the following manner:

 i.  Market dynamics influencing the rents along with Subject Property rents were studied in detail. Further, the 
location setting of the Subject Properties in the respective micro-markets were assessed. Analysis of the micro-

market was undertaken primarily based on the findings of the industry/market report prepared by CWI and 
readily available information in public domain to ascertain the transaction activity of office space. The analysis 
entailed review of comparable properties in terms of potential competition (both completed and under-
construction/future developments), comparable recent lease transactions witnessed in the micro-market along 
with the trends in leasing within the Subject Properties in recent past, wherever available. This analysis enabled 
the Valuer to have an informed opinion on the market rent (applicable rental for the micro-market where the 
respective Subject Properties are located) and achievable market rent (Valuer’s view on achievable rent for the 
respective Subject Properties for leasing vacant spaces, potential leasable area under development or planned 
as well as upon re-leasing of the existing let out area).

 ii.  For tenants occupying relatively large space within the Subject Properties, where there may be some instances 
of areas being let out at lower than market rent, it is assumed that the leases shall revert to market rent 
following the expiry of the lease, factoring appropriate re-leasing time.

 Portfolio Assessment:

 i.  As the first step, the rent rolls (which includes review of corresponding leases deeds) on a reasonable sample 
basis were reviewed to identify tenancy characteristics for the Subject Properties. As part of the rent roll 
review, major tenancy agreements were reviewed on a reasonable sample basis. For example, for G2 we have 
reviewed lease deeds of top 10 tenants contributing nearly 90% of gross contractual rentals of the subject 
property). 

 ii.  For anchor/large tenants, adjustments on achievable market rent or additional lease-up timeframe have been 
adopted upon lease reversion wherever relevant.

 iii.  Title reports, Architect’s certificates and other related documents as mentioned in earlier sections of the 
report were reviewed for validation of area details, ownership interests of the Subject Properties.

 iv.  Physical site inspections were undertaken to assess the current status of the Subject Properties.

 Preparation of Future Cash Flows:

 i.  Net operating income (NOI) has primarily been used to arrive at the Market Value of the Subject Properties. 
The cash flows for the operational, under construction and future development area have been projected 
separately for the purpose of estimating and reporting valuation in accordance with the SEBI (REIT) Regulations

 ii.  The projected future cash flows from the property are based on existing lease terms for the operational area 
till the expiry of the leases or re-negotiation, whichever is earlier, following which, the lease terms have been 
aligned with market rents achievable by the Subject Properties. For vacant area, under-construction area and 
future development area, the achievable market rent-led cash flows are projected factoring appropriate lease-
up time frame for vacant/under-construction/future development area. These cash flows have been projected 
for 10-year duration from the date of valuation wherein 11th year NOI is capitalized (for assessment of terminal 
value based on NOI). These future cash flows are then discounted to present-day value (valuation date) at an 
appropriate discount rate.
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   Each of the lease was assessed to project the cash flows for a period of 10 years. The assessment was carried 
out in the following manner:  

step 1 Rental income from existing tenants up to the period of lease expiry, lock-in expiry, escalation 
milestones, etc. is projected whichever is applicable. In the event of any vacant spaces, achievable 
market-rent is assumed for future income for such spaces with suitable time for leasing up the 
space.

This data is then used to generate market aligned revenue stream from existing and potential 
tenants for the desired time period.

step 2 In the event the escalated contracted rent is higher than the achievable market rent by 15%, the 
contracted terms are ignored, and the terms are reverted to market. In the event the escalated 
contracted rent is below 115% of the achievable market rent, the contracted terms are adopted 
going forward until the next lease review/ renewal. Intent of this step is to project the rental 
income for respective leases until lease expiry as well as post expiry.

step 3 Computing the monthly rental income projected as part of Step 2 and translating the same to a 
quarterly income (for the next 10 years and NOI of the 11th year – considered for calculation of 
terminal value).

iii.  Recurring operational expenses, fit-out income (wherever applicable, however, the same has not been 
included in the NOI for the purpose of arriving at the terminal value by capitalisation) and vacancy 
provision have been adopted in-line with prevalent market practices and conditions. In addition, 
appropriate rent-free periods have been adopted during lease roll-overs to consider potential rent-
free terms as well as outflows towards brokerage. For all Subject Properties, operational revenues 
and expenses of the respective properties are reviewed to understand the recurring, non-recurring, 
recoverable and non-recoverable expenses and accordingly estimate the margins on the common area 
maintenance income, which accrues as cash inflows to the Subject Properties and normalised for the 
purpose of cash flow projections. The 1-year forward income for the 11th year has been capitalized to 
assess the terminal value of the development at the end of year 10.

3.5 Information Sources
  Property related information relied upon for the valuation exercise have been provided to the Valuer by the Client 

and the market data has been provided by Cushman and Wakefield, unless otherwise mentioned. The documents 
provided has been assumed to be a true copy of the original. The rent rolls have been cross checked with the lease 
deeds on a sample basis only to ensure its correctness. 

4 REIT PoRTfoLIo

4.1 candor Techspace IT/ITeS SEZ, Dundahera, gurugram (g2) 
 Property Description

  G2 is located at Old Delhi – Gurugram road, Dundahera, Gurugram, Haryana – 122001, India. The approximate land 
area of G2 is 28.526 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate).  

 Statement of Assets

  G2 constitutes 13 completed buildings along with future development area. The listing of buildings under each 
component is as follows:

  completed buildings with occupancy certificate (oc) received – Tower 1, 2, 3, 4 (Amenity Block-1), 4A 
(Amenity Block-2), 5, 6, 7, 8A, 8B, 9, 10 (MLCP), 11

  future development – The future development has leasable area of 99,924 sq. ft. The leasable area of the future 
development is indicative and is subject to change once the internal business plans are in place or the construction 
is completed.

 The area statement for G2 is as follows:

components no. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
usage type

committed 
occupancy*

Completed 13 3,856,047 IT/ITeS SEZ 81.4%^

Future Development NA 99,924 IT/ITeS SEZ NA

Total 13 3,955,971

  Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated: September 30, 2021), ^Rent Rolls as on September 30, 2021, Lease Deeds/Leave and 
License Agreements. Further as per rent roll, As per rent roll, 0.2 million sq. ft. of space occupied by E&Y was scheduled to expire 
on October 01, 2021. Hence from October 02, 2021, the occupancy is to be 75.8%.

 *Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

 Brief Description

  G2 is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open / 
green areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are 13 completed buildings comprising 11 office towers 
(including one MLCP) occupied by multiple tenants and two amenity blocks - Block 4 (Amenity Block-1) and 4A 
(Amenity Block-2). The amenity blocks constitute retail area of 90,413 sq. ft. catering to all basic requirement of 
occupiers viz. F&B (in form of multi- cuisine food courts and in-house kitchens), pharmacy, bank ATM, creche, 
sports arena, wellness centre, convenience store, dental clinic etc. In addition, Tower 10 (MLCP) constitutes 98,796 
sq. ft. of office area and 289,035 sq. ft. of car parking area to cater to 499 cars parking. G2 has two entry and two 
exit gates, which are managed according to the campus traffic circulation plan. Apart from regular upgradation 
activities, G2 has witnessed a major revamp (both inside and outside the campus) leading to overall improved 
aesthetics. G2 has been awarded IGBC Platinum Rating for sustainability in addition to the group wide ISO 
certification for Quality, Environmental and Occupational Health & Safety Management Systems namely ISO 9001, 
ISO 14001 and OHSAS 18001.

  G2 is located in an established office, residential and retail micro-market of Gurugram. The office supply in the 
vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT 
developments primarily skewed towards IT. Some of the prominent office developments in the vicinity include  
DLF Cyber City, DLF Cyber Park, Ambience Corporate Tower etc.

  G2 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like The Oberoi/ Trident, Hyatt Place, Radisson,  
Leela Ambience etc. and is well connected to major locations in the city as well as in the NCR via multiple modes  
of communication.
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 The distances (approximately) to G2 from major landmarks of NCR are as follows:

02 km from NH 48  
(Delhi – Jaipur highway)

 03 km from 
IndusInd Cyber City 
Rapid Metro Station

 09 km from 
Gurugram  

Railway Station

09 km from  
IGI Airport

 03 km from  
DLF Cyber City  

23 km from 
Connaught Place

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:
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Note: The DMRC Yellow Line metro is proposed to be extended from HUDA City Centre to Udyog Vihar, via Old Gurugram and 
finally terminating at DLF Moulsari Avenue rapid metro station. However, exact locations of metro stations are yet to be finalized. 
Also, a station for Delhi – Alwar RRTS is proposed at Old Delhi – Gurugram road in Udyog Vihar near subject property. The source 
for the said metro routes is the information available in the public domain and may differ subject to final approvals.

Source: C&WI Research (Map not to scale)

Key Assumptions

Particulars unit information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2021)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q4 FY 2023-24
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 79
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 82
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 5,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million Future Development: 319
General Development: 37

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year Future Development:  
Q3 FY 2023-24

other financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.50
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 12.75

Market Value

The market value of financial interest* in G2 as on September 30, 2021 is as follows:

iNr 44,189 million
(Indian Rupees forty-four Billion one hundred and Eighty-nine Million only)

* Property has a 28% JDA interest structured as a revenue share to the landowner.

4.2 candor Techspace IT/ITeS Park, Sector 62, noida (n1)
 Property Description

  N1 is located at Plot no. B2, sector 62, Noida, Gautam Buddha Nagar, Uttar Pradesh, 201301, India. The approximate 
land area of N1 is 19.250 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate).

 Statement of Assets

  N1 constitutes 9 buildings and can be segregated under three components viz. completed, under-construction and 
future development buildings. The listing of buildings under each component is as follows:

 completed buildings with occupancy certificate (oc) received – Block 1, 2, 3, 6, 5 & 7 (Amenity Block)

 under-construction buildings – 8 (Amenity Block)

  future development buildings – Block 4A, 4B & Block 7 (Extension of the Amenity Block)*. The leasable area of 
the future development is indicative and is subject to change once the internal business plans are in place or the 
construction is completed.

 The area statement for N1 is as follows:

components no. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
usage type

committed 
occupancy*

Completed 6 1,855,416 IT/ITeS Park 71.4%^

Under Construction 1 79,762 IT/ITeS Park NA

Future Development 2 868,523 IT/ITeS Park NA

Total 9 2,803,701

  Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated: September 30, 2021), , ^Rent Rolls as on September 30, 2021, Lease Deeds/Leave and 
License Agreements and Client Information

 *Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

  *The extension of Block 7 (Amenity Block) with an area of 10,064 sq. ft is future development and has not been counted as an 
additional tower for the purposes of computing the number of buildings in the future development component. The same has 
been considered under Block 8 (Amenity Block) for Valuation computation.

 Brief Description

  N1 is an IT/ITeS office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open / green 
areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are six completed buildings comprising five office towers 
occupied by multiple tenants and one building comprising amenity block. Block 5 is recently completed office tower 
with 486,290 sq. ft. of leasable area. Amenity Block constitutes retail area of 29,068 sq. ft. catering to all basic 
requirement of occupiers viz. F&B (in form of multi-cuisine food court), 24x7 paramedics, Day Care Centre, bank 
ATM, salon, convenience store, pharmacy etc. In addition, there are one under construction Block 8 (Amenity Block) 
and two future development buildings (Block 4A and 4B) comprising office blocks. Further, Block 8 constituting 
79,762 sq. ft. shall offer a separate F&B hub and shall be open to public along with inhouse occupiers.  N1 has two 
entry and two exit points, which are managed according to the campus traffic circulation plan. N1 has been awarded 
5 Star rating by the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in addition to the group wide ISO 9001,14001 and OHSAS 
18001 Certification. 

  N1 is located in sector 62, which is an institutional sector characterized by the presence of large public and private 
sector institutions like The Institute of Chartered Accountants of India, IIM Lucknow Noida Campus, Jaipuria Institute 
of Management, Jaypee Institute of Information Technology, Symbiosis Law School, Bank of India, Staff Training 
College etc. The office supply in the vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, 
constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT developments primarily skewed towards IT. The other prominent office 
developments in the vicinity include Embassy Galaxy Business Park, Logix Cyber Park, 3C Knowledge Boulevard 
& Green Boulevard, Stellar IT Park, Okaya Blue Silicon Business IT Park etc. N1 is one of the largest IT/ITes office 
development in terms of leasable area in sector 62, Noida.

  N1 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like Radisson, Park Ascent etc. and is well connected to 
major locations in the city as well as in the NCR via multiple modes of communication. 
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 The distances to N1 from major landmarks of NCR are as follows:

01 km from NH 24
10 km from  
DND Flyway

02 km from Sector  
62 Metro Station

16 km from  
New Delhi Railway 

Station

32 km from  
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7 km from Sector  
18 (Noida CBD)

16 km from 
Connaught Place 

(Delhi CBD)
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Source: C&WI Research (Map not to scale)

Key Assumptions

Particulars unit information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2021)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q3 FY 2023-24
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 46 
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 48
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 3,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million
Under Construction/ Future 

Development: 4,391
General Development: 105

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year

Block 4A – Q1 FY 2025-26
Block 4B – Q4 FY 2024-25
Block 8 (Amenity Block) –  

Q3 FY 2021-22
other financial Assumptions

Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.50
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 12.75

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in N1 as on September 30, 2021 is as follows:

iNr 20,687 million
(Indian Rupees Twenty Billion Six hundred and Eighty-Seven Million only)

4.3 candor Techspace IT/ITeS SEZ, new Town, Rajarhat, Kolkata (K1)
 Property Description

  K1 is located at Plot No. 1, DH Street no. 316, New Town, Rajarhat, North 24 Parganas, West Bengal, 700156, India. 
The approximate land area of K1 is 48.383 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate). 

 Statement of Assets

  K1 constitutes 12 completed buildings along with future development area. The listing of buildings under each 
component is as follows:

  completed buildings with occupancy certificate (oc) received – Tower A1, A2, A3, B1, B2, B3, C1*, C2*, C3*, 
G1, G2, G3

  future development – The future development constitutes IT/ITeS  leasable area of 980,448 sq. ft. and mixed-use 
leasable area of 1,703,541 sq. ft. The leasable area of the future development is indicative and is subject to change 
once the internal business plans are in place or the construction is completed.

components no. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
usage type

committed 
occupancy*

Completed 12 3,059,655 IT/ITeS SEZ 88.0%^

Future Development NA 2,683,989 IT/ITeS/ Mixed-use NA

Total 12 5,743,644

  Source: Architect’s Certificate (Dated: September 30, 2021),  ^Rent Rolls as on September 30, 2021, Lease Deeds/Leave and 
License Agreements

  *Towers C1, C2 and C3 have partial occupancy certificates. Full occupancy certificates will be obtained once the entire project 
is complete. These buildings are fit for occupation as Information Technology and IT enabled services business (use group)/ 
Business building for the portion, which has received the occupancy certificates.

 **Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area

 Brief Description

   K1 is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space developed in a campus format offering large floor plates with significant open/
green areas and number of amenities for occupiers. There are 12 operational buildings comprising 12 office 
towers occupied by multiple tenants wherein Tower A2 offers multi-cuisine food courts, in-house kitchens, bank 
branches and ATM, creche, pharmacy, medical centre and other retail outlets and Tower A3 offers amenities 
such as gymnasium, swimming pool and table tennis at the ground floor. In addition, there is future development 
comprising IT/ITeS and mixed-use  developments. K1 has two entry and exit gates designed to ensure smooth 
traffic movement both inside and outside the campus. Regular upgradation activities are being undertaken within 
the campus to ensure its upkeep as per the modern age requirement. K1 has been awarded IGBC Gold rating 
for sustainability and 4 Star Rating by the Bureau of Energy Efficiency (BEE) in addition to the group wide ISO 
9001,14001 and OHSAS 18001 certifications.

  K1 is a prominent IT/ITeS SEZ, and the largest campus style office development in eastern India. K1 is located in an 
established office micro-market, which has witnessed a gradual shift of office space occupiers from Central Business 
District of Kolkata. The office supply in the micro-market comprises largely investment grade developments, 
constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT developments primarily skewed towards IT. K1 has a prominent frontage on one 
of the main arterial roads viz: Major Arterial Road (East – West). The road connects K1 to Shapoorji Sukhobrishti  
(via SP Sukhobrishti Complex Road) in east and Narkelbagan, Bishwa Bangla Sarani in west, respectively. Further, 
K1 is located at distance of 1.5 km from the upcoming metro station- CBD 1. Some of the prominent office 
developments in the vicinity include DLF 2 SEZ, TCS Geetanjali Park, Ambuja Ecospace, Mani Casadona etc. 

  K1 is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like The Westin, Fairfield by Marriott, Lemon Tree,  
Pride Plaza, etc. and is well connected to major locations in the city via multiple modes of communication. 

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:
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 The distance of K1 from major landmarks in the city is as follows:
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Key Assumptions

Particulars unit information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 31/09/2021)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q2 FY 2024-25
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 43
Achievable Market Rent-Office INR/sq. ft./mth 40
Achievable Market Rent- Mixed Use-Commercial INR/sq. ft./mth 44
Achievable Market Rent - Mixed Use-Retail INR/sq. ft./mth 59
Parking Charges INR/bay/mth 3,000

Development Assumptions

Remaining Capital Expenditure INR Million Future Development: 12,743
General Development: 67

Expected Completion Date Qtr, Year IT/ITeS – Q2 FY 2027-28
Mixed-use – Q3 FY 2027-28

other financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.50
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.50
WACC (Under-construction/ Future Development) % 12.75

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in K1 as on September 30, 2021 is as follows:

InR 25,916 Million*
(Indian Rupees Twenty-five Billion nine hundred and Sixteen Million only)

 * includes 0.52 million sq. ft. of commercial cum retail development out of the total future development of  approximately  
2.7 million sq. ft., wherein Gurgaon Infospace Limited (GIL) shall pay Candor Kolkata a sum of INR 1,000 million (inclusive of GST)  
(out of which INR 260 million has already been received) in instalments and be entitled to receive 28% of revenue comprising 
rentals, CAM margins, parking and any other revenue. 

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:

4.4 Kensington (A & B) IT/ITeS SEZ, Powai, Mumbai (Kensington)
 Property Description

  Kensington is located at Hiranandani Business Park, CTS No. 28A, Powai, Mumbai, Maharashtra – 400076, India.  
The approximate land area of Kensington is 8.96 acres (based on review of Architect’s Certificate). 

 Statement of Assets

  Kensington constitutes one building with two wings (Kensington A & Kensington B) and is categorized under one 
component viz. completed building. The listing of building is as follows: 

  completed buildings with occupancy certificate (oc) received – Kensington (A & B)

The area statement for Kensington is as follows:

components no. of buildings
Leasable Area  

(sq. ft.)
usage type

committed 
occupancy*

Completed 1 1,544,380* IT/ITeS SEZ 81.8%^

Total 1 1,544,380

  Source:  Architect’s Certificate (Dated: September 30, 2021), ^Rent Rolls as on September 30, 2021, Lease Deeds/Leave and  
License Agreements

  *Total leasable area for Kensington includes area occupied by “Hitachi Payment Services Pvt Ltd” for ATM purpose (25 Sq Ft). The 
income for the said area is included in the “Other Income”.

 **Committed Occupancy = (Occupied area + Completed area under Letters of Intent)/ Completed area. 

 Brief Description

  Kensington is an IT/ITeS SEZ office space comprising one ready and operational building with two wings (Kensington 
A & Kensington B) occupied by multiple tenants. The large parking requirement is catered by four parking levels 
contributing to 1,721 parking spaces. Kensington has two entry and two exit points providing access to D.P. Road 
and internal wide Road. 

  Kensington is the only private IT/ITeS SEZ in the Mumbai region excluding Thane and Navi Mumbai and is well 
positioned in the Andheri & Powai micro-market due its proximity to the residential areas, well developed social 
infrastructure and the upcoming metro stations (IIT - 1.6 Km from the Subject Property). The office supply in 
the vicinity comprises investment and sub investment grade developments, constituting a mix of IT and Non-IT 
developments. Some of the prominent office developments in the vicinity are Supreme Business Park, Scorpio 
House, L&T Business Park, Delphi, Godrej IT Park, Solitaire Corporate Park, Kanakia Wall Street, Times Square, 
Raiaskaran Tech Park etc. 

  Kensington is within close proximity to some of the renowned hotels like Meluha The Fern and The Beatle and is 
also well connected to major locations in city via multiple modes of communication. The distance of Kensington 
from major landmarks in Mumbai Metropolitan Region (MMR) is as follows:
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Shivaji International Airport

14 km from Mumbai 
Domestic Airport

04 km from IIT Powai
16 km from  

Bandra Kurla Complex
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Key Assumptions

Particulars unit information
Revenue Assumptions (as on 30/09/2021)

Lease Completion of Completed Building Qtr, Year Q2 FY 2023-24
Current Effective Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 94
Achievable Market Rent INR/sq. ft./mth 120
Parking Charges* INR/bay/mth 5,000

other financial Assumptions
Cap Rate % 8.00
WACC (Complete/ Operational) % 11.50

 *The subject property has 1,721 car parks, of which 38 car parks are paid and remaining are free. We have assumed the car parks 
to maintain status quo. The parking charges are assumed to be applicable over and above the applicable lease rent.

Market Value

The market value of the full ownership interest in Kensington as on September 30, 2021 is as follows:

iNr 25,807 million
(Indian Rupees Twenty-five Billion Eight hundred and Seven Million only)

The map illustrating the location, infrastructure and nearby office developments is provided below:

By reading this report (the “Report”), you agree to be 
bound by the following limitations:

This Report is prepared for the Unitholders pursuant to 
the Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate 
Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended, and 
issued by Brookprop Management Services Private 
Limited (the “Manager”) in its capacity as the Manager 
of the Brookfield India Real Estate Trust (“Brookfield 
India REIT”), for general information purposes only 
without regards to specific objectives, financial situations 
or needs of any particular person, and should not be 
disclosed, reproduced, retransmitted, summarized, 
distributed or furnished, in whole or in part, to any other 
person or persons. We don’t assume responsibility to 
publicly amend, modify or revise any statements in the 
Report on the basis of any subsequent development, 
information or events, or otherwise. This Report 
comprises information given in summary form and does 
not purport to be complete and it cannot be guaranteed 
that such information is true and accurate. For ease and 
simplicity of representation, certain figures may have 
been rounded off to the nearest million. The Manager 
makes no representation or warranty and does not 
undertake any responsibility or liability with respect to 
the fairness, accuracy, completeness, or correctness 
of this Report, except as required under applicable law 
in India. No representation, warranty or undertaking, 
express or implied, is made or assurance given that any 
statements, opinions, views, projections or forecasts, if 
any, are correct or that any objectives specified herein will   
be achieved. Neither we, nor any of our affiliates, as such, 
make any representation or warranty, express or implied, 
as to, and do not accept any responsibility or liability with 
respect to, any loss, howsoever, arising from any use or 
reliance on this Report or its content or otherwise arising 
in connection therewith. Unless otherwise stated in this 
Report, the information contained herein is based on 
management information as they exist as of date/date 
indicated in this Report or as on September 30, 2021 if 
no date is mentioned and estimates. The information 
contained herein is subject to change without notice and 
past performance is not indicative of future results.

Certain information contained herein constitutes 
forward-looking statements. Due to various risks and 
uncertainties, actual events or results or the actual 
performance of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust may 
differ materially from those reflected or contemplated in 
such forward-looking statements. Although Brookfield 
India Real Estate Trust believes that the anticipated 
future results, performance or achievements expressed 
or implied by the forward-looking statements and 

information are based upon reasonable assumptions 
and expectations in light of the information presently 
available, you should not place undue reliance on forward-
looking statements and information because they involve 
known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other 
factors which may cause the actual results, performance 
or achievements of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 
to differ materially from anticipated future results, 
performance or achievement expressed or implied by 
such forward-looking statements and information. Factors 
that could cause actual results to differ materially from 
those set forward in the forward-looking statements 
or information include but are not limited to: general 
economic conditions, changes in interest and exchange 
rates, availability of equity and debt financing and risks 
particular to underlying portfolio company investments. 
There is no guarantee that Brookfield India Real Estate 
Trust will be able to successfully execute on all or any 
future deals, projects or exit strategies, achieve leasing 
plans, secure debt or receive development approvals 
as set forth herein. Projected results reflected herein 
have been prepared based on various estimations and 
assumptions made by management, including estimations 
and assumptions about events that have not yet occurred. 
Due to various risks, uncertainties and changes beyond 
the control of the Manager, the actual performance of the 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust could differ materially 
from the projected results set forth herein. There is no 
assurance, representation or warranty being made by 
any person that any of the projected results set forth 
herein will be achieved and undue reliance shall not be 
placed on them. Industry experts may disagree with the 
assumptions used in presenting the projected results. 

Any changes to assumptions could have a material impact 
on projections and actual returns. Actual returns on 
unrealized investments will depend on, among other 
factors, future operating results, the value of the assets 
and market conditions at the time of disposition, legal and 
contractual restrictions on transfer that may limit liquidity, 
any related transaction costs and the timing and manner 
of sale, all of which may differ from the assumptions 
and circumstances on which the valuations used in the 
prior performance data contained herein are based. 
Accordingly, the actual realized returns on unrealized 
investments may differ materially from the returns 
indicated herein.

In considering investment performance information 
contained herein, you should bear in mind that past 
performance is not necessarily indicative of future results 
and there can be no assurance that comparable results 
will be achieved, that an investment will be similar to 

Disclaimer
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Glossary

Asset SPVs Collectively, Candor Kolkata, Festus and SPPL Noida
B Billion
BAM Brookfield Asset Management Inc.
Board of Directors The board of directors of the Manager of Brookfield India REIT
Brookfield Group/Brookfield Brookfield Asset Management Inc. and its affiliates
Brookfield India REIT Brookfield India Real Estate Trust
BSE BSE Limited
Candor Gurgaon 1 Candor Gurgaon One Realty Projects Private Limited
Candor Kolkata Candor Kolkata One Hi-Tech Structures Private Limited
Candor Techspace G1 Candor Techspace, Sector 48, Gurugram
Candor Techspace G2 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 4 (amenity block I), 4A (amenity block II), 5, 6, 7, 8A, 8B, 9, 11 and 10 (MLCP), all situated 

at Dundahera, Sector 21, Gurugram122 016, Haryana, India
Candor Techspace K1 Completed tower nos. A1, A2, A3, B1, B2, B3, G1, G2, G3, C1, C2 and C3 all situated at Action Area – 1D, New Town, 

Rajarhat, Kolkata 700 156, West Bengal, India
Candor Techspace N1 Completed tower nos. 1, 2, 3, 5, 6 and 7 (amenity block), under construction tower no. 8 (amenity block) and  

Future Development Potential towers 4A and 4B, all situated at Plot No. 2, Block No. B, Sector 62, Noida,  
Gautam Budh Nagar 201 301, Uttar Pradesh, India

Candor Techspace N2 Candor Techspace, Sector 135, Noida
CBD Commercial business district
CIOP Candor India Office Parks Private Limited
Committed Occupancy (Occupied Area) + (Completed Area under Letters of Intent) 

Completed Area                                                                                    in %
Completed Area The area of a property for which occupancy certificate has been received
Consolidated Financial 
Statements

The consolidated financial statements of Brookfield India REIT and the Asset SPVs and CIOP comprising 
the consolidated balance sheet as at September 30, 2021; the consolidated statement of profit and loss, the 
consolidated statement of cash flows and the consolidated statement of changes in unitholders’ equity for the 
half year ended September 30, 2021 and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory 
information. Additionally, it includes the statement of net assets at fair value as at September 30, 2021,  
the statement of total returns at fair value for the half year ended September 30, 2021 and other additional 
financial disclosures as required under the REIT Regulations and the SEBI circular CIR/IMD/DF/146/2016 dated  
December 29, 2016.

EBITDA Earnings before interest, taxes depreciation and amortization
ESG Environment Social Governance
F&B Food & Beverages
Festus Festus Properties Private Limited
Financial Year/FY Period of 12 months period ended March 31 of that particular year, unless otherwise stated
Future Development 
Potential

The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained or applied for, or which  
has been calculated on the basis of FSI available as per the local regulatory norms, but where the internal 
development plans are yet to be finalized and the applications for requisite approvals to commence construction 
are yet to be made

GAV Gross Asset Value
GHG Greenhouse gases
Grade A Grade A means a development type whose tenant profile includes prominent multinational corporations.  

The development should also include adequate ceiling height, 24x7 power back-up, supply of telephone lines, 
infrastructure for access to internet, central air-conditioning, spacious lobbies, circulation areas, good lift services, 
sufficient parking facilities and should have centralized building management and security systems

Gross Contracted Rentals Gross contracted rentals is the sum of Warm Shell Rentals from Occupied Area that is expected to be received from 
the tenants pursuant to the agreements entered into with them

Identified Assets Together, Candor Techspace G1 (owned by Candor Gurgaon 1) and Candor Techspace N2 (owned by SDPL Noida)
Ind AS Indian Accounting Standards referred to in the Companies Act and notified under Section 133 of the Companies Act 

read with the Companies (Indian Accounting Standards) Rules, 2015, including any amendments or modifications 
thereto 

Investment Management 
Agreement

The investment management agreement dated July 17, 2020 executed between Brookfield India REIT (acting 
through the Trustee) and our Manager

In-place Rent Rental income from leased area for the month excluding fit-out and car parking income on a per square foot basis.
IPO Initial public offer
IT Park Information Technology Park
Kensington Kensington A and Kensington B located at Powai, Mumbai 400 076, Maharashtra, India
KG Kilogram
KL Kiloliter
kWh Kilowatt hour
Leasable Area The total area of a property that can be occupied and commonly used, or assigned to a tenant for the purpose of 

determining a tenant’s rental obligation
LCD Lease commencement date
LOC Line of Credit
LRD Lease Rental Discounting
LTV Loan to Value

the historic investments presented herein (because 
of economic conditions, the availability of investment 
opportunities or otherwise), that targeted returns, 
diversification or asset allocations will be met or that 
an investment strategy or investment objectives will be 
achieved. Unless specified otherwise, any information 
regarding prior investment activities and returns 
contained herein has not been calculated using generally 
accepted accounting principles and has not been audited 
or verified by an auditor or any independent party. 
Nothing contained herein should  be deemed to be a 
prediction or projection of future performance.

Certain of the information contained herein is based on 
or derived from information provided by independent 
third party sources. While Brookfield India Real Estate 
Trust believes that such information is accurate as of 
the date it was produced and that the sources from 
which such information has been obtained are reliable, 
Brookfield India Real Estate Trust does not guarantee 
the accuracy or completeness of such information, and 
has not independently verified such information or the 
assumptions on which such information is based. This 
document is subject to the assumptions (if any) and notes 
contained herein.

Nothing contained in this Report should be construed as 
legal, business or tax advice. Each prospective investor 
should consult its own attorney, business adviser and 
tax advisor as to legal, business, tax and related matters 
concerning the information contained herein.

This document is just a report and is not intended to 
be a “prospectus” or “draft offer document” or “offer 
document” or “final offer document” or “offer letter” or 
“offering memorandum” (as defined or referred to, as 
the case may be, under the Companies Act, 2013 and 

the rules notified thereunder, and the Securities and 
Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) 
Regulations, 2014, Securities and Exchange Board of India 
(Issue and Listing of Debt Securities) Regulations, 2008, 
as amended, or any other applicable law). This Report 
has not been and will not be reviewed or approved by a 
regulatory authority in India or elsewhere or by any stock 
exchange in India or elsewhere. None of the information 
contained herein (or in any future communication (written 
or oral) regarding an investment) is intended to be 
investment advice with respect to a proposed investment.

If we should at any time commence an offering of units, 
debentures, bonds or any other securities/ instruments 
of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust, any decision to 
invest in any such offer to subscribe for or acquire 
units, debentures, bonds or any other securities/ 
instruments of  Brookfield India Real Estate Trust, must 
be based wholly on the information contained in an offer 
document or offering circular (including the risk factors 
mentioned therein) issued or to be issued in connection 
with any such offer and not on the contents hereof. Any 
prospective investor investing in such invitation, offer 
or sale of securities by Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 
should consult its own advisors before taking any decision 
in relation thereto.

The securities of Brookfield India Real Estate Trust 
have not been and will not be registered under the U.S. 
Securities Act, 1933, as amended (“U.S. Securities Act”), 
or the securities laws of any applicable jurisdiction and 
these materials do not constitute or form part of any offer 
to  sell or solicitation of an offer to purchase or subscribe 
for any securities in the United States of America or 
elsewhere in which such offer, solicitation or sale would be 
unlawful prior to registration under the U.S. Securities Act 
or the securities laws of any such jurisdiction.
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LTVR Ratio of:
(i)  the aggregate of (a) Advances outstanding under the Facility; and (b) Advances to be made under any 

Drawdown Notice received by the Lenders; to 
(ii)  the valuation of the Projects to the satisfaction of the Lenders by the Panel Valuers, expressed as a 

percentage
M Million
Manager Brookprop Management Services Private Limited
Market Value The market value as determined by the Valuer as of September 30, 2021 and as included in the Summary  Valuation 

Report
Mark-to-market potential Refers to the potential change in base rent between new leases signed at market rates and leases expiring at in-

place rents, reflected as a % change.
Msf Million square feet
MT Million tonnes
MT Co2 E Metric tons of carbon dioxide equivalent 
MWh Megawatt per hour
NAV Net asset value
NDCF Net Distributable Cash Flows
NOI Net Operating Income calculated by subtracting direct operating expenses from revenue from operations.
NOIDA New Okhla Industrial Development Area
NSE National Stock Exchange of India Limited
NYSE The New York Stock Exchange
Occupied Area Completed Area for which lease agreements have been signed with tenants
Operating Lease Rentals 
(OLR) 

Revenue from leasing of premises including Warm Shell rent, fit-out rent and car parking Income.

Portfolio Real estate assets indirectly owned by Brookfield India REIT, being (a) Candor Techspace G2 (owned by Candor 
Kolkata); (b) Candor Techspace K1 (owned by Candor Kolkata); (c) Candor Techspace N1 (owned by SPPL Noida); 
and (d) Kensington (owned by Festus)

PLR Prime Lending Rate
REIT Real estate investment trust
REIT Regulations Securities and Exchange Board of India (Real Estate Investment Trusts) Regulations, 2014, as amended
Re-leasing Spread Refers to the realized change in base rent between the leases signed and leases expiring at in-place rents, reflected 

as a % change.
ROFO Properties/  
ROFO Assets

Powai Business District (owned by Vrihis Properties Private Limited), Equinox (owned by Equinox Business Parks 
Private Limited), units in Godrej BKC (owned by Vrihis Properties Private Limited) and Waterstones (owned by Mars 
Hotels and Resorts Private Limited)

Regulation 18(4) Regulation 18(4) of REIT Regulations provides that not less than eighty per cent. of value of the REIT assets shall 
be invested in completed and rent and/or income generating properties subject to conditions as prescribed in the 
said regulations.

Regulation 18(5) Regulation 18(5) of REIT Regulations provides that not more than twenty per cent. of value of the REIT assets shall 
be invested in assets other than as provided in regulation 18(4) of REIT Regulations and such other investments 
shall only be as prescribed in the REIT regulations

Same Store Committed 
Occupancy

This represents the Committed Occupancy for the Portfolio for areas where occupancy certificate was received on 
or before March 31, 2020.

SDPL Noida Seaview Developers Private Limited
SEBI Securities and Exchange Board of India
SEZ Special Economic Zone
Sf Square feet
SPPL Noida Shantiniketan Properties Private Limited
Sponsor BSREP India Office Holdings V Pte. Ltd.
Sponsor Group Sponsor group as defined under Regulation 2(1)(zta) of the REIT Regulations, being:

a) BSREP II India Office Holdings II Pte. Ltd.;
b) Brookfield Asset Management Inc.;
c) Kairos Property Managers Private Limited;
d) BSREP Moon C1 L.P;
e) BSREP Moon C2 L.P;
f ) BSREP India Office Holdings III Pte Ltd.; and
g) BSREP India Office Holdings Pte. Ltd

Stock Exchanges Collectively, BSE and NSE
Sq m Square metre
Trust Deed The trust deed dated July 17, 2020 entered into between the Manager (solely as the settlor, on behalf of the 

Sponsor), Sponsor and the Trustee
Trustee Axis Trustee Services Limited
TSX Toronto Stock Exchange
Units An undivided beneficial interest in Brookfield India REIT, and such units together represent the entire beneficial 

interest in Brookfield India REIT
Unitholder(s) Any person or entity who holds Units of Brookfield India REIT
Under Construction Area The area of a property for which the master plan for development has been obtained, internal development plans 

have been finalised and requisite approvals for the commencement of construction required under law have been 
applied for, construction has commenced, and the occupancy certificate is yet to be received

WALE Weighted Average Lease Expiry based on area. Calculated assuming tenants exercise all their renewal options post 
expiry of their initial lock-in period

Warm Shell Rentals Rental income contracted from the leasing of Occupied Area and does not include fit-out and car parking income
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